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Corporate Information

REEH
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEmE D

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The revenue of Alpha Professional Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2025
was approximately HK$40.5 million (2024: HK$96.3 million), representing
a decrease of 57.9% compared to the previous year. The substantial drop
in revenue was mainly due to a drop in sales volume of milk powder and
revenue from the property investment (the “Property Investment”). The
loss for the year was approximately HK$198.5 million (2024: HK$38.3
million). The basic loss per share amounted to HK56.5 cents (2024: HK11.0
cents). The significant loss for the year ended 31 March 2025 was primarily
attributable to the combined effect of:

(i)

(i)

(iv)

a loss of approximately Australian dollars (“AUD”) 24.6 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$125.2 million) was recognised as
a “provisions for compensation” pursuant to the arbitral awards
(the “Arbitration Award(s)”) handed down on 28 April 2025 by the
Australian Centre for International Commercial Arbitration (“ACICA”)
on the arbitrations (the “Arbitration(s)”) between The Infant Food
Company Pty Limited (“IFC”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Bubs
Australia Limited (“Bubs Australia”) and each of Willis Trading Limited
(“Willis Trading”) and Alice Trading Limited (“Alice Trading”), both being
indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company. According to the
accounting standards applicable to the Group, the financial impacts of
the Arbitration Awards constitute adjusting events after the reporting
period since Willis Trading and Alice Trading have present obligations
at the end of the reporting period, and accordingly, a loss is required
to be reflected in the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2025;

an unrealised gain of approximately HK$7.2 million arising from
changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss;

a significant increase of approximately HK$13.0 million in selling and
distribution costs was recorded during the year ended 31 March
2025, which was mainly due to an increase in staff costs resulting
from the growth in the number of sales staff for the operations of
the trading of milk powder and foods (the “Milk Products Business”)
(including the e-commerce platform(s) newly acquired by the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2025); and

a significant increase of approximately HK$29.2 million in
administrative expenses was recorded during the year ended 31
March 2025, which was mainly due to the increase in legal and
professional fees and an increase in staff costs resulting from the
growth in the number of administrative staff for the operations of the
Milk Products Business (including the newly acquired e-commerce
platform(s)) as well as the Group’s logistics services business
segment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group is principally engaged in the
Milk Products Business, the provision of warehouse logistics services (the
“Logistics Business”) and the Property Investment.

Milk Products Business

The Group runs its Milk Products Business focusing on cross-border milk
powder trading in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and Hong
Kong. On 27 June 2024, through contractual arrangements, the Group
completed the acquisition of 70% interest in Shenyang Jinyi e-commerce
Co., Ltd.* (BB ETmBAMRAE) (“Shenyang Jinyi”), which is
engaged in the business of e-commerce in the PRC. The Group is now in
processing to integrate the e-commerce platform(s) from Shenyang Jinyi
with its Milk Products Business. During the year ended 31 March 2025,
the Group successfully invited several overseas milk powder brands to
join such platform(s) for selling their products in the PRC. Considering the
diversification of the Group’s trading business, foods, personal care and
household products can also be found on Shenyang Jinyi’s platform.

As strategic investment, the Group completed in September 2024, the
subscription of 48,477,509 shares (the “AHF Shares”) from Australian Dairy
Nutritionals Limited (“Australian Dairy”), a company incorporated in Australia,
the shares of which are listed on the Australian Securities Exchange
(“ASX”) (ASX stock code: AHF). Australian Dairy and its controlled entities
own and operate dairy farms, manufacture infant formula base powders,
and distribute infant formulas. Details of the transaction are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 5 September 2024.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the revenue of the Milk Products
Business was approximately HK$15.6 million (2024: HK$93.1 million), and
the decrease in revenue was mainly due to drop in sales volume of milk
powder. The reportable segment loss (adjusted EBITDA) was approximately
HK$188.8 million (2024: HK$31.3 million). The significant increase in
reportable segment loss was mainly due to the inclusion of the HK$125.2
million of provisions for compensation for arbitration claim provided by Willis
Trading and Alice Trading and increase in legal and professional fee and staff
cost. The staff number under Milk Product Business grew since March 2024
for the expansion of the business in the PRC.

*  For identification purpose only
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEmE D

A goodwill of approximately HK$11.4 million was recognised by the Group
when Shenyang Jinyi was acquired. According to the Group’s accounting
policy, goodwill is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business less accumulated impairment losses, if any. A cash-
generating unit (the “CGU”) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently whenever there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. For the purposes of impairment testing, the carrying
amount of goodwill HK$11.4 million has been allocated to the CGU including
the whole Milk Products Business (the “Milk Products Business CGU”).
The recoverable amount of the Milk Products Business CGU is determined
based on value-in-use calculation which requires the use of assumptions.
According to aforesaid market situation and financial performance of Milk
Products Business CGU, the management updated a future cash flow
projections. A valuation on the value-in-use based on the updated future
cash flow projections was carried out by an independent firm of valuer in
Hong Kong, and impairment losses on goodwill amounting to approximately
HK$3.0 million was recognised for the year ended 31 March 2025.

Logistics Business

To further expand its Logistics Business, the Group completed the
acquisition of 100% interests in Welfit (HK) Limited (“Welfit”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Welfit Group”) on 11 June 2024. Welfit Group’s principal
business is bonded warehouse storage, general warehouse storage,
devanning, and freight forwarder services.

Located in Tsuen Wan, Hong Kong, Welfit Group has more than 13,000
cubic meters of warehousing space and has been in the logistics business
for more than 30 years. Welfit Group provide warehousing space with a high-
quality storage environment, temperature and humidity are well controlled.
The products from the customers of Welfit Group stored in our warehouses
range from foods, beverages and tobacco.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the revenue of the Logistics Business
was approximately HK$24.9 million (2024: HK$1.5 million) and the reportable
segment profit (adjusted EBITDA) was approximately HK$9.1 million (2024:
HK$0.1 million).

Property Investment

The Group owns a piece of land at 152 Milperra Road, Revesby, NSW 2212,
New South Wales, Australia, with a total site area of approximately 2,462
square metres and has a warehouse erected thereon with a total internal
lettable area of approximately 1,906 square metres (the “Property”). The
initial consideration for the acquisition of the Property was AUD7.5 million.
The Property has been leased out for rental since its acquisition in January
2021 and was vacant since April 2024.

The Property was recognised by the Group as an investment property and
was measured at fair value on each reporting date. As at 31 March 2025, the
fair value of the Property was estimated at approximately AUD8.5 million (31
March 2024: AUD8.1 million) (equivalent to approximately HK$41.2 million
(2024: HK$41.4 million)), representing approximately 27.6% (2024: 20.9%) of
the total assets of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group was looking for a new tenant
for the Property (2024: the Property was leased to a lessee and generated
rental income to the Group of approximately HK$1.7 million). The reportable
segment profit (adjusted EBITDA) was approximately HK$2.0 million (2024:
HK$1.9 million).

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Financial Resources, Liquidity and Capital Structure

The Group’s capital expenditure, daily operations and investments during
the year ended 31 March 2025 were mainly funded by cash generated
from its operations and a loan from a third party. The liquidity and financing
requirements of the Group are reviewed on a regular basis. During the year
ended 31 March 2025, an additional loan of HK$10.0 million was granted by
AP Diamond Limited (as lender) (the “Lender”), a third-party lender.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had current assets of approximately
HK$26.3 million (2024: HK$156.7 million) and current liabilities of
approximately HK$199.5 million (2024: HK$79.8 million). The liquidity of
the Group as evidenced by the current ratio (current assets over current
liabilities) was 0.13 times (2024: 1.97 times).

As at 31 March 2025, the Group maintained cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$10.7 million (2024: HK$47.3 million), of which 81.8%
(2024: 80.5%) were denominated in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") or United
States dollars (“US$”), 12.7% (2024: 2.4%) were denominated in Renminbi
(“RMB”) and 4.0% (2024: 17.1%) were denominated in AUD. The decrease
of cash and cash equivalents of approximately HK$36.6 million as compared
to the position as at 31 March 2024 was mainly due to the net cash outflow
in operating activities and in investment activities, including the funds used in
the acquisition of Welfit Group and the investment in AHF Shares recognised
as financial asset at fair value through profit or loss.

As at 31 March 2025, the trade and other receivables of the Group were
approximately HK$11.5 million (2024: HK$107.7 million), the decrease of
which was mainly attributable to the settlement of the outstanding trade
receivables from customers under the Milk Products Business during the
year ended 31 March 2025, the decrease in sales of products for the Milk
Products Business, and the increase in loss allowance for trade receivables
provided by the Milk Products Business.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEEAmEDH

The management of the Group has closely monitored the aging of the
trade receivables and regularly communicated with the customers to follow
up on the settlement of the invoices if any prolonged delay has been
observed. According to the Group’s accounting policy, loss allowances for
trade receivables are measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected
credit losses (the “ECLs"). At each reporting date of a financial period/
year-end, ECLs are re-measured to reflect the change(s) in the credit risk
of the trade receivables compared to the initial recognition. In measuring
ECLs, the Group takes into account the probability weighted estimate of
credit losses, the time value of money, and such reasonable information
supported by evidence that is available without undue cost or effort, which
includes information about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions. The Group has engaged an independent firm of
valuer in Hong Kong to carry out an assessment of the ECLs on the trade
receivables of the Group as at 31 March 2025 according to the aforesaid
accounting policy, and considered various factors affecting the credit risk,
including but not limited to an increase in aging of trade receivables, the
market conditions and the historical recovery rate of the trade receivables.
Based on the assessment results, the Group recognised a loss allowance for
ECLs on the trade receivables amounting to HK$53.2 million (2024: HK$33.3
million) as at 31 March 2025 and resulted a net impairment losses of trade
receivable of HK$22.5 million (2024: HK$25.5 million) for the year ended 31
March 2025.

In recovering the overdue trade receivables, the the board (the “Board”)
of directors (the “Director(s)”) of the Company has proactively taken the
following actions:

- monitoring the frequency of business transactions with its customers
and progress of settlement of invoices, and issuing invoice settlement
reminders regularly;

- closely supervising the repayment from its major customers, and
noted that there has been settlement of invoices from its customers
from time to time, whereby they have arranged payment and
discharged with assets of approximately AUD12.1 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$58.7 million) during the year ended 31 March
2025; and

- regularly reviewing the credit worthiness of the customers and the
Group will request additional security from them when necessary
(including but not limited to initial cash deposit, guarantees and
collateral).

The Board will continue to monitor the aging of the trade receivables, and
is mindful of taking further actions (including but not limited to negotiating
with the customers for a settlement from different means and initiating legal
proceedings against the customers of the Group) in the future to recover the
trade receivables in order to protect the interests of the Company and its
shareholders.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The trade and other payables of the Group decreased from approximately
HK$45.4 million as at 31 March 2024 to approximately HK$37.2 million as at
31 March 2025.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had an outstanding borrowing of
approximately HK$41.1 million (2024: HK$33.2 million) repayable within
one year. There was no outstanding borrowing repayable after one year
(2024: Nil). The Group’s outstanding borrowing of HK$10.0 million was
denominated in HK$ while the remaining was denominated in AUD and was
charged with interest at floating rate.

After considering that the trade payables of AUD5.7 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$27.4 million) due to IFC had already been recognised
and by writing off the other receivable of AUD3.6 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$17.7 million) due from IFC against provisions to
be provided, provisions amounting to AUD21.0 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$101.8 million) was recognised under current liabilities for
compensating the arbitration claims according to the Arbitration Awards.

The gearing ratio (calculated by net debt over total equity) of the Group as at
31 March 2025 was as follows:

Total debt (sum of current liabilities and BER%E (RBaEK
non-current liabilities) 3F/;|L§b B E4EM)
Less: cash and cash equivalents B BREREEEEY

Net debt BEFEE

Total (capital deficiency)/equity (B4 EmiEEE

BEAELX

Gearing ratio

Treasury Policy and Financial Management

The Group’s treasury policy aims to ensure that (i) the funding requirements
for capital commitments, investments and operations of the Group can be
fulfilled; and (i) liquidity can be managed to ensure that fund inflows are
matched against all maturing repayment obligations to enhance cash flow
management.

The Group aims to minimise its financial risk exposure. The Group’s policy
is to not engage in speculative derivative financial transactions and not to
invest its existing capital resources in financial products with significant risks.
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BEEmE D

Risk of Foreign Exchange Fluctuation

The Group’s foreign exchange risk primarily arises from transactions, working
capitals and investments denominated in foreign currencies, mainly in AUD,
RMB and US$. During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group did not
use any financial instruments for hedging purposes and the Group did not
have any hedging instruments outstanding as at 31 March 2025.

The Group will closely monitor the exchange rate risk arising from the
Group’s existing operations and potential new investments in future, and
will implement necessary hedging arrangements to mitigate any significant
foreign exchange risk when and if appropriate.

Charge on Group Assets

The Group as the borrower entered into a loan agreement with the third-
party Lender, for a loan facility (the “Loan Facility”), and the Group had
utilised approximately HK$41.1 million under it as at 31 March 2025 (2024:
approximately HK$33.2 million). The Loan Facility was guaranteed by the
Company and GA Australia Investment Pty Ltd (“GA Investment”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, respectively. The Loan Facility was
also secured by: (i) debentures created by the Company and Willis Trading,
respectively, of a first fixed and floating charge over each of the Company’s
and Willis Trading’s undertaking, property and assets as security for the
due payment of all monies payable under the Loan Facility; (i) a mortgage
entered by GA Investment to create the pledge of the Property to the Lender;
(i) a security deed entered by GA Investment to undertake as security for the
due payment of the secured money payable under the Loan Facility; and (iv)
a mortgage entered by Willis Trading to create the pledge of the shares of
GA Investment to the Lender.

Contingent Liabilities

The Group had no contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2025. (2024: On
19 July 2023, Willis Trading and Alice Trading noticed that two notices
of Arbitration (“Arbitration Notices”) from IFC were filed to the ACICA for
requesting Arbitrations regarding the outstanding debt due by Willis Trading
and Alice Trading, respectively. The Arbitrations were accepted by the
ACICA on 26 July 2023. IFC claims Willis Trading and Alice Trading for
outstanding trade payables of totalling approximately AUD5.7 million, losses
and damages of approximately AUD34.2 million, costs and expenses of
Arbitrations, interests and other relief. The outstanding trade payables of
approximately AUD5.7 million (equivalent to approximately HK$28.9 million)
due to IFC claimed under Arbitrations were fully recognised on the books of
the Group as at 31 March 2024, while at the same time, the Group has also
recognised an other receivable of approximately AUD3.6 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$18.6 million) outstanding from IFC to the Group which
was a prepayment previously made by Alice Trading to IFC for purchase of
goods.)

Material Capital Commitments
The Group had no material capital commitments as at 31 March 2025 (2024:
Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Significant Investments Held

As at 31 March 2025, the Group held 48,477,509 (2024: Nil) AHF Shares,
which represents approximately 6.52% of the issued share capital of
Australian Dairy as at 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil). The total investment cost
of 48,477,509 AHF Shares is approximately AUD1.0 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$5.0 million). The investment in AHF Shares was
recognised by the Group as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
and was measured at fair value on each reporting date. The fair value of the
48,477,509 AHF Shares as at 31 March 2025 amounted to approximately
AUD2.5 million (2024: Nil) (equivalent to approximately HK$12.2 million
(2024: Nil)), representing approximately 8.2% (2024: Nil) of the total assets of
the Group, resulting in an unrealised gain arising from changes in fair value
of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$7.2
million (2024 Nil). There was no dividend received from Australian Dairy for
the AHF Shares held by the Group during the year ended 31 March 2025
(2024: Nil).

Australian Dairy is a company incorporated in Australia, the shares of which
are listed on ASX (ASX stock code: AHF). Australian Dairy and its controlled
entities own and operate dairy farms, manufacture infant formula base
powders, and distribute infant formulas. It is currently expected that the
Group will continue to hold the 48,477,509 AHF Shares. This investment
provides the Group with the opportunity to build up a relationship with
Australian Dairy.

Save as disclosed in this paragraph and in the paragraph headed “Business
Review — Property Investment”, the Group did not hold other significant
investments as at and for the year ended 31 March 2025.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

On 11 June 2024, Vantage Edge Investments Limited (the “Purchaser”), a
direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and as purchaser, entered
into a sale and purchase agreement with Allied Services Holding Limited
(“Allied Services”), as vendor, pursuant to which (i) the Purchaser shall
acquire, and Allied Services shall sell one ordinary share of Smart Front
Developments Limited (“Smart Front”), representing the entire issued share
capital of Smart Front, a company which holds 80% of the issued shares of
Welfit; and (i) the shareholder’s loan of approximately HK$17.3 million shall
be assigned by Allied Services to the Purchaser, at the total consideration
of HK$17.5 million (the “Acquisition (Smart Front)”). On the same date, the
Purchaser, as purchaser, entered into a sale and purchase agreement with
Mr. Chow Pok Yu Augustine (“Mr. Chow”), as vendor, pursuant to which the
Purchaser shall acquire, and Mr. Chow shall sell, 700,000 ordinary shares of
Welfit, representing 20% of the issued shares of Welfit, at the consideration
of approximately HK$4.4 million (the “Acquisition (Welfit)”). Welfit Group is
principally engaged in the business of bonded warehouse storage, general
warehouse storage, devanning and freight forwarder services.
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Each of the Acquisition (Smart Front) and the Acquisition (Welfit) was
completed on 11 June 2024. Upon completion of the Acquisition (Smart
Front) and the Acquisition (Welfit), each of Smart Front and Welfit has
become an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Details of both
the Acquisition (Smart Front) and the Acquisition (Welfit) are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 11 June 2024.

On 27 June 2024, a debt settlement agreement was entered into by the
Group in relation to, among other things, the acquisition of 70% of economic
benefit of Shenyang Jinyi and the transfer of the rights of a shareholder’s loan
amounting to RMB2.4 million to the Group, in consideration of the Group
agreeing to discharge the trade receivables in the sum of AUD5.1 million.
Shenyang Jinyi is principally engaged in the business of, among others,
e-commerce in the PRC and holds requisite permit and approval required
for its e-commerce business, including but not limited to (1) Value-Added
Telecommunications Business Operating License (& B (5 ¥ #5548 & #F ]
£8), and (2) Online Culture Operating License (4848 X (EAZ & 55 Rl 5E) . Upon
the completion, Shenyang Jinyi was accounted as a 70%-owned subsidiary
of the Company. Details of the transaction are set out in the announcements
of the Company dated 27 June 2024 and 17 July 2024, respectively.

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no other material acquisitions and
disposal of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures for the year ended 31
March 2025.

LITIGATION

On 19 July 2023, Willis Trading and Alice Trading, both indirect wholly-
owned subsidiaries of the Company, noticed that two Arbitration Notices
from IFC, were filed to ACICA for requesting Arbitrations regarding the
outstanding debt due by Willis Trading and Alice Trading, respectively. The
Arbitrations were accepted by the ACICA on 26 July 2023. On 28 April
2025, the ACICA handed down the Arbitration Awards, whereby it is ordered
that, among others:

(i) Willis Trading shall pay to IFC an amount of approximately AUD3.7
million (being AUD2.7 million outstanding under the agreement with
IFC, costs and pre-award interests, less the amount payable by IFC to
Willis Trading) and the post-award interests on the awarded amount
up to the date of payment; and

(i) Alice Trading shall pay to IFC an amount of approximately AUD23.0
million (being AUDS3.0 million outstanding under the agreement with
IFC, damages, costs and pre-award interests, less an amount of
approximately AUDS3.6 million payable by IFC to Alice Trading) and
the post-award interests on the awarded amount up to the date of
payment.

The Board deeply regrets the decision by ACICA.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 28 April 2025, the ACICA handed down the Arbitration Awards to each
of Willis Trading and Alice Trading. According to accounting standards
applicable to the Group, the financial impacts of the Arbitration Awards
constitute adjusting events after the reporting period since Willis Trading and
Alice Trading have present obligations at the end of the reporting period, and
accordingly, the financial impacts are required to be reflected in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025. As
a result, additional provision of approximately HK$101.8 million was made
as liabilities and a loss of approximately HK$125.2 million was recognised
pursuant to Arbitration Awards in the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2025.

On 2 May 2025, the Federal Court of Australia (“FCA”) issued a freezing
order (“Freezing Order”) against Willis Trading, GA Investment (a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Wilis Trading) and GA Australia Trading Pty Ltd (a
wholly-owned subsidiary of GA Investment) (collectively, “Freezing Order
Respondent(s)”), whereby it is ordered that, among others, (i) each Freezing
Order Respondent must not remove from Australia or in any way dispose
of, deal with or diminish the value of its assets in Australia and throughout
the world up to the unencumbered value of the award debt amounting to
AUDS.7 million; and (i) the Freezing Order Respondents shall inform IFC of
details of their respective assets within five working days from the date of
being served with the Freezing Order. An affidavit verifying the Freezing Order
Respondents’ respective assets under the Freezing Order was provided by
Willis Trading on 19 May 2025. Willis Trading had submitted to the FCA an
interlocutory application for an order to vacate the Freezing Order, which was
dismissed by the FCA on 19 June 2025.

Reference is made to the Loan Facility granted by the Lender (as lender) (a
third party to the Company) to Willis Trading (as borrower) which shall be
repaid on 16 June 2025 originally. The Loan Facility was secured by, among
others, (i) a security by GA Investment in favour of the Lender, which covers
a mortgage of the Property; (i) debentures incorporating first fixed and
floating charge over the undertaking, property and assets of Willis Trading
and the Company, respectively; (i) a grant of security interest by Willis
Trading in favour of the Lender in the shares of GA Investment and financial
accommodation made available by Willis Trading to GA Investment; (iv) a
guarantee by the Company in favour of the Lender; and (v) a guarantee
and indemnity by GA Investment in favour of the Lender (collectively, the
“Securities”). On 7 May 2025, Willis Trading received a demand letter (the
“Demand Letter”) from the Lender (via its legal advisers) informing Willis
Trading that it failed to pay interest accrued on the outstanding principal
of the Loan Facility in the amount of approximately HK$0.3 million,
constituting a default of the Loan Facility, and that the indebtedness and
all other sums payable under the Loan Facility shall immediately become
due and payable. Accordingly, the Lender demanded Willis Trading to repay
the outstanding indebtedness under the Loan Facility as at 7 May 2025,
comprising the amounts of AUDB.5 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$32.6 million at 7 May 2025) and approximately HK$10.7 million
(collectively, the “Indebtedness”) by 9 May 2025, failing which the Lender
shall proceed with enforcing the Securities and pursue all necessary actions
against Willis Trading as well as any other securing parties for recovery
of the Indebtedness together with all legal costs and expenses without
further notice. Subsequently, the Lender also issued demand letters to the
Company and GA Investment on 7 May 2025 and 9 May 2025, respectively,
demanding the Company and GA Investment to pay to the Lender the
Indebtedness.
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On 2 June 2025, Alice Trading received a statutory demand (“Statutory
Demand”) from the solicitors acting on behalf of IFC pursuant to Sections
178(1)(@) or 327(4)(a) of the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong), demanding
Alice Trading to pay, among others, the judgment debt of Alice Trading under
the Arbitration Award of the Arbitration between IFC and Alice Trading (the
“AT Arbitration”), interest and IFC’s costs for the AT Arbitration (the “Debt”).
According to the Statutory Demand, Alice Trading is required to pay the Debt
within three weeks from the date of service of the Statutory Demand, failing
which IFC may present a winding-up petition against Alice Trading.

On 18 June 2025, the solicitors acting on behalf of IFC served a notice to
Alice Trading enclosing an order (“AT Court Order”) by the Court of First
Instance of the High Court of Hong Kong (“HK Court”) dated 16 June 2025,
pursuant to which it was ordered that () IFC do have leave to enforce the
Arbitration Award dated 28 April 2025 in the AT Arbitration in the same
manner as a judgment or order of the HK Court to the same effect, and (i)
within 14 days after service of the AT Court Order on Alice Trading, Alice
Trading may apply to set aside the AT Court Order, and the award shall not
be enforced until after the expiration of that period or, if Alice Trading applies
within the period to set aside the AT Court Order, until after the application is
finally disposed of.

Furthermore, on 18 June 2025, the solicitors acting on behalf of IFC served
a notice to Willis Trading enclosing an order (“WT Court Order”) by the HK
Court dated 16 June 2025, pursuant to which it was ordered that () IFC
do have leave to enforce the Arbitration Award dated 28 April 2025 in the
Arbitration between IFC and Willis Trading in the same manner as a judgment
or order of the HK Court to the same effect, and (i) within 14 days after
service of the WT Court Order on Willis Trading, Willis Trading may apply
to set aside the WT Court Order, and the Arbitration Award shall not be
enforced until after the expiration of that period or, if Willis Trading applies
within the period to set aside the WT Court Order, until after the application is
finally disposed of.

Both Willis Trading and Alice Trading are incorporated in Hong Kong,
the operations of them have no choice but to be scaled-down after the
cessation of business relationships with Bubs Australia from around July
2023. Alice Trading now holds only minimal assets, while the main assets of
Willis Trading and its subsidiaries (i.e. Freezing Order Respondents) comprise
the Property under the business segment of Property Investment, and the
Property was mortgaged as part of the Securities to the Lender for the
grant of the Loan Facility to Willis Trading and was vacant since April 2024.
As understood from the Company’s legal advisors, a parent company is in
generally speaking insulated from legal liability arising out of the activities of
its subsidiaries. The Board expects that the operation of the Company and
the businesses under the other subsidiaries of the Group will not be affected
by either the Arbitrations nor the Freezing Order. The board deeply regrets
the decision by ACICA, and the management of Willis Trading and Alice
Trading are in the course of seeking legal advice on the possible actions to
take to resolve the issues arising from the Arbitrations.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

After receiving the Demand Letter from the Lender, Willis Trading attempted
to communicate with the Lender regarding the situation of Willis Trading and
to negotiate possible actions to resolve the issues arising from the breach
of the Loan Facility. As abovementioned, the main assets of Willis Trading
and its subsidiaries comprise the Property under the business segment
of Property Investment, and the Property was mortgaged as part of the
Securities to the Lender. Considering the fair value of the Property as at 31
March 2025, amounting to AUD8.5 million, is nearly enough to settle the
Indebtedness if the Lender enforces the Securities, it is expected that the
Company will not be required to provide any additional financial assistance to
Willis Trading in connection with the Loan Facility.

Considering the insolvent financial position of each of Willis Trading and
Alice Trading, the Demand Letter received by Willis Trading and the Statutory
Demand served to Alice Trading, the management of Willis Trading and
Alice Trading will consider all possible measures to mitigate the issues and
to safeguard the interests of Willis Trading and Alice Trading, but cannot
eliminate the possibility of winding up petition(s) to be initiated by the
creditors.

On 25 June 2025, the Company and Ms. Chong Sok Un (“Ms. Chong”),
a substantial shareholder of the Company, who beneficially holds 59.27%
interests in the Company, entered into a loan agreement, in which Ms.
Chong agrees to provide an interest free line of credit up to HK$80.0 million
to the Company for 18 months from the date of the agreement. The Board
has approved the loan and agreed that the loan transaction is conducted on
normal commercial terms or better, and is not secured by any assets of the
Group.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had 104 employees (2024: 80). Total
staff cost, including Directors’ emoluments, of approximately HK$24.4
million (2024: HK$6.9 million) was incurred during the year ended 31 March
2025. The Group maintains a policy of paying competitive remuneration.
The remuneration of employees which includes salary and discretionary
performance bonus is decided with reference to the results of the Group,
the market level as well as individual performance and contributions.
Remuneration packages (including performance bonuses) are reviewed on a
regular basis by the Group.

In addition, the Group has adopted a share option scheme. No share option
has been granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed since its adoption.

The Group provides employees with training and development courses
which cover various areas, including orientation, leadership and management
skills and on-job training etc. The goal is to improve employees’ efficiency,
knowledge and skills for discharging their duties at work, as well as to better
equip themselves for achieving outstanding performance and maintaining
intellectual curiosity. Employees are encouraged to plan their own training
schedules and to choose their training sources with flexibility.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEmE D

CORPORATE STRATEGIES

The Group is dedicated to emphasise shareholders’ values through
persistent improvement in its business performance and commitment to
its core values, which emphasises fulfilling social responsibilities, satisfying
customers’ needs, and promoting employees’ development.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

The Group will continually devote resources to its Milk Products Business.
During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group completed the acquisition
of 70% of economic benefit of Shenyang Jinyi, which is principally engaged
in the business of e-commerce in the PRC. The Group is now integrating the
e-commerce platform from Shenyang Jinyi with its Milk Products Business.
Through the e-commerce platform, the Group will further develop the online
marketing and selling channel to solidify the business and enhance its
competitiveness.

In addition to milk products, the Group is ahead in advancing the
diversification of its product portfolio by including other foods, beverages and
wines. During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group launched a new
self-owned brand of coffee named “Ming Andy (BEZ238) ", which is available
for sale on the e-commerce platform in the PRC.

Regarding the Logistics Business, the Group completed the acquisition of
100% interest in Welfit Group. The Group aims to increase the segment’s
profit by maximising the average occupancy rate of Welfit Group’s
warehouses. Welfit Group will continue to optimise its service quality and
information technology systems.

OUTLOOK

The Group completed the acquisitions of each of the Welfit Group and
Shenyang Jinyi on 11 June 2024 and 27 June 2024, respectively. These
acquisitions are expected to strengthen the Group’s existing Milk Products
Business and Logistics Business, consolidating the Group’s competitive
edge. This aligns with the Group’s long-standing business strategies of
“reinforcing the existing business foundation; strengthening the Group’s
competitive edge; and actively seeking opportunities for business
development and diversification”. To build up the relationship with Australian
Dairy, the Group completed the subscription of 48,477,509 AHF Shares in
September 2024. The launch of Australian Dairy’s “Future” brand in the PRC
in April 2025 has further expanded its presence, with products now available
on the Group’s e-commerce platform.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

China and Hong Kong continue to face economic headwinds, despite
government measures to stabilise growth. Hong Kong’s economic growth
is expected to remain moderate in 2025. The retail markets in Hong Kong
appear to be a trend of slowing down affected by the high interest rate
maintained by the Federal Reserve of the United States. The enthusiasm
for Hong Kong residents to travel abroad and the rising popularity of
“northbound consumption” after the lifting of pandemic restrictions, coupled
with the changing consumption pattern of visitors to Hong Kong, further
impacted Hong Kong’s economy and the outlook of the local retail industry.
The logistics and warehousing market in Hong Kong is inevitably affected.
The recent Sino-United States tariff tensions may disrupt supply chains and
increase costs. Despite the United States having temporarily reduced its
reciprocal tariffs, the market closely observes the outcome of discussions
between China and the United States, hoping for policy adjustments to ease
economic uncertainty. To mitigate various adverse economic and political
challenges, logistics companies need to continuously improve their service
quality and introduce more advanced information technology systems to
enhance their efficiency in order to meet customer demands, and thus
survive and succeed in an environment of fierce competition and economic
slowdown.

In recent years, the PRC milk product market, particularly the infant milk
market, has become increasingly uncertain and challenging. The milk
product market in the PRC is facing pressure from the country’s low birth
rate, increased competition, stricter food regulations, and challenging
macroeconomic conditions. While the domestic milk powder market
continues to shrink as the number of new births in China continues
to decline, several major foreign milk powder brands show that the
performance of foreign milk powder brands in China has increased rather
than declined, and that major foreign milk powder brands have continued
to grow in terms of performance or market share in China in 2024. Recent
data suggest that demand on “English Label Products” are growing in
China following the COVID period, indicating that Chinese consumers are
increasingly seeking high-quality overseas products at a reasonable price.
By focusing on high-end products, foreign milk powder brands can generally
have higher profit margins, and their customer base tends to have stronger
brand loyalty compared to domestic brands.

Although the Group currently does not have any detailed plans for material
investment or capital asset, the Group will continue to follow the Company’s
business strategy as described above to develop the Company’s business.
The Group will also focus on exploring the integration of the Group’s
businesses with a view to utilising resources and assets more efficiently to
create synergies among the Group’s business segments.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEEBRS

The Company is committed to enhancing the standards of corporate
governance of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) in
order to safeguard the long-term interests of shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”), customers and employees of the Company. The board
(the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of the Company continues to
monitor and review the corporate governance practices as adopted and
strives to meet the rising expectations of the Shareholders and fulfil the
commitment to maintain high standards of corporate governance which
delivers long-term success of the Group.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has applied the principles of, and complied with all applicable
code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set
out in part 2 of Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
(the “Listing Rules” on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) throughout the year ended 31 March 2025, save and
except for the deviations as follows:

On 26 January 2024, Mr. Choi Kin Man (“Mr. Choi”), an independent non-
executive Director, and a member of each of the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”), the nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”)
and the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) of the
Company, passed away due to ill health. Thus, the Company has (i) two
independent non-executive Directors, which results in the number of
independent non-executive Directors falling below the minimum number
required under Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules; (i) two members of the
Audit Committee, which results in the number of the Audit Committee
members falling below the minimum number required under Rule 3.21 of the
Listing Rules; and (i) only two independent non-executive Directors in the
Remuneration Committee, which results in the Company’s failure to maintain
a majority of independent non-executive Directors in the Remuneration
Committee as required under Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules.

The Company has endeavoured to find suitable candidates to fill the vacancy
arising from the passing away of Mr. Choi by seeking referrals from trusted
business partners. On 25 April 2024, Mr. Tu Chunan (“Mr. Tu”) has been
appointed as an independent non-executive Director, and a member of each
of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee. Following the appointment of Mr. Tu, the Company has complied
with (i) the minimum number requirement of three independent non-executive
Directors under Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules; (i) the minimum number
requirement in the Audit Committee under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules; and
(i) the majority of independent non-executive Directors requirement in the
Remuneration Committee under Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules.
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Corporate Governance Report

On 31 May 2024, Mr. Cheng Haoliang (“Mr. Cheng”) resigned as an
independent non-executive Director, and also ceased to be the chairman
and a member of the Remuneration Committee, and a member of each
of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee. Following the
resignation of Mr. Cheng, the Company has (i) two independent non-
executive Directors, which results in the number of independent non-
executive Directors falling below the minimum number required under
Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules; (i) two members of the Audit Committee,
which results in the number of the Audit Committee members falling below
the minimum number required under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules; and
(i) no independent non-executive Director as the chairman and only two
independent non-executive Directors in the Remuneration Committee, which
results in the Company’s failure (a) to have an independent non-executive
Director as a chairman; and (b) to maintain a majority of independent non-
executive Directors in the Remuneration Committee as required under Rule
3.25 of the Listing Rules.

The Company has taken active steps (including seeking referrals and
meeting with potential candidates) to find suitable candidates to fill the
vacancy arising from the resignation of Mr. Cheng. On 15 July 2024, Mr.
Chen Jianguo (“Mr. Chen”) has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, the chairman and a member of the Remuneration
Committee, and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee. Thus, the Company has complied with (i) the
minimum number requirement of three independent non-executive Directors
under Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules; (i) the minimum number requirement
in the Audit Committee under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules; and (i) the
chairman acting by an independent non-executive Director and the majority
of independent non-executive Directors requirement in the Remuneration
Committee under Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules.

The position of the chairman of the Company (the “Chairman”) was vacated
upon the resignation of the former Chairman, and those responsibilities
continued to be shared among the members of the Board since 1 October
2022. During the year, the Company had not met the requirements of (i) the
roles of chairman and chief executive under code provision C.2.1 and (i) the
responsibilities of chairman under code provisions C.2.2 to C.2.9 of the CG
Code. The Board and the Nomination Committee will continuously review
and discuss the adjustment to the composition of the Board.

Events After the Reporting Period

On 2 July 2025, Ms. Wu Feizi (“Ms. Wu”) resigned as an executive Director,
and also ceased to be a member of each of the Remuneration Committee
and the Credit Committee. Following the resignation of Ms. Wu, the
Company has a single gender Board, which fails to meet the board diversity
requirement under Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules.

The Company will use its best endeavours to identify and appoint a suitable
female candidate as a Director to meet the relevant requirement as soon as
practicable, in any event within three months from the date of resignation of
Ms. Wu.
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TEEBRS

BOARD

Board Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for providing high-level guidance, leadership
and control for the Company. The Board formulates mid and long-term
strategies, monitors operational and financial performance, reviews the
annual business plans and financial budgets, ensures good corporate
governance and makes key decisions of the Company, including but not
limited to those affecting strategic policies of the Group, major investment
and funding decisions and major commitments relating to the operations of
the Group.

Board Composition

The Board currently has four Directors comprising one executive Director
and three independent non-executive Directors. Members of the Board
during the year and up to the date of publication of this annual report are set
out as below:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Zhao Lei (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Gao Peng (appointed on 31 May 2024
and resigned on 11 September 2024)

Ms. Wu Feizi (resigned on 2 July 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Li Chak Hung

Mr. Tu Chunan (appointed on 25 April 2024)
Mr. Chen Jianguo (appointed on 15 July 2024)
Mr. Cheng Haoliang (resigned on 31 May 2024)

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the “Biographical
Information of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report on
pages 55 to 56.

Each of Mr. Gao Peng, Mr. Tu Chunan and Mr. Chen Jianguo had obtained
legal advice pursuant to Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 23 May 2024, 24
April 2024 and 10 July 2024, respectively, and confirmed they understood
their obligations as a Director.

The Company currently has three independent non-executive Directors,
representing more than one-third of the Board, to bring an independent
judgement to bear on issues of strategy, policy, key appointments and
standards of conduct. All independent non-executive Directors are appointed
for a term of three years subject to early termination in accordance with the
terms of the respective letters of appointment and retirement by rotation and
re-election and other related provisions as stipulated in the bye-laws of the
Company (the “Bye-laws”) and the Listing Rules. Among the independent
non-executive Directors, at least one of the independent non-executive
Directors has the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules.
The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company continues to consider all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Pursuant to bye-law 84(1) of the Bye-laws, notwithstanding any other
provisions in the Bye-laws, at each annual general meeting one-third of the
Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement at least once every three years.
Mr. Li Chak Hung and Mr. Tu Chunan will retire from office as Director at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Tuesday,
9 September 2025 (the “AGM”) and, being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-election as Director at the AGM, and be subject to separate resolutions to
be approved at the AGM.

Pursuant to bye-law 83(2) of the Bye-laws, the Directors shall have the
power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a Director
either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition to the existing
Board. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as
an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the first annual
general meeting of the Company after his appointment and shall then be
eligible for re-election.

Relationship Between Board Members
There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships) between Board members.

Board and Committees Meetings

During the year, the Company held six Board meetings. The individual
attendance records of each Director at the meetings of the Board, the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Credit Committee and annual general meeting are set out below:

EEERBRS

EEYHEREE
RFBMARF84(1)IF > BEMA A EREAIR
ERERRBERG L - FER=02Z2—H
EXARERT MEREFEAELVEZ=F
BERET-R-FEHREERFEZRER
RZZZRENANE (BHD) 8#THER
BEERRBFAG (RRBFAEG) L&
FEEHH TTEERRKBAERRERE
FRELEEAES WARLUBIIRERT
ARRRBERE LEZBB-

RBHARIE83(2)% > EERF BT RHER
EREEMALTAEENERES GHRFTHR
HEMRAEEETEARZRB-EANEES
SLELEHERERIEMFEAEETEA
BEEZAREETHESEBANT
EERRBFAERL IR EREERE
fFo

EEgNEZHME%
EXemBEZHBERG (QEMH X5
RGN EMERHERIRAR)

EXEREETER

REFER ARBEETAREEFEE
FBREFENEFE BIHEET RBER
T HMEES EFEEZEGZEHUKK
RBFRENER L FELHESIIMT

Number of meetings attended/held

bR/ BTEERY
Annual
Audit Nomination Remuneration Credit general
Directors Board Committee Committee Committee Committee meeting
B 2 Edil 51 R&
% 5t 88 88 288 EEE EEAE
Executive Directors anEs
Zhao Lei (Chif Executive Offcer) #E (587 6/6 NATER 11 17 11 11
(a0 Peng (appointed on 31 May 2024 BEM_Z_mERA=+-RERE
and resigned on 11 September 2024) RRZBZBENAT-BEE) 23 NARER NATER NATER 00 o1
Wu Feizi (resigned on 2 July 2025) BEFR-Z-RELEHED 56 NAREE NATBR 17 01 11
Independent Non-executive Directors RUESTES
Li Chak Hung TR 6/6 33 1N i 1N 1
TuChunan (appointed on 25 April 2024) #EZ (R-T-RERA-TRAEZM) 6/6 33 n 10 NARER N
(Chen Jianguo (appointed on 15 July 2024) Bl ( ELATLAEZA) 44 1 000 000 NARER 1
Cheng Haoliang (resigned on 31 May 2024) BER M-3-mERR=+-RED 000 i 000 000 NARBE 000
Note: g

Attendances of the Directors during the year were made by reference to the number of such
meetings held during their respective tenures.

RAEFEREZZHEBRLBERREZEZEH
RBRTZAMEERAIEL -
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Chairman provides leadership and is responsible for ensuring effective
and smooth functioning and operation of the Board and the overall strategy
of the Group and establishing good corporate governance practices and
procedures. The Chairman also ensures that all Directors are properly briefed
on all issues arising at Board meetings and receive adequate, accurate and
reliable information in a timely manner.

The Chief Executive Officer focuses on the overall management, operation
and business development of the Group and implementing important policies
and development strategies as adopted by the Board in order to ensure a
successful day-to-day management of the business of the Group.

This segregation of roles ensures reinforcement of their independence,
responsibility and accountability.

During the year, the position of the Chief Executive Officer was held by Mr.
Zhao Lei. However, the position of the Chairman remained vacant during
the year. Those responsibilities of the Chairman continued to be shared
among the members of the Board, and no meeting of the Chairman with the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other executive
Directors was held during the year.

Board Independence

The Company has established mechanisms to ensure independent views
and input from the Directors, and also provides the Directors with sufficient
resources to perform their duties, including but not limited to seek external
independent professional advice, in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses. In addition, Directors will be continuously updated on
the major developments of the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep of corporate governance
practices. The Board considers that the implementation of mechanisms is
effective.
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Directors’ Continuous Professional Development Training

The Company has received confirmation from each of the Directors that he
or she had participated in continuous professional development training to
develop and refresh his or her knowledge and skills in accordance with code
provision C.1.4 of the CG Code during the year. According to the records
provided by the Directors and maintained by the Company, the training
received by the Directors during the year is summarised as follows:

EXERRS

ERHEEERRE
AABEWERESFZEIAE BIRER
RIBEFEEBTRZFRIMFESCECA4FR
AEERNSREFETEEREIN UERK
EMAEMB R M - REZEFFIRERER
BEFENCH EENEAFEREZIE
BT

Updates to
Corporate laws, rules and Finance/
Directors governance regulations management
G AR

) rEER Rz B B/ R
Executive Directors WiTES
Zhao Lel (Chief Executive Offcer) BE (TEEZ) AC AC AC
Gao Peng (appointed on 31 May 2024 SEM_Z_NERA=1t—-HEZAE

and resigned on 11 September 2024) RRZE-MEAA+—HED) - - =
Wu Feizi (resigned on 2 July 2025) BFEFRE_RELB_AHD AC AC =
Independent Non-executive Directors BUERTES
Li Chak Hung i ABC ABC ABC
Tu Chunan (appointed on 25 April 2024) REZ (P MNFNE -+ HREZRM) AC AC =
Chen Jianguo (appointed on 15 July 2024) BEE RS- NELATRBEZD AC AC =
Cheng Haoliang (resigned on 31 May 2024) BER (W_EZMERA=+—H#E) - © -
Form of training: HFif
A: Tutorial/Seminar ASRR
B: Online learning B4 L2&
C: Reading materials C:RIEM
Board Diversity EEFMEZ T

The Company has adopted a Board diversity policy (the “Diversity Policy”)
setting out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board. The Company
recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance
the quality of its performance. With a view to achieving a sustainable
and balanced development, the Company sees increasing diversity at
the Board level as an essential element in supporting the attainment of
its strategic objectives and its sustainable development. In designing the
Board’s composition, Board diversity has been considered from a number
of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board. The Nomination Committee will review
the Diversity Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

ARBRMESFTENEZTIEHEK (TET
bR » EEHIEERESTERES T
WAhE-AABRRBLREEFENESTT
EHRARRRERBERS - R ERAR
BHEENER FABRRRAEEEE
EREZ A HETREE R KRR
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b BEERRIER ~ F8 - XIEMHK
BES BHR FEER  KE NBMRS
R -ERNDEREFTEHELTIENEE
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RA RUABEREZBHRENRREER
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BRIE-
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The proportion of female Board representation is a measurable objective of
the Company in assessing the implementation of the diversity policy. During
the year, the Board had one female Director out of five Directors, achieved
the gender diversity of the Board at 20%. Following the resignation of Ms.
Wu as an executive Director after the reporting period on 2 July 2025,
the Company has a single gender Board comprises four male Directors,
which does not meet the board diversity requirement under Rule 13.92
of the Listing Rules. The Company will use its best endeavours to identify
and appoint a suitable female Director as soon as practicable, in any event
within three months from the date of resignation of Ms. Wu to meet such
requirement, with the ultimate goal of increasing the proportion of female
members over time as and when suitable candidates are identified.

The four Directors are from diverse and complementary backgrounds,
including business development, sales and marketing, accounting, finance
management, corporate finance, asset management, investment, industrial
park property management, operation service innovation and industrial
transformation and upgrading. The valuable experience and expertise they
bring to our business are critical for the long-term growth of the Group.

During the year, the Board has conducted an annual review of the
implementation and effectiveness of the Diversity Policy and is satisfied that
the Diversity Policy has been properly implemented and is effective.

In striving to maintain gender diversity, similar considerations applied when
recruiting and selecting senior management and general staff. As of 31
March 2025, a 1:0.68 male to female gender ratio, being a measurable
objective for gender diversity, has been achieved in the workforce (including
senior management). Further information about the composition of the
Group’s workforce is set out in the separate “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report”.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to
the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made to each of the Directors and all Directors
confirmed that they had complied with the required standards as set out in
the Model Code during the year ended 31 March 2025.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

Day-to-day management and operation of the Group are delegated to the
management of the Company. The Board provides clear directions to the
management as to its powers and circumstances in which the management
shall report to the Board.

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance in respect of legal action against Directors. In addition, each
Director or other officers of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified
out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he or
she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his or her
office or otherwise in relation thereto in accordance with the Bye-laws.
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The Management

The management, under the leadership of the Chief Executive Officer, is
responsible for the day-to-day management of the Group’s businesses,
implementation of the strategies approved by the Board and general
operations of the Company as delegated by the Board. Such delegation is
closely monitored and regularly reviewed by the Board. The management
has to report to the Board and obtain the Board’s approval prior to any
significant decisions or any commitments to be entered into on behalf of the
Company.

Board Committees

The Board has delegated authority to the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Credit Committee to deal
with specific matters under defined terms of reference which are reviewed
and updated regularly to ensure that they remain appropriate and in line with
the Group’s business and changes in governance practices.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As at the date of publication of this annual report, the Remuneration
Committee, consisting of one executive Director (Mr. Zhao Lei) and three
independent non-executive Directors (Mr. Li Chak Hung, Mr. Tu Chunan
and Mr. Chen Jianguo (chairman of the Remuneration Committee)), is
delegated with the authority from the Board to establish, review and make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration policy and practices of
the Group. Mr. Cheng Haoliang ceased to be the chairman and a member of
the Remuneration Committee on 31 May 2024 and Ms. Wu Feizi ceased to
be a member of the Remuneration Committee on 2 July 2025.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee follow the guidelines
as set out in the CG Code and are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

The main duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of executive
Directors and senior management, recommend to the Board the policy and
structure on the remuneration of all Directors and senior management to
ensure that no Director or any of his or her associates is involved in deciding
his or her own remuneration and in reviewing and approving compensation-
related issues.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting (the
attendance records of the members at the meeting is set out in the section
headed “Board — Board and Committees Meetings” above) and also dealt
with matters by way of circulation. It performed works including to review
the policy and structure on the remuneration of all Directors and senior
management, recommend to the Board the remuneration of executive
Directors and senior management, and the remuneration packages for the
newly appointed Directors. Particulars of the Directors’ emoluments are set
out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.
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During the year, since there were no shares granted under the Share Option
Scheme (as stated in the Directors’ Report), no material matters relating
to the Share Option Scheme under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules were
required to be reviewed or approved by the Remuneration Committee.
The Remuneration Committee has also assessed the performance of the
executive Directors and approved the terms of the executive Directors’
services contract during the year.

Senior Management’s Remuneration

Of the senior management of the Group, emoluments of five (2024: six)
Directors are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements. The
remuneration payable to the remaining one member (2024: two members) of
senior management by band for the year ended 31 March 2025, pursuant to
code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, were as follows:

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z%1,000,0007 75

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at the date of publication of this annual report, the Nomination
Committee, consisting of one executive Director (Mr. Zhao Lei) and three
independent non-executive Directors (Mr. Li Chak Hung (chairman of
the Nomination Committee), Mr. Tu Chunan and Mr. Chen Jianguo), is
delegated with the authority from the Board to formulate and implement the
policy for nominating candidates for approval of the Board and assess the
independence and commitment of independent non-executive Directors. Mr.
Cheng Haoliang ceased to be a member of the Nomination Committee on
31 May 2024.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee follow the guidelines
as set out in the CG Code and are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board, formulate policy and make
recommendations to the Board on appointment or reappointment of the
Directors and succession planning for senior management of the Company
(including Directors), and assess the independence of independent non-
executive Directors.
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During the year, the Nomination Committee held one meeting (the
attendance record of the members at the meeting is set out in the section
headed “Board — Board and Committees Meetings” above) and also dealt
with matters by way of circulation. It performed works including to review
the Diversity Policy and the Nomination Policy, review the structure, size
and composition of the Board, and the time commitment of Directors in
performing their responsibilities, discuss the succession planning of the
senior management of the Company, consider the retirement and re-election
of Directors, assess the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors and make recommendation to the Board on the new appointment
of Directors, and the changes to the composition of Board committees.

Nomination Policy

The Company embraced high transparency in the Board member selection
process. The nomination policy formulated by the Nomination Committee
aims to ensure the Board maintains a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Company’s business. The Nomination Committee has been delegated
with the responsibility to identify individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members and select or make recommendations to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships. The criteria in
considering whether a candidate is qualified shall be his or her ability to
devote sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company and
contribute to the diversity of the Board. By adopting such criteria, it facilitates
the Company in developing a pipeline of candidates to the Board to achieve
gender diversity. The Board is ultimately responsible for the selection and
appointment of new Directors.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of the Group’s performance and prospects in
this annual report and other financial disclosures as required by the Listing
Rules. The Directors also acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements that give a true and fair view of the Group’s financial
position on a going concern basis. A statement by the external auditor
of the Company in respect of its reporting responsibilities is set out in the
“Independent Auditor’s Report”.

The Directors are aware that the Group incurred a net loss of
HK$198,499,000 for the year ended 31 March 2025. As of that date, the
Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by HK$173,173,000
and the Group’s total liabilities exceeded its total assets by HK$65,134,000.
As set out in the section headed “Material Uncertainty Related to Going
Concern” in the “Independent Auditor's Report”, these conditions, along
with other matters as set forth in note 2(c) to the consolidated financial
statements, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The
opinion of the external auditor of the Company is not modified in respect
of this matter. The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2025 are prepared on a going concern basis.
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Save as abovementioned and disclosed in note 2(c) to the consolidated
financial statements, the Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that might cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board places great importance on risk management and internal control
and acknowledges that it has the ultimate responsibility for overseeing
the management in the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group on an on-going
basis. The Board also acknowledges that it is responsible for reviewing the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems.

The Group maintained the risk management and internal control systems
which are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and to provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or losses caused by judgement in
decision making process, human error, fraud or other irregularities. These
systems cover key controls over financial, operational and compliance
controls and, including but not limited to, risk management functions,
adequacy of resources of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting
functions and an annual control and risk self-assessment process.

In order to comply with the applicable code provisions set out in the CG
Code, the Board has retained an external independent professional firm as
the outsourced internal auditor with a view to facilitating the adequacy of
resources and quality of review to satisfy the Group’s internal audit function
as required by the Stock Exchange and to assist the Board to perform
annual reviews on the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems for the year ended 31 March 2025. The Board has
reviewed the need for an internal audit function and is of the view that in light
of the size and complexity of the business of the Group, it would be more
cost effective to appoint the outsourced internal auditor to perform internal
audit function for the Group in order to meet its needs. Nevertheless, the
Board will continue to review at least annually the need for an internal audit
function.

The Board had reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff, their training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting, internal audit, financial reporting functions, as well
as those relating to the Company’s environmental, social and governance
performance and reporting.

During the year, the Group had conducted an annual risk assessment
which identified respective strategic risks, operational risks, financial risks
and compliance risks for the Group. Based on the risk assessment results
following a risk-based methodology audit approach, a three-year audit plan
was devised which prioritised the risks identified into annual audit projects.
The annual review was performed according to the audit plan with a view
to assist the Board and the Audit Committee in evaluating the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems. The Group
had taken further steps to enhance its risk management and internal control
systems based on some weaknesses identified during risk assessment
and examination of the internal control systems, and had strengthened the
implementation of all the risk management and internal control systems.
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The Group has also established a policy on handling and dissemination of
inside information that sets out the procedures in handling inside information
in an accurate and secure manner and to avoid possible mishandling of
inside information within the Group. Those procedures mainly include the
following:

o no Directors or employees shall disclose inside information to any
third parties. Directors or employees who are in possession of inside
information are obliged to preserve confidentiality and restrict access
to the information on a need-to-know and confidential basis;

o the Company is obliged to comply with the requirements of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) and make disclosure of any inside information as soon as
practicable if the Board decides an announcement is required; and

. any Director or employee shall report to the Chief Executive Officer,
chief financial officer and company secretary (the “Company
Secretary”) of the Company immediately when he or she is aware of
any potential inside information.

During the year, the Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted
a review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems and considers them effective and adequate.

Risks and Uncertainties
The principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group are set out in the
section headed “Risks and Uncertainties” under the “Directors’ Report”.

Audit Committee

As at the date of publication of this annual report, the Audit Committee,
consisting of three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Li
Chak Hung (chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Tu Chunan and Mr.
Chen Jianguo, is delegated with the authority from the Board to review and
provide independent oversight of the financial statements and reporting, risk
management and internal control systems, and the adequacy of the external
and internal audits. Mr. Cheng Haoliang ceased to be a member of the Audit
Committee on 31 May 2024.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee follow the guidelines as set
out in the CG Code and are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board in reviewing
the financial statements and reports and significant financial reporting
judgements, effectiveness of internal audit function, risk management
and internal control systems, audit process, appointment, reappointment
and removal of the external auditors, arrangements which employees of
the Company can use, in confidence, to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the
Company.
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The Audit Committee had reviewed the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group together with the management of the Company, and
had reviewed and approved the audited consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 as set out in this annual report.

During the year, the Audit Committee held three meetings (the attendance
records of the members at the meeting are set out in the section headed
“Board - Board and Committees Meetings” above) and also dealt with
matters by way of circulation. It performed works including to review the
interim and annual results of the Group and discuss and recommend for
the Board’s approval the relevant financial reports, the effectiveness of the
internal audit function, the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems, significant accounting and audit issues, scope of audit, re-
appointment of external auditor and its independence, risk assessment result
and internal audit activities, the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experiences of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
functions, and their training programmes and budget and review the whistle
blower policy, review and discuss the audit plan from the external auditor and
approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee on
the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the external auditor
during the year.

The Audit Committee monitors the audit and non-audit services rendered
to the Group by the external auditor and ensures that the engagement
of the external auditor in other non-audit services will not impair its audit
independence or objectivity. The external auditor had confirmed to the Audit
Committee that during the course of its audit on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 and thereafter up to
the date of this annual report, it is independent of the Group in accordance
with the independence requirements of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.

External Auditor’'s Remuneration

An analysis of the remuneration paid/payable to the Group’s external auditor,
Crowe (HK) CPA Limited, and its affiliates in respect of audit and non-audit
services for the year ended 31 March 2025 is set out as follows:
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HEBREERABEERGNERIE -EX
Gt RBEZER BZEBEINEZBER
EEREBUM AR EERRANBEZ
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5 B MY s SN B AL BB BV B A% 51 8 0 e
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HK$’000

Services rendered for the Group: EATEBERE R FHET
Audit service ZERTS 1,320
Non-audit services IEZBBRTS 390
1,710
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The Audit Committee had reviewed and approved the above fee in respect
of audit service and non-audit services provided to the Group by the external
auditor and its affiliates for the year. The non-audit services for the year
ended 31 March 2025 included review of interim results, internal audit review
and risk assessment, and review of environmental, social and governance
report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board recognises that the Directors are collectively responsible for the
corporate governance duties. Such duties are, including but not limited to:

o developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and making recommendations;

. reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management of the
Company;

. reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

. developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees of the Group and
the Directors; and

o reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and the
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

During the year, the Board had reviewed and performed the abovementioned
corporate governance functions.

CREDIT COMMITTEE

As at the date of publication of this annual report, the Credit Committee
consisted of one executive Director (Mr. Zhao Lei) as member, which
is responsible for formulating the credit policy of the Group to ensure
the business risks of the Group are monitored. Mr. Gao Peng has been
appointed as a member of the Credit Committee on 31 May 2024 and
ceased to be a member of the Credit Committee on 11 September 2024,
while Ms. Wu Feizi ceased to be a member of the Credit Committee on 2
July 2025 and Mr. Li Chak Hung ceased to be the chairman and a member
of the Credit Committee on 2 July 2025.

The Company will identify and appoint suitable candidate(s) to fill up the
vacancy(ies) in the Credit Committee (including chairmanship) as soon as
practicable.

During the year, the Credit Committee held one meeting (the attendance
records of the members at the meeting is set out in the section headed
“Board — Board and Committees Meetings” above). It performed works
including to review the credit policy and its implementation.
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SHAREHOLDER AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

Communication with Shareholders

The Board established a shareholders’ communication policy (the
“Shareholders’ Communication Policy”) setting out the principles of the
Company in relation to shareholders’ communications, with the objective
of ensuring that its communications with the Shareholders are timely,
transparent, accurate and open.

Corporate information dissemination is achieved via the following means:

. The annual general meeting of the Company allows the Directors
to meet and communicate with the Shareholders. The notice to
Shareholders is to be sent in the case of annual general meeting at
least 21 days before the meeting and to be sent at least 14 days
in case of all other general meetings. An explanation of the detailed
procedures of conducting a poll is provided to the Shareholders at the
commencement of the meeting. The Shareholders can raise questions
directly to the Board in respect of business performance and future
development of the Group. The poll results are published on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

o Publication of annual reports, interim reports, announcements and
circulars.

. The websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange, on which the
electronic copies of financial reports and the latest information of the
Company are available.

The website of the Company provides the Shareholders with contact details
of the Company such as telephone number, fax number, email address and
postal address. The Shareholders may address their enquiries and concerns
to the Board via these means.

During the year, the Board conducted a review of the implementation and
effectiveness of the Shareholders” Communication Policy. Having considered
the multiple channels of communication and engagement in place as
detailed above and in the Shareholders’ Communication Policy, the Board
is satisfied that the Shareholders’ Communication Policy has been properly
implemented and is effective.

General Meeting
During the year, the annual general meeting was held on 9 September 2024.

Dividend Policy

The Company adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) setting
out the approach to recommend the dividend payment. According to the
Dividend Policy, the declaration of dividends is subject to the Company’s
ability to pay dividends, which will depend upon, including but not limited to,
the financial performance and position of the Company, business conditions
and strategies, and any other factors that the Board may deem relevant.
The Board may consider declaring special dividends from time to time,
in addition to the interim and/or annual dividends. The Board reviews the
Dividend Policy and its effectiveness as required to ensure the benefit of the
Shareholders as a whole is taken into consideration from time to time during
recommendation and declaration of dividends.
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Shareholders’ Rights

Shareholders are provided with contact details of the Company in order
to enable them to make any enquiries that they may have with respect to
the Company. In addition, Shareholders can contact the share registrar
and transfer office of the Company if they have any enquiries about their
shareholdings and entitlements to dividends.

Pursuant to bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws, Shareholders holding in aggregate
not less than one-tenth of the voting rights in the share capital of the
Company may also make a requisition to convene a special general meeting
and/or add resolutions to the agenda of a meeting. Such requisition shall
be made in writing to the Board or the Company Secretary, to request
the Board to convene a special general meeting for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within
two months after the deposit of such requisition. If, within 21 days of
such deposit, the Board does not proceed duly to call such meeting, the
Shareholders who requested such meeting may themselves call a special
general meeting.

Shareholders who wish to make proposals or move a resolution are
encouraged to convene a special general meeting in accordance with the
paragraph hereinabove.

Investor Relations

For the year ended 31 March 2025, there was no change in the Bye-
laws, which are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is a full-time employee of the Company and is
appointed by the Board. The Company Secretary is accountable to the
Board for ensuring that correct Board procedures are followed, that the
Board is fully briefed on all legislative and regulatory developments, and to
advise the Board on all corporate governance matters. In compliance with
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, the Company Secretary undertook at least 15
hours of relevant professional training during the year.

Please refer to the “Biographical Information of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report on pages 55 to 56 for further information
of the Company Secretary.
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of the Company
presents this annual report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for
the year ended 31 March 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities and details of its principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2025 are set
out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

The principal activities of the Group are the trading of milk powder and
foods, provision of warehouse logistics services and property investment.
An analysis of the performance of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2025 by business segments is set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
pages 64 to 65 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil). No interim dividend was declared or paid
to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) for the six months
ended 30 September 2024 (30 September 2023: Nil).

The Company has not made any arrangement under which a Shareholder
has waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy setting out the approach
to recommend the dividend payment. Please refer to the section headed
“Dividend Policy” under the “Corporate Governance Report” for details.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) is scheduled to be
held on Tuesday, 9 September 2025 and the notice of AGM will be published
and issued to the Shareholders as required by the Listing Rules in due
course.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining Shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote
at the AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, 4 September 2025 to Tuesday, 9 September 2025, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares of the Company (the
“Share(s)”) will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at
the AGM, unregistered holders of the Shares should ensure that all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited of 17/F.,
Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 3 September 2025.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 is
set out in the “Management Discussion and Analysis”, and “Corporate
Governance Report” from pages 4 to 17 and pages 18 to 33 of this annual
report and the paragraphs below. The important events affecting the
Company that occurred since the end of the year ended 31 March 2025 and
outlook of the Group is set out in “Management Discussion and Analysis”
from pages 4 to 17 of this annual report. A discussion on the Group’s
environmental policies and performance and the Group’s compliance with
relevant laws and regulations as well as an account of the Group’s key
relationships with its employees, customers and suppliers and others that
have a significant impact on the Group are also set out in the separate
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report”. All such discussions form
part of this Directors’ Report.

Risks and Uncertainties

The following section lists out the principal risks and uncertainties faced
by the Group. It is a non-exhaustive list and there may be other risks and
uncertainties in addition to the key risk areas outlined below.

General Economic and Market Conditions

The businesses of the Group may be affected by the global economic and
market conditions. Slow economic growth or a recession could affect the
operating results of the Group. The Group cannot control market conditions
but believes it has adequate measures in place to respond to the changes.

Competitive Environment

The Group faces competition from other distributors, manufacturers and
service providers. Failure to compete successfully with the existing and/
or potential competitors may adversely affect the Group’s business,
financial condition and operating results. To mitigate the risk of competition,
the Group continues to focus on product and service quality, sales and
marketing, network, product and service varieties, pricing, service, and
source of resources.
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Risks and Measures for Reliance on Suppliers and Customers

During the year, the Group’s five largest customers combined accounted for
40.5% of the sales of the Group, and the five largest suppliers combined
accounted for 91.5% of the purchases of the Group.

In minimising the risk of heavy reliance on a narrow base of customers, the
Group has been actively pursuing new potential customers and expanding
the product and service categories in order to broaden its customer base.

The Group has maintained long-term relationships with its suppliers and also
established a strategic supplier system via strategic cooperation with key
suppliers, forming a framework for mutual growth and support.

Relationship with Suppliers

The Group has established strong relationships with its suppliers. However,
the operations of the Group largely depend on a stable supply of products
from its suppliers. Failure to maintain a relationship with its suppliers may
adversely affect the Group’s operating results. The Group dedicates to
fostering strong and long-term cooperation relationships with its suppliers
to ensure a stable, reasonably priced and quality supply of products for its
operation.

Financial Risk

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks. A discussion of the
policies and procedures on the management of each of the major types
of financial risks which the Group is facing is included in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

The Group is committed to ensuring compliance with the laws and
regulations which govern the Group’s businesses and operations. The Group
has complied with all the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group throughout the year. Further details about the Group’s
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Group are set out in the separate “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report”.

Financial Key Performance Indicators
Details about the Group’s financial key performance indicators are set out in
the “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report.

Environmental Policies and Performance

Details about the Group’s environmental policies and performance are
set out in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” separately
released on the website of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Stock Exchange”) and the website of the Company in the Annual Reports
section, the discussions of which form part of this annual report.

To access the online version of the Environmental, Social and Governance

Report, please refer to the website address set out in the “Corporate
Information” on page 3 of this annual report.

ALPHA PROFESSIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED e Annual Report 2025

IR IR IE B R &5 5 B B e 15 Tt
RAEERN FEBRIAZRFARHERER
BOSH £ 2R40.6% R E R BB & G A LR
BOFRFBERO1.5% °

AHREBEXRBRENERENRR  &~&E
H-EHEBSKRANETE R LERAERR
RFE4ER > LB RHE 2o

FEMERAHBEHEFRARG LEZE
FERBUMREESER HRRHEHRES
R SR TEREFH R k%
RBITERE

B EF AR
FAEBEREAMHEHEIEENRME A
m> AEENEERAEE LEURN EHHE
IR E BV E s IR o R E M (RET
FGRAEHAERNKEXEELETHEE-
FEBRHEAHERRIRFERANS
R DI RAEEEEE TS IME
RE-BREERDHERZERME-

AR

rEEEERRESREAR FHAEEEY
KX EMARZ EEBRNEFZH
i WER A E AR T M BB IR R M FEST -

BTIER AR ARG
AERHRETEEEEFREE ZEERE
RTNER - AEEREFEN—EEBTY
AEBBEALENBRERERER B
FEEBTHAERSERZENAMERE
RERRE— S BEHN BN RIE LS
REBREBEIN-

FATSRIARGER
BRI EBRYBRIBMEIER ZF BRI A
FRAZIEEEBNRED

RIGEER BRI
EMTERRRBERRRRZFBEHN IR
B HERERREI AN DNBHNE B
BRXBARRSE (THAF) @it ki n
BIEIL IR —1 > HElm B A E R —af
Ho

MR R B R ERRE) 0B
iR B S BA R BOE AR AT A
R



Relationship with Employees

The Group strongly believes that its staff is an invaluable asset to the Group
and is significant to the Group’s business. Therefore, the Group recognises
the importance of maintaining a good relationship with its employees. The
Group maintains a policy of paying competitive remuneration. Remuneration
of employees, which includes salary and discretionary performance bonus, is
decided with reference to the results of the Group, the market level as well as
individual performance and contributions. Remuneration packages including
performance bonuses are reviewed on a regular basis by the Group.

Further information on the Group’s relationships with employees are also set
out in the separate “Environmental, Social and Governance Report”.

Relationships with Customers and Suppliers

The Group has established strong relationships with its customers. It will
maintain existing relationships with its customers and expand its customer
base to enhance its market presence.

The Group dedicates itself to fostering strong and long-term cooperation
relationships with its suppliers to ensure stable, reasonably priced and quality
supply of components and products for its operation.

Further information on the Group’s relationships with customers and
suppliers are also set out in the separate “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report”.

DIRECTORS

The list of the Directors during the year and thereafter up to the date of this
annual report is set out below, their biographical information is set out in
the “Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management” from
pages 55 to 56 of this annual report, and the details of changes in directors’
information are set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual
report.

Executive Directors

Zhao Lei (Chief Executive Officer)

Wu Feizi

Gao Peng (appointed on 31 May 2024
and resigned on 11 September 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Li Chak Hung

Tu Chunan (appointed on 25 April 2024)
Chen Jianguo (appointed on 15 July 2024)
Cheng Haoliang (resigned on 31 May 2024)
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Each of Mr. Gao Peng, Mr. Tu Chunan and Mr. Chen Jianguo had obtained
legal advice pursuant to Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 23 May 2024, 24
April 2024 and 10 July 2024, respectively, and confirmed they understood
their obligations as a Director.

Pursuant to bye-law 83(2) of the Bye-laws, the Directors shall have the
power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a Director
either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition to the existing
Board. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as
an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the first annual
general meeting of the Company after his appointment and shall then be
eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to bye-law 84 of the Bye-laws, Mr. Li Chak Hung and Mr. Tu
Chunan will retire from office as Directors at the AGM and, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election as Directors at the AGM, and be subject to
separate resolutions to be approved at the AGM.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company continues to consider each of
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

Directors’ Service Contracts

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the AGM had a service
contract with the Group which was not determinable by the Group within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

Details of the Directors’ emoluments are set out in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The emoluments payable to Directors will depend on their respective
contractual terms under their service contracts or appointment letters
as approved by the Board on the recommendation of the Remuneration
Committee, with reference to the results of the Group, the market as well as
individual performance and contributions.

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Details of the employee retirement benefits of the Group are set out in note
32 to the consolidated financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to bye-law 164(1) of the Bye-laws, each Director or other officer
of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he or she may
incur or sustain in or about the execution of the duties of his or her office
or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has arranged appropriate
insurance in respect of the liabilities and costs associated with any
proceedings which may be brought against its Directors and officers.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES
OF THE COMPANY
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or

redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company for the year ended 31
March 2025.

SHARE CAPITAL
As at 31 March 2025, the total number of issued Shares was 349,280,383
of US$0.16 each (2024: 349,280,383 Shares of US$0.16 each).

Details of movements in share capital of the Company for the year ended
31 March 2025 are set out in note 34(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”, no equity-
linked agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing Shares or
that require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result
in the Company issuing Shares were entered into by the Company during the
year or subsisted at the end of the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company had adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) at the annual general meeting held on 8 September 2020. The
Share Option Scheme became effective on 8 September 2020 and, unless
otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that
date.

The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are set out as below:

1. Purpose
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to incentivise and reward
participants who have contributed to the Group and to encourage
participants to work towards enhancing the value of the Company and
its Shares for the benefit of the Company and its Shareholders as a
whole.

2. Participants
The participants are any Directors (including executive Directors,
non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors),
Shareholders and employees of the Group and any advisers and
consultants of any member of the Group who the Board considers, in
its sole discretion, have contributed or will contribute to the Group.
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3. Total number of Shares available for issue

The number of Shares which may be issued upon the exercise of
all share options granted or to be granted under the mandate of the
Share Option Scheme at the beginning and the end of the financial
year ended 31 March 2025 was 31,436,038 Shares, representing
10% of the issued Shares as at the date of adoption of the Share
Option Scheme and approximately 9% of the issued Shares as at the
date of this annual report. The number of options available for grant
under the share option scheme mandate at the beginning and the end

of the financial year ended 31 March 2025 was 31,436,038.

4. Maximum entitlement of each participant

The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each grantee under the Share
Option Scheme (including both exercised and outstanding options) in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue for
the time being, unless approved by Shareholders. No service provider

sub-limit was set under the Share Option Scheme.

51 Period within which the Shares must be taken up under an
option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during the period to be notified by the
Board to each grantee upon the grant of options, such period which
shall not exceed 10 years from the date of grant of the relevant option.
Options granted during the life of the Share Option Scheme shall
continue to be exercisable in accordance with their terms of grant after

the expiry of the Share Option Scheme.

6. Minimum period for which an option must be held before it can

be exercised

There is no general requirement on the minimum period for which
an option must be held or the performance targets which must be
achieved before the option can be exercised, under the terms of the

Share Option Scheme.

7. Amount payable on acceptance of the option and the payment

period

An offer is deemed to be accepted when the Company receives
from the grantee the offer letter signed by the grantee specifying the
number of Shares in respect of which the offer is accepted, and a
remittance to the Company of HK$1.00 as consideration for the grant
of the option within 28 days from the grant. Such remittance is not

refundable in any circumstance.
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8. Basis of determining the exercise price
The exercise price shall be determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion but in any event shall not be less than the higher of:

(@  the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant
which must be a business day;

(b)  the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of the grant; and

(¢)  the nominal value of the Shares.

9. Remaining life of the Share Option Scheme
The Share Option Scheme shall remain in force for 10 years
commencing on 8 September 2020 up to and including 7 September
2030.

As at 31 March 2025, the remaining life of the Share Option Scheme
is approximately 5 years and 5 months.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme on 8 September 2020
and up to 31 March 2025, no options were granted, exercised, lapsed or
cancelled. At the beginning and at the end of the financial year ended 31
March 2025, the Company has no outstanding options.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
At no time during or at the end of the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate with the exception of granting of
Share options to subscribe for Shares under the Share Option Scheme.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2025, the interests of the Directors, chief executives and
their associates in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (the “SFO”), as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules were as follows:
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Long Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of
the Company

RARBRIRM ERERG REHFPHFE

Approximate
percentage of the
total number of

Number of issued Shares Nete)
Name of Director Capacity Shares held HEEITRMHAEE
BEELE 5% FrisRRin 88 Z A B L o
Mr. Chen Jianguo Beneficial Owner 1,428,000 0.40%

BREZE 4 BmEAA

Note: The percentage of the total number of issued Share is based on the 349,280,383
Shares issued as at 31 March 2025.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the Directors, chief
executives of the Company nor their associates had any other personal,
family, corporate and other interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’
INTERESTS

As at 31 March 2025, the following persons or entities, other than Directors
or chief executives of the Company, had or were deemed to have interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the
SFO, or which were notified to the Company:

Long Positions in the Shares and Underlying Shares

Directors’ Report
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FERRREMATZ

RIZEZAFE=ZRA=+—H ' UTFTALHE
B IFEFHARBETBTHAR) RERHG
FAEMROT  EERREREARIEE
KRG IRHIEIBCHRREELARBDAFERE
A B THEARTNEEI KR

R RERRMD 2R

Approximate

Number of percentage of the
issued total number of
Shares held issued Shares Note 1)
Name of Director Capacity FriFB 1T B EITRM
KERETE 5% K eE HRB 2 A E 9 b ey
Ms. Chong Sok Un (“Ms. Chong”) Interests of controlled 207,026,615 59.27%
HFrEmut (Ext)) corporation (Note 2
SEAEER L)
Well Dynasty Investments Limited Beneficial owner 193,026,615 55.26%
(“Well Dynasty”) EmEBA
EBRERRAR (MFEE))
Mr. Lee Ming-tee Beneficial owner 20,974,000 6.00%
EHAEE BEEBA
Notes: PEEE
1. The percentage of the total number of issued Share is based on the 349,280,383 1. ERTROEHZEDLENREN S °HF

Shares issued as at 31 March 2025.

2. Well Dynasty is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Miracle Planet Developments Limited,
which in turn is a company wholly owned by Ms. Chong. Vigor Online Offshore
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Spirit Limited, owns 14,000,000 Shares.
Ms. Chong owns 100% beneficial interests in China Spirit Limited. Accordingly, Ms.
Chong is deemed to have an interest of (i) 193,026,615 Shares through Miracle Planet
Developments Limited and Well Dynasty; and (i) 14,000,000 Shares through China
Spirit Limited and Vigor Online Offshore Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, there were no other
persons or entities, other than Directors or chief executives of the Company,
had or were deemed to have interests or short positions in the Shares or
underlying Shares which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under section 336 of the SFO, or which were notified to the
Company.

= HA=+—RB1722349,280,383& & {3 ™
TE °

2. #FE§ AMiracle Planet Developments Limitedz.
2 EHB/AF) MMiracle Planet Developments
LimitedaH & +2&#H%E 2 /A5 °Vigor
Online Offshore LimitedZChina Spirit Limited
22 EMBAT) #EH14,000,00088 B3 17 o
% £ China Spirit Limited# A& 100%E & 1
o (AL 2 TR A(i)EBMiracle Planet
Developments Limited #45#%5193,026,615
BRB& 15 5 K (i)BE3BChina Spirit Limited K Vigor
Online Offshore Limited%14,000,0008% i% 1% &
AR

bR EXEBEEN RS AFE=B=+—
B #iEEtm AL ERE WIFEENEAAT
FTETHAS RRMOIERARD T #EEN
MR DR RBEE SR ERAFE3361FR
ERABAFERELMA ASBTHER
NEWEDIHKA

MENEERERARAT « —T_HFFH

43



44

Directors’ Report
EEEHRE

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws or the laws
of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated,
which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to
the existing Shareholders.

TAXATION RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Contractual Arrangements

On 27 June 2024, a debt settlement agreement was entered into by the
Group in relation to, among other things, the acquisition of 70% of economic
benefit of Shenyang Jinyi e-commerce Co., Ltd.* (Eff£EEFEHEER
‘AB]) (“Shenyang Jinyi”) and the transfer of the rights of a shareholder’s loan
amounting to RMB2.4 million to the Group, in consideration of the Group
agreeing to discharge the trade receivables in the sum of AUD5.1 million.
Shenyang Jinyi is principally engaged in the business of, among others,
e-commerce in the PRC and holds the requisite permit and approval required
for its e-commerce business, including but not limited to (1) Value-Added
Telecommunications Business Operating License (BB 5 £ TR
&) (“ICP License”), and (2) Online Culture Operating License (4848 (LA
FFOl5) (“ICB License”).

As advised by the legal adviser to the Company as to the PRC laws (the
“PRC Legal Adviser”), Shenyang Jinyi and its subsidiary (“Shenyang Jinyi
Group”) is engaging in internet information service and online performance
which fall under the “restricted” and “prohibited” categories, respectively, so
the Company as a foreign investor are restricted and prohibited from holding
equity interests in Shenyang Jinyi. Due to such restriction and prohibition,
the Board concur with the PRC Legal Adviser that it is necessary for the
Group to conduct internet information service and online performance in
the PRC through Shenyang Jinyi Group via contractual arrangements (the
“Contractual Arrangements”) between Hangzhou Mingandi E-commerce
Co., Ltd.* (BINBAZBEBEFEFEBRAE) (“Hangzhou Mingandi”), a wholly
foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC with limited liability and a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Shenyang Jinyi, Mr. Zhang Xuekun
(3R218), the registered shareholder of Shenyang Jinyi (the “Registered
Shareholder”) and the spouse of the Registered Shareholder.

*  For identification purpose only
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Through the terms of the Contractual Arrangements, the Group has
the power over Shenyang Jinyi Group to direct the relevant activities of
Shenyang Jinyi Group unilaterally and hence the Group has control over
Shenyang Jinyi Group. The members of Shenyang Jinyi Group become
subsidiaries of the Company and the financial positions and results of
operations of Shenyang Jinyi Group are consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements of the Company under IFRS Accounting Standards even
though the Company does not legally own any equity interest in Shenyang
Jinyi, whether directly or indirectly.

Details of the Contractual Arrangements are set out in the announcements
of the Company dated 27 June 2024 and 17 July 2024 (collectively, “CCT
Announcements”).

Summary of the major terms of the Contractual Arrangements
(1)  Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement

Parties: (1) Hangzhou Mingandi; and (2) Shenyang Jinyi

Term: The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement
shall be valid upon execution thereof and remain
valid until Hangzhou Mingandi agrees to terminate
the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement in
writing.

Subject Matter:  Shenyang Jinyi and Hangzhou Mingandi

entered into the Exclusive Business Cooperation

Agreement, pursuant to which Shenyang

Jinyi agreed to engage Hangzhou Mingandi

as its exclusive provider of technical support,

consultation and other services.
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Fee:

In addition, pursuant to the Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreement, without the prior written
approval from Hangzhou Mingandi, Shenyang
Jinyi shall not, and shall procure its subsidiaries
not to, accept the same or any similar services
provided by any third party and shall not establish
cooperation relationships similar to that formed by
the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement
with any third party.

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement
also provides that, (i) all intellectual property rights
developed or created during the performance of
the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement
belong to Hangzhou Mingandi, (i) Hangzhou
Mingandi is entitled to authorize Shenyang Jinyi
and its subsidiaries to use the intellectual property
rights, and (i) Hangzhou Mingandi is authorized to
use all existing intellectual property rights created
by Shenyang Jinyi and its subsidiaries before
execution of the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement for free.

Pursuant to the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement, the service fee shall be determined by
Hangzhou Mingandi annually (or at any other time
mutually agreed upon by both parties). The service
fee paid each year (or during any other agreed-
upon period) shall consist of a management fee
and a service provision fee. The specific amount of
the service fee shall be determined by Hangzhou
Mingandi based on (i) the complexity and difficulty
level of the service; (i) the level of employees
of Hangzhou Mingandi and the time required to
provide such services; (i) the specific content,
scope and commercial value of the service; (iv)
market reference prices for similar type of services;
and (v) the business situation of Shenyang Jinyi.
The service fee paid by Shenyang Jinyi shall not
be less than seventy percent (70%) of its after-tax
profits.
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(2)  Exclusive Option Agreement

Parties:

Term:

Subject Matter
and
Consideration:

(1) Hangzhou Mingandi; (2) The Registered
Shareholder; and (3) Shenyang Jinyi.

The Exclusive Option Agreement commenced
upon the signing date of the agreement, until it is
terminated upon the transfer of the 70% equity
interests held by the Registered Shareholder and/
or the transfer of all the assets of Shenyang Jinyi
to Hangzhou Mingandi or its designated person in
accordance with the Exclusive Option Agreement.

Hangzhou Mingandi, Shenyang Jinyi and the
Registered Shareholder entered into the Exclusive
Option Agreement, pursuant to which the
Registered Shareholder granted irrevocably and
unconditionally to Hangzhou Mingandi the rights to
require the Registered Shareholder to transfer any
or all of his 70% equity interests in Shenyang Jinyi
and/or to require Shenyang Jinyi to transfer 70%
of its assets to Hangzhou Mingandi and/or a third
party designated by it, in whole or in part at any
time and from time to time, at zero consideration,
or, if so required under the laws of the PRC, a
minimum purchase price permitted under PRC
laws and regulations.

The consideration for the exercise of the option
by Hangzhou Mingandi to purchase 70% of the
equity interest held by the Registered Shareholder
shall be determined based on the equity transfer
agreement separately entered into between
Hangzhou Mingandi (or its designated person) and
the Registered Shareholder (provided that such
price does not violate the provisions of PRC laws
and regulations and is recognized by Hangzhou
Mingandi) (“Benchmark Purchase Price”). If, at the
time of the exercise of the option by Hangzhou
Mingandi, the PRC laws impose any mandatory
requirements on the consideration for the equity
interest to be purchased, resulting in a minimum
price permitted by the PRC laws that is higher than
the Benchmark Purchase Price, the consideration
for the purchase shall be determined based on the
minimum price permitted by the PRC laws (“Equity
Purchase Price”). In this case, the Registered
Shareholder hereby waives the right to receive any
consideration exceeding the Benchmark Purchase
Price.
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3

Equity Pledge Agreement

Parties:

Term:

Subject
Matter:

(1) Hangzhou Mingandi; (2) Registered Shareholder; and
(8) Shenyang Jinyi.

The Equity Pledge Agreement take effect upon the
execution date and shall remain valid until () all the
obligations under the Contractual Arrangements (other
than the Equity Pledge Agreement) have been fulfilled;
(i) the Registered Shareholder has transferred his equity
interests in the Shenyang Jinyi in accordance with the
Exclusive Option Agreement; (i) Shenyang Jinyi has
transferred its assets in accordance with the Exclusive
Option Agreement; (iv) all the agreements underlying the
Contractual Arrangements (other than the Equity Pledge
Agreement) have been terminated; and (v) the Equity
Pledge Agreement has been unilaterally terminated by
Hangzhou Mingandi.

Hangzhou Mingandi, Shenyang Jinyi and the Registered
Shareholder entered into the Equity Pledge Agreement,
pursuant to which the Registered Shareholder has
agreed to pledge all of his equity interests in Shenyang
Jinyi (including equity interests to be acquired by the
Registered Shareholder in the future through capital
increase or otherwise) to Hangzhou Mingandi as a
security interest to guarantee the performance of
contractual obligations and the payment of outstanding
debts under the Contractual Arrangements.
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Power of Attorney and Undertaking Letter

Parties: (1) Hangzhou Mingandi; (2) Registered Shareholder; and
(8) Shenyang Jinyi.
Term: The Power of Attorney and Undertaking Letter will have
an indefinite term and will remain valid so long as the
Registered Shareholder remains as a shareholder of
Shenyang Jinyi.
Subject Each of Shenyang Jinyi, the Registered Shareholder
Matter:  and Hangzhou Mingandi entered into the Power of

Attorney and Undertaking Letter, pursuant to which, the
Registered Shareholder will irrevocably, unconditionally
and exclusively appoint Hangzhou Mingandi or its
designated person, as his attorney-in-fact to exercise
such shareholder’s rights (representing 70% equity
interests in Shenyang Jinyi) in Shenyang Jinyi.

Spouse undertaking
The spouse of the Registered Shareholder has signed the Spouse
Undertaking to the effect that:

U

(i)

(i)

(iv)

the equity interests of Shenyang Jinyi held and to be held by
the Registered Shareholder (together with any other interests
therein) do not fall within the scope of communal properties;

the spouse irrevocably and unconditionally abandons any right
or interest over the equity interests of Shenyang Jinyi held by his
spouse that he might be granted according to any applicable
law, and undertakes that he will not take any claim relating to
such equity interests;

the rights and obligations under the Contractual Arrangements
do not apply to the spouse. The performance, amendment or
termination of the Contractual Arrangements or the signing of
other documents to replace the Contractual Arrangements by
the Registered Shareholder does not require consent from the
spouse; and

in the event that the spouse obtains any equity interests in
Shenyang Jinyi, she will be subject to and abide by the terms
of the Contractual Arrangements as if she was a signing party
to such Contractual Arrangements, and at the request of
Hangzhou Mingandi, she will sign any documents in the form
and substance consistent with the Contractual Arrangements.

“)

©)
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There were no other new contractual arrangements entered into, renewed
and/or reproduced between Hangzhou Mingandi, Shenyang Jinyi and the
Registered Shareholder after 27 June 2024 and up to 31 March 2025.
There was no material change in the Contractual Arrangements and/or the
circumstances under which they were adopted after 27 June 2024 and up to
to 31 March 2025.

The transactions contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements
constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules as the Registered Shareholder is a substantial
shareholder of Shenyang Jinyi holding 99% equity interest in Shenyang Jinyi
and therefore a connected person of the Company at subsidiary level under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. By virtue of Rule 14A.101 of the Listing
Rules, the transactions under the Contractual Arrangements are subject
to the reporting and announcement requirements applicable to connected
transactions, but are exempt from the circular, independent financial advice
and shareholders’ approval requirements.

The Company has applied for, and the Stock Exchange has granted, a
waiver from strict compliance with (i) the requirement of fixing the term of
the Contractual Arrangements under Rule 14A.52 of the Listing Rules and
(i) the requirement of setting a maximum aggregate annual cap for the fees
payable by Shenyang Jinyi to Hangzhou Mingandi under the Contractual
Arrangements under Rule 14A.53 of the Listing Rules, for so long as the
Shares are listed on the Stock Exchange, on several conditions, details
which are set out in the CCT Announcements.

Confirmation from independent non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Contractual
Arrangements and confirmed that the transactions carried out during the
year ended 31 March 2025 have been entered into:

(@  in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(b) on normal commercial terms or better;

(c) in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Contractual
Arrangements that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole;

(d) no dividends or other distributions have been made by Shenyang
Jinyi Group to the Registered Shareholder which are not otherwise
subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group by virtue of
the 70% equity interest controlled by the Group by virtue of the
Contractual Arrangements; and

(e) no new contracts entered into, renewed or reproduced between the

Group and Shenyang Jinyi Group during the year ended 31 March
2025.
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Confirmation from the Company’s Independent Auditor
The auditor of the Company (the “Auditor”) has confirmed in a letter to the
Board that, with respect to the Contractual Arrangements:

(@) nothing has come to their attention that causes the Auditor to believe
that the disclosed continuing connected transactions have not been
approved by the Board;

(b) for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the
Group, nothing has come to their attention that causes the Auditor
to believe that the transactions were not, in all material respects, in
accordance with the pricing policies of the Group;

(c) nothing has come to their attention that causes the Auditor to believe
that the transactions were not entered into, in all material respects,
in accordance with the relevant agreements under the relevant
Contractual Arrangements governing such transactions; and

(d) with respect of the disclosed continuing connected transactions
with Shenyang Jinyi Group under the Contractual Arrangements,
nothing has come to their attention that causes the Auditor to believe
that dividends or other distributions have been made by Shenyang
Jinyi Group to the Registered Shareholder which are not otherwise
subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.

The related party transactions entered into by the Group during the
year ended 31 March 2025 as disclosed in note 39 and elsewhere in
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report are either (i)
not connected transactions or continuing connected transactions; or (i)
transactions that constituted fully exempted connected transactions under
the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year and up to the date of this annual report, Ms. Wu Feizi is the
sole director and general manager of JHL International Trading Pty Ltd, a
company engaged in cross-border e-commerce for trading and servicing of
mother and baby products, who is considered to have interests in a business
which competes or is likely to compete with the businesses of the Group
pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Although the above-mentioned Director had competing interests in another
company by virtue of her positions, she has fulfilled and will fulfil her
fiduciary duties in order to ensure that she will act in the best interests of the
Shareholders and the Company as a whole at all times. Hence, the Group is
capable of carrying on its businesses independently of, and at arm’s length
from, the businesses of such companies.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors and their respective
associates had any direct or indirect interest in a business which competes
or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the
Group.

Directors’ Report
EEEHRE

RATEIUIZHEN 2 SR
RREZEED (MZEET) ERESERIK
o SR AER AT

@ REMLEZERTACEEAEERE
NHEREXSREEZTHIENS
PO

() MHRFERRHEBRIRBHRS
o B R B REMEEMEEZ
X5 EFRBEERLH) LIFZRE
EERERBERNIBR

€ ZEMTEZREAEEREZREFR
5 (EFMBEEARSE) LIFRREEZ
EXFNEMSNZHET Z AR
BETHER; &

d REMZHERTAERSBEEEZD
WENFBEERZ T ML E
BREMNEEAEESTEERED
FaRRRFLHHBIGUEMG AL
FEYERTEENREXEM DI

B e

RERGEV BRI TR EMEL D FTHE
ZAREERBE_T_RF=A=+—HL
FEJUNMEARZBRFFBEZIZ N
FHERIER 5 5 o) LR TERATES
HBRRHMERZ 25

EENHGRFERE 2R
RAFERBERNFRABPAILL RIFEFL
+AJHL International Trading Pty Ltd (—FS
HERBBRERBSKRBNEEETEHERA
B]) M — B E R ARKIE R EHRA 1§
BARAEEXEBRIRNAIENGFER
A o

FHEFHERKFE RS —BRREERS
MEAHRIMRED REBTREERETH
RESE UEAREMEMREEREDURERER
ARBZ2EERENETE B 25 H
BURBRAFRALUBUNZERBDERZT
NETHAS ZER-

BrEXFrIRBEEN BREEFRRESEN

B AR A EREF BN A B RF
ZEBTHEAERNBERE-

MENEERERABRAR « —T_HFFH

51



52

Directors’ Report
EEEHRE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to
the business of the Group to which the Group was a party, and in which a
Director or his connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted as at 31 March 2025 or at any time during the year.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS
There were not any contracts of significance entered into between the Group

and any controlling Shareholders or its subsidiaries during or at the end of
the year ended 31 March 2025.

There were no contracts of significance for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries by the Company’s controlling Shareholder
or any of its subsidiaries during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save for employment contracts, no other contracts concerning the
management and/or administration of the whole or any substantial part of
the business of the Company were entered into or subsisted during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers and the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five
largest suppliers were approximately 40.5% and 91.5% of the Group’s sales
and purchases, respectively.

During the year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s largest
customer and the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s largest
supplier were approximately 15.4% and 47.1% of the Group’s sales and
purchases, respectively.

Based on the available information to the Directors, none of the Directors, or
any of their close associates or any Shareholders (which owns more than 5%
of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares, if any)) had
an interest in these major suppliers or customers of the Group.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

The Group’s investment property was revalued on 31 March 2025 at
approximately AUD8.5 million (equivalent to approximately HK$41.2 million).
The fair value gain on investment property of approximately HK$2.0 million
has been credited to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.
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Particulars of property held for investment of the Group at 31 March 2025
are set out on page 220 of this annual report.

Movements in the investment property during the year are shown in note 15
to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are shown in
note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

BORROWING

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had an outstanding borrowing of
approximately HK$41.1 million (2024: HK$33.2 million) repayable within
one year. There was no outstanding borrowing repayable after one year
(2024: Nil). The Group’s outstanding borrowing of HK$10.0 million was
denominated in Hong Kong Dollars while the remaining was denominated in
Australia Dollars and was charged with interest at floating rate.

Details of borrowing during the year are shown in note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

As at 31 March 2025, the Company has no reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years
are summarised on page 219 of this annual report.

DONATIONS
The Group did not make any charitable donations during the year (2024: Nil).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance practices and procedures. A report on the principal corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the “Corporate
Governance Report” on pages 18 to 33 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report (being
24 July 2025), based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules.
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AUDITOR

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited acted as the auditor of the Company and audited
the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2025.

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited shall retire and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of Crowe (HK) CPA
Limited as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the AGM.

There has been no change in the auditor of the Company for the past three
years.

On behalf of the Board

Alpha Professional Holdings Limited

Zhao Lei
Executive Director
Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management

DIRECTORS

ZHAO Lei (“Mr. Zhao”)

Mr. Zhao, aged 43, was appointed as an independent non-executive director
of the Company on 1 March 2023, and re-designated as an executive
director and appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company on 25
September 2023. He is also a member of each of the nomination committee,
the remuneration committee and the credit committee of the Company, and
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Zhao holds a Master’s
Degree in Finance and a Bachelor’s Degree in Information Management, both
from the University of International Business and Economics in Beijing, the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). He is a Chartered Financial Analyst
of CFA Institute.

Mr. Zhao has broad experience in asset management, corporate finance and
investments and has previously worked for several companies in the PRC,
Hong Kong and Singapore. He currently works as Development Director at
APAC Resources Limited (Stock Code: 1104) which is listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange.

WU Feizi (“Ms. Wu”)

Ms. Wu, aged 43, has been an executive director of the Company since 18
October 2022. She is also a member of each of the remuneration committee
and the credit committee of the Company. Ms. Wu holds a certificate in
fine art education from Wenzhou Normal College (now known as Wenzhou
University), a Bachelor’s Degree in Public Service Management (Educational
Management) from the China Central Radio and TV University (now known
as The Open University of China) and a Diploma in Business from Elite
Education Vocational Institute in Australia. She joined the Group in October
2021.

Ms. Wu has over 20 years of experience in cross-border e-commerce,
business development, and sales and marketing. She is currently the sole
director and general manager of JHL International Trading Pty Ltd (*JHL”), a
company engaged in cross-border e-commerce for trading and servicing of
mother and baby products. Prior to joining JHL, Ms. Wu had also founded
companies that participated in the sales and marketing of various products,
including wine and mother and baby products.

LI Chak Hung (“Mr. Li”)

Mr. Li, aged 60, has been an independent non-executive director of the
Company since 18 October 2019. He is also the chairman of each of the
audit committee and the nomination committee, and a member of the
remuneration committee of the Company. He was the chairman and a
member of the credit committee of the Company from 25 September 2023
to 2 July 2025. Mr. Li holds a Bachelor’s Degree of Business Administration
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is also a Certified Public
Accountant (Practising) of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow of The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.

Mr. Li has over 30 years of experience in accounting, auditing, taxation and
financial management. Mr. Li is currently an independent non-executive
director of Asiasec Properties Limited (Stock Code: 271), and was an
independent non-executive director of Summit Ascent Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 102) (“Summit Ascent”) from October 2018 to January 2024
and subsequently re-appointed as an independent non-executive director of
Summit Ascent on 11 March 2025, the shares of these companies are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management
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TU Chunan (“Mr. Tu”)

Mr. Tu, aged 61, has been an independent non-executive director of the
Company since 25 April 2024. He is also a member of each of the audit
committee, the remuneration committee and the nomination committee of
the Company. Mr. Tu holds a Master’s Degree in Business Administration
from Shenzhen Research Institute of Renmin University of China and a
Bachelor's Degree in Education from Shaanxi Education College (currently
known as Shaanxi Xuegian Normal University). He has obtained the
qualification for certified property manager issued by Ministry of Construction
of the PRC.

Mr. Tu has broad experience in industrial park property management and
operation service innovation, industrial transformation and upgrading. He
was the general manager of Shenzhen Tianan Smart Park Operation Co.,
Limited from 2011 to 2022 and has been the chairman since July 2022.
He was also the party committee secretary and the general manager of
Shum Yip Intelligent Park Operation (Shenzhen) Co., Limited from 2018 to
2022. He also acts as the vice chairman of Shenzhen Property Management
Association since 2005 and the executive vice chairman of Shenzhen
Electronic Chamber of Commerce since 2015.

CHEN Jianguo (“Mr. Chen”)

Mr. Chen, aged 56, has been an independent non-executive director of the
Company since 15 July 2024. He is also the chairman of the remuneration
committee, and a member of each of the audit committee and the
nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Chen holds a Bachelor’s Degree
in Engineering from Baotou Steel and Iron Institute (currently known as Inner
Mongolia University of Science and Technology) and a degree of Master of
Business Administration from China Europe International Business School.

Mr. Chen has broad experience in corporate investment and business
management, particularly in the fields of healthcare, new energy, supply
chain finance and new materials. He currently serves as a chief executive
officer at Ke Rui Si Medical Technology (Shanghai) Company Limited* (%}
HEHENE (L8 ARAR).

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

CHAN Chun Hong

Mr. Chan Chun Hong, aged 47, has been the chief financial officer, the
company secretary and the authorised representative of the Company
since 7 January 2020. Mr. Chan holds a Bachelor's Degree of Business
Administration from Hong Kong Baptist University. He is also a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.

Mr. Chan Chun Hong has more than 23 years of experience working
in auditing, accounting and financial management. Prior to joining the

Company, he had worked for several listed companies in Hong Kong.

*  For identification purpose only
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/\ Crowe

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
ALPHA PROFESSIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Alpha Professional
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”)
set out on pages 64 to 218, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2025, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2025, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements” section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfiled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2(c) in the consolidated financial statements,
which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of HK$198,499,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2025. As of that date, the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by HK$173,173,000 and the Group’s total
liabilities exceeded its total assets by HK$65,134,000. These conditions,
along with other matters as set forth in note 2(c), indicate that a material
uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this
matter.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described in the “Material
uncertainty related to going concern” section, we have determined the
matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in
our report.

A.

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment, other
intangible assets and goodwill

Refer to notes 16, 17 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements
and the accounting policies in note 2())(ii).

The Key Audit Matter
FARBEZEIR

We identified the impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment, other intangible assets and goodwill as a key audit
matter due to the significance of the balance to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, combined with the significant
degree of judgement made by the management associated with the
determination.
GEEEEBFUNRAETERANAENEENREE  ANEREEL
EMBRENEBEEY BESHIME BEKRFE HUELE

EREENRETGA—BRAREZEE

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment, other intangible assets and goodwill is HK$29,344,000,
HK$23,653,000 and HK$13,351,000, respectively and including the
impairment loss on goodwill of HK$3,030,000 for the year ended 31
March 2025.

RIB_RAF=A=+—H VX -BEERXE HMBFLEERD
EIREED 5#29,344,0007% 7t ~ 23,653,0007 75 K& 13,351,000
B ORBE_Z_AF-A=+—HLEFENBHERNERRE
3,030,000/ 7T °

The recoverable amounts are based on value in use calculations using
discounted cash flow model, which require significant assumptions
and estimates with respect to the discount rates and the forecasted
cash flows, in particular the revenue growth rate, taking into account
the management expectations for the Group’s business.
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How the matter was addressed in
our audit

EENERPNAREZEER

Our procedures in relation to
impairment assessment of property,
plant and equipment, other intangible
assets and goodwill included:

LEHMME-BEREZE HMtEE
é&&mémmﬁﬁﬁ THERFRE
=

o assessing the management’s
identification of cash generating
units (“CGUSs”"), the allocation
of assets to each CGU and
the methodology adopted by
management in its impairment
assessments with reference to
the requirements of prevailing
accounting standards;

. SEIRITEHERNMNER 5T
EEEHReESS M (MRe
ELBA) NRE -SHEET
HeELEAZBND R MUK
BIEERETRENERERA
A% ;

o evaluating the competence,
experience, capability and
objectivity of the external valuer
engaged by management to
perform the valuation of the
relevant CGUs;
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The Key Audit Matter
FAREIZEIR

In determining the value in use of the cash generating units (“CGUs”)
where the property, plant and equipment, other intangible assets
and goodwill belongs to, valuation is carried out by directors of the
Company with the assistance from an independent professional
valuer with reference to discounted cash flow forecast prepared by
management.

REEME -BERRE HtBEEERSEMBIREEL B
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How the matter was addressed in
our audit

EENERPNAREZEER

L]

evaluating the assumptions and
significant inputs adopted in the
preparation of discounted cash
flow forecasts for the purpose
of the impairment assessment,
including projected future
growth rates for income and
expenses, with reference to our
understanding of the business,
historical trends and available
market data;

BEEEHEBNIER - FELB
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involving our internal valuation
specialists to evaluate
management’s valuation
methodology adopted in the
impairment assessment with
reference to the requirements
of the prevailing accounting
standards; and assess whether
the discount rates applied in the
cash flow forecasts prepared for
the purpose of assessing the
impairment were within the range
adopted by other companies
operating in the same industry;
HANEEEER —L2RIRT
B EANER > HEIEE IR
B R RANGEES AET
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XEBTERITEHRM AT
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evaluating the sensitivity analysis
prepared by management for
each of the key assumptions
adopted in the discounted cash
flow forecast and considering
the possibility of error or
management bias; and

L EREENMIRREERETE
BFMRANESETIERRME
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assessing the disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements
in respect of impairment
testing with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards.
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Valuation of investment property

Refer to note 15 to the consolidated financial statements and the
accounting policies in note 2(i).

The Key Audit Matter
RASREZEIR

We identified the valuation of investment property as a key audit
matter due to the significance of the balance to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, combined with significant degree of
judgment associated with determining the fair value. As at 31 March
2025, the fair value of the investment property was HK$41,232,000.
GRHEETATEERANAENEEURE  ANGRERESHM
BRENERBEEN BEERNREYEZHER—EHRREZS
H-RN BT AF=—RB=+—H ' REWEZ R FEER41,232,000
HITe

REMEZ(GE

E2RR G M B IRRMEE15R M EE2()
PREGE G SHERER

How the matter was addressed in
our audit

EENERTNAREZEER

Qur procedures in relation to the
valuation of investment property
included:
EERRMREMELENEFEE

o Evaluating the competence,
capability and objectivity of
the independent professional
property valuer;

. MBI EENELENNE

As disclosed in notes 2()) and 15 to the consolidated financial FEBENREEN ;
statements, the investment property is stated at fair value based on
valuation performed by the independent professional property valuer. o Obtaining an understanding from

In determining the fair value of investment property, the independent
professional property valuer adopted market comparison approach.
The valuation is dependent on certain key inputs that involve
the management and independent professional property valuer’s
judgement. The key inputs used in valuing the investment property
by the independent professional property valuer include recent prices
achieved by similar properties, current market conditions, market
rental and market yield as adopted in the valuation.

AT BRRME2()VR IR E  REMERBBIZEEY
EMEEMETZHERATEEI R REEREMEZ A TEE
B BUFEYEGLEMRB TS LEEE - MEBURIKE TRIE M
WA S REEENBIISEEYEGEMNAE BIEEY

the independent professional
property valuer about the
valuation methodology, the
performance of the property
markets, significant assumptions
adopted, critical judgement on
key inputs and data used in the
valuation;

. BB E =Y ELER T B
BERE-MEDIHBRIR PIXA
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o Assessing whether the property
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was valued on a consistent basis
using a consistent methodology
by inquiring of management
and independent professional
property valuer; and

. FREAEEEMEBIEEY
EMGEM STMEMERTE R
HNEREER—®N A EET
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o Assessing the reasonableness
of source data used in the
valuations by benchmarking the
assumptions to relevant market
information on sales prices and
rentals achieved by the similar
properties in the neighbourhood.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
units within the group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and review of the work performed for the purposes of the group audit.
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 30 June 2025

Leung Pak Ki
Practising Certificate Number P0O8014
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
relEmkHEMEERRER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &

Revenue

Cost of sales and services rendered

Gross profit

Net impairment losses of financial assets
Impairment losses on goodwiill
Impairment losses on property,

plant and equipment

Other income
Other gains and losses, net

Selling and distribution costs

Administrative expenses

LOSS FROM OPERATIONS
Finance costs

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION
Income tax credit

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/
(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR, NET OF

INCOME TAX
[tem that may be reclassified

subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of

foreign operations

Other comprehensive income/(loss)
for the year, net of income tax

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR
THE YEAR, NET OF INCOME TAX

E—g—

Z_HFE=B=+—HLFE

WA
HERPTIRBRT Z M A

EF

THEERERIERE

&R ERE

ME BB LR ERE
EE

HAA

Hh s K 518 B4R

HE kDX

THER

KERKEZEE
BB R

PRI AT RS 1R
PRSIRIE %

KFERE

rEEHMEEKEE
(B548) > H0B%
FRiSH
HEBREENDEE
BEHMIEE -
HMEBINERSIBH
ERELE

FEEHMEEKE
(E548) - I BRFR1SHE

rEEZHEEREE
HBRFA1SIR
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2025 2024
TERE =S 0=

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
i FHET FHET
6(a) 40,520 96,310

(33,349) (92,243)

7,171 4,067

9(0) (27,220) (27,201)

9(c) (3,030) 2,161)

9(c) - (983)
7 2,643 3,161

8 (118,826) (6,894)

(14,815) (1,809)

(41,258) (12,106)

(195,335) (43,926)

9(a) (3,941) (4,448)

9 (199,276) (48,374)
10(a) 777 10,053

(198,499) (38,321)

9,099 (2,266)

9,099 (2,266)

(189,400) (40,587)




Consolidatéd Statement of Profit or Lo

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &Z_—Z—

Notes
B 5
LOSS FOR THE YEAR TEERE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: FE1L T -
Owners of the Company KABRE
Non-controlling interests R R
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR Z#AEE 2184458
THE YEAR, NET OF INCOME TAX NERFAIGHI
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: FEfL 75 :
Owners of the Company KABIRE
Non-controlling interests el g i
LOSS PER SHARE BREE
Basic HoR 13

The notes on pages 70 to 218 form part of these consolidated financial
statements.

2025 2024
“ETAHE —ETNE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FAET
(197,268) (38,321)
(1,231) -
(198,499) (38,321)
(188,158) (40,587)
(1,242) -
(189,400) (40,587)
HK Cents HK Cents
Al Al
(56.5) (11.0)

FT0E218BZMiEmAGREMBRER M
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

maMBRRR

At 31 March 2025 W_ZE_HF=HA=+—H

2025 2024
“ECRE ZZmE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
WizE FER FET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investment property BEME 15 41,232 41,350
Property, plant and equipment EN e 16 29,344 18
Other intangible assets HBRLEE 17 23,653 =
Goodwil BE 18 13,351 .
Interests in joint venture NS PA 5 19 - -
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BATBES ANREZEREE 20 12,228 -
Refundable rental deposit REIES RS 22 3,411 203
Deferred tax assets ELRBEE 30() 21 =
123,240 41,571
Current assets RBEE
Inventories =& 21 315 9
Trade and other receivables BHRAMERR 22 8,060 107,528
Prepayments BIHE 23 4,658 186
Income tax recoverable BEElE 2,603 1,735
Cash and cash equivalents RekFLEEY 24(a) 10,701 47,217
26,337 156,735
Current liabilities mBaE
Trade and other payables Ao R EMENTIE 25 37,214 45,358
Contract liabilities B8R 26 - 172
Lease liabilities AEafE 27 19,251 675
Other borrowing HEE 28 41,081 33,182
Provisions B 31 101,849 -
Income tax payable IR 115 370
199,510 79,757
Net current (liabilities)/assets e (AR EERE (173,173) 76,978
Total assets less current liabilities BESEARDAR (49,933) 118,549
Non-current liabilities 3F/m§1§1i
Lease liabilities e 27 9,302 316
Deferred tax liabilities i LWEEF 30(c) 5,477 =
Defined benefit obligation %ﬁ»ﬁmﬂiﬁ 29 422 =
15,201 316
Net (liabilities)/assets (B /BESHE (65,134) 118,233
Capital and reserves BhREHE
Share capital %ZK 34(b) 435,252 435,252
Reserves =17 34(c) (505,177) (817,019)
Equity attributable to owners AR RRERS
of the Company i (69,925) 118,233
Non-controlling interests JEERR S 4,791 =
Total (capital deficiency)/equity (BEE4) /RRRE (65,134) 118,233
Approved and authorised for issue by the board (the “Board”) of directors RIE_AFA=THEARFREE (&
(the “Directors”) of the Company on 30 June 2025 and are signed on its F)E(BFg) HERRENE AT
behalf by: FEERREE .
thp Lei Tu\Churrlan
Executive Director Independent Non-executive Director
HiTEE BUIFMITER
The notes on pages 70 to 218 form part of these consolidated financial FI0E218EZWEZARGEMBREx 24
statements. R EB D ©
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At 1 April 2023

Change in equity for 2024

Loss for the year

Exchange differences on translation
of foreign operations

Total comprehensive loss for the year

At 31 March 2024
and 1 April 2024

Change in equity for 2025

Loss for the year

Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Capital contribution by non-controlling
interests of subsidiary

Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 38(i))

At 31 March 2025

The notes on pages 70 to 218 form part of these consolidated financial

statements.

RZE_=£MmA—-AH
“EIMEZHRES
FEERR
BHEEINERS IR
NERESR

FEERABREE

RZB_ME=F=+—H
RZE-ZMEMA—H
ZEIRE7ERER
FEEHR
BERIMEBSIH
HERER
FEERABRLE
WBABIEERER

*E
W /A B0 (B £38)

RIZZHF=A=+-H

Consolidated

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &Z_—Z—

Attributable to owners of the Company

KABRRES
Foreign
currency Non-
Share Share translation ~ Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve losses Total interests equity
& RIVEE SMEHERE RitEH aE REREG Emen
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TAER TER TER TER TER TER
(note 34(b))  (note 34(c)(i)  (note 34(c)i)
(ffzE34(0)  (MEES4(C))  (PHEE34(0))
435,252 592,019 (8,891) (859,560) 158,820 - 158,820
- - - (38,321) (38,321) - (38,321)
- - (2,266) - (2,266) - (2,266)
- - (2,266) (38,321) (40,587) - (40,587)
435,252 592,019 (11,157) (897,881) 118,233 - 118,233
- - - (197,268) (197,268) (1,231) (198,499)
- - 9,110 - 9,110 1) 9,099
- - 9,10 (197,268) (188,158) (1,242) (189,400)
- - - - - 293 293
. = - - - 5,740 5,740
435,252 592,019 (2,047)  (1,095,149) (69,925) 4,791 (65,134)

BI0E21BEZ N ERAGREHHRR A
BRER D ©
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
FEERERER
For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z_ZT " AFE=B=+—HILEE

2025 2024
—E"hHE “E O
Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
B 5E FET FExT
Operating activities REES
Loss before taxation PRIR ARS8 (199,276) (48,374)
Adjustments for: HE
Interest income F E WA 7 (57) (1)
Fair value gain on investment KEYMEATEE
property Wik 8 (2,033) (515)
(Gain)/loss on financial assets at BAFEEFABRZ
fair value through ERMEE (Km)
profit or loss 518
— Listed equity securities — FHRAEFES 8 (7,192) 5,006
Finance costs BE A 9(a) 3,941 4,448
Depreciation e 9(c) 10,117 718
Amortisation of other intangible HthmEEEZ
assets 3 9(c) 1,705 -
Net provision for impairment losses EREERERIE
on financial assets BEREE 9(c) 27,220 27,201
Impairment losses on goodwill EmERERE 9(c) 3,030 2,161
Impairment losses on property, plant ME- BB K& E
and equipment REEE 9(c) - 983
Provisions for compensation mEEE 8 125,220 =
Unrealised exchange gain REIRERDUWE - (33)
Operating cash flows before EEEEEEAIZ
working capital changes RERERE (37,325) (8,406)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories =& gm R (306) 3,923
Decrease in trade and H 5 REAMEKRRIE
other receivables P 35,131 43,972
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments FE(TRIE () R (4,472) 10,538
Decrease in trade and B 5 REMEMRIE
other payables PR 9,777) (5,436)
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities &% &1& CRZL) /&N (172) 172
Cash (used in)/generated from & (FrA) FRig
operations HE (16,921) 44,763
Australia Corporate Income Tax paid BTN B EER (261) (396)
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid BEEEAFER (1,075) (538)
Net cash (used in)/generated from & EE (FRA) FRTS
operating activities HEIFEE (18,257) 43,829
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Investing activities

Purchase of property,
plant and equipment

Purchase of other intangible assets

Interest received

Payment for rental deposits

Purchase of financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss

Proceeds from disposal of financial
assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Net cash outflow from acquisition
of subsidiaries

Net cash (used in)/generated from
investing activities

Financing activities

Capital element of lease liabilities paid
Interest element of lease liabilities paid

Proceeds from other borrowing
Repayment of other borrowing
Interest paid for other borrowing

Notes
B 52

KREEE
BEME -BE
Rt
BEHMELEE
BUF &
HEREEW
BERATEESA
BRZEMEE
KENHERATEE
TABRZEREE
ZF18FRIE
W B AR ZIRS
TR ER 38(i) & (ii)
KEEE FiA) e
REPE

BB EE
BUNHEEEEZERES 240
BNHEEEEZFEHS 240
HthEEZFrEmIAE 24(
EEAEMES 24(b
BHAEMEEFE 24(

Capital contribution from non-controlling i /8 /A B 1= pE

interests of subsidiary
Net cash used in financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year

Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes, net

Cash and cash equivalents at
end of the year

TE
RMEEBFIAREFR

REKRREEFEY
CR) /$EhnisEE

FEMRERRE
EEY

SMEEREH
FEE

a.
e

FERRERES

EEW 24(a)

The notes on pages 70 to 218 form part of these consolidated financial

statements.

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #EZE_Z _RAF=H=+—HIEFE

2025 2024
—E-RE —E T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHExT
(592) (12)
(49) =

57 1
(284) =
(5,036) =
- 6,541
(11,183) =
(17,087) 6,530
(10,318) (704)
(671) @1)
10,000 =
= (13,056)
(3,270) (4,427)
293 =
(3,966) (18,208)
(39,310) 32,151
47,277 13,686
2,734 1,440
10,701 47,277

BT0E21BE 2 NE R A HGRE M HRE ZE
BRER D ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EEMBEHRRMNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z_ZT " AFE=B=+—HILEE

70

GENERAL INFORMATION

Alpha Professional Holdings Limited (Registration No. 39519) (the
“Company”) was incorporated in Bermuda on 30 January 2007 under
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda as an exempted company with
limited liability. The registered office of the Company is located at The
Penthouse, 5 Reid Street, Hamilton, HM 11, Bermuda with effect
from 24 March 2025. Its principal place of business is located at
Room 1902, 19th Floor, Allied Kajima Building, 138 Gloucester Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong.

At 31 March 2025, the Company’s immediate parent was Well
Dynasty Investments Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong
with limited liability. The ultimate parent of the Company was Miracle
Planet Developments Limited, a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands with limited liability, and the ultimate controlling party
of the Company was Ms. Chong Sok Un. Neither of them produces
consolidated financial statements available for public use.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 36.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION

(a) Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These consolidated financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
Material accounting policy information adopted by the Company
and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) are
disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain new and amendments to IFRS
Accounting Standards which are mandatorily effective or
available for early adoption for the current accounting period
of the Group. Note 4 provides information on any changes in
accounting policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group
for the current accounting period reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Co

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #EZE_Z _RAF=H=+—HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

ltems included in the financial statements of each entity in
the Group are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) which is the Company’s
functional and presentation currency, and all value are rounded
to the nearest thousand HK$ except where otherwise indicated.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is the historical cost basis
except that the following asset is stated at its fair value as
explained in the accounting policies set out below:

- investment property, including interests in leasehold land
and buildings held as investment property where the
Group is the registered owner of the property interest
(see note 2(i)).

- investment in equity securities.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in conformity with IFRS Accounting Standards requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making
the judgements about carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT ¥R R MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BE_Z_hF=-HB=+—HILFE

2

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
IFRS Accounting Standards that have significant effect on
the consolidated financial statements and major sources of
estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 3.

Going concern basis

The Group incurred a net loss of HK$198,499,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2025. As of that date, the Group’s current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by HK$173,173,000
and the Group’s total liabilities exceeded its total assets by
HK$65,134,000.
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Notes to the Con

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BZE—ZE_h&E&E=-H=+—HILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(c)

Going concern basis (Continued)

In view of such circumstances, the Directors have prepared a
cash flow forecast of the Group covering a period of fifteen-
month. In preparing the cash flow forecast, the Directors have
given careful consideration to its operating needs, the future
liquidity of the Group and its available sources of financing
in assessing whether the Group will be able to repay the
outstanding debts and be able to finance its future working
capital and other financial requirements.

In addition, the Directors are undertaking a number of plans and
measures to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position,
including, inter alia:

(i) The Group has sought an opinion from the legal advisor
and considered that the results of the Arbitrations
(defined in note 31) would not result in adverse cash
flow impact to the Group. Currently, operations of both
Alice Trading Limited (“Alice Trading”) and Willis Trading
Limited (“Willis Trading”), both are indirect wholly-
owned subsidiaries of the Company and the defendants
of the Arbitrations, have been scaled-down due to
the cessation of their business relationship with Bubs
Australia Limited (“Bubs Australia”) and its wholly-owned
subsidiary, The Infant Food Company Pty Limited (“IFC”),
the then supplier and the plaintiff of the Arbitrations.
Other than the investment property held indirectly by
Willis Trading through its wholly-owned subsidiary, GA
Australia Investment Pty Ltd (“GA Investment”), both
Alice Trading and Willis Trading hold minimal assets. The
Directors, based on the legal opinion obtained, expect
that the operations and assets of the Company and the
other subsidiaries of the Group, all being separate legal
entities, would not be affected by the Statutory Demand
(defined in note 31) and the Arbitration Awards (defined in
note 31).

2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z_ZT " AFE=B=+—HILEE

2

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(c)

Going concern basis (Continued)

(ii) The substantial shareholder of the Company, Ms. Chong
Sok Un (“Ms. Chong”) agreed to provide financial support
to the Group, particularly on 25 June 2025, Ms. Chong
entered into a loan agreement with the Company for
an interest-free line of credit with principal amount of
HK$80,000,000 for the purpose of providing general
working capital to the Group.

(i)~ The Group will take a more vigilant approach in managing
the progress of projects and related costs with the aim
to enable the Group to attain more profitable operations
by controlling costs and to improve its operating cash
outflows.

Based on the cash flow forecast, assuming the above plans can
be successfully implemented as scheduled, the Directors are of
the opinion that the Group would have sufficient working capital
to finance its operations and to meet its financial obligations as
and when they fall due over the period of the cash flow forecast
so as to enable the Group to continue as a going concern.
Therefore, the Directors considered that it is appropriate to
prepare these consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis.

The above events and conditions indicate that the existence
of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt
about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and,
therefore it may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its
liabilities in the normal course of business.

These consolidated financial statements do not include any
adjustments that may be necessary should the going concern
basis of preparation be determined to be inappropriate.
These would include any adjustments to write down the
Group’s assets to their net realisable amounts, to provide for
any liabilities which may arise and to reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities, respectively. The effect of these adjustments has not
been reflected in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Con

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_—Z—

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(d)

Consolidation of variable interest entities (“VIE(s)”)

These consolidated financial statements includes the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries, which include
entities registered in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”)
directly or indirectly owned by the Company (“WFOE”) and
VIEs over which the Company is the primary beneficiary for
their economic benefits through contractual arrangements. All
transactions and balances among the Company, its subsidiaries
and the VIEs have been eliminated upon consolidation. The
results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of are recorded
in these consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition or
up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

A subsidiary is an entity in which (i) the Company directly or
indirectly controls more than 50% of the voting power; or (i)
the Company has the power to appoint or remove the majority
of the members of the board of directors or to cast a majority
of votes at the meetings of the board of directors or to govern
the financial and operating policies of the investee pursuant
to a statute or under an agreement among the shareholders
or equity holders. A VIE is required to be consolidated by the
primary beneficiary of the entity if the equity holders in the entity
do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest
or do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its
activities without additional subordinated financial support from
other parties.

Due to legal restrictions on foreign ownership and investment in,
among other areas, value-added telecommunication services,
which include the operations of internet content providers, the
Company operates its e-commerce business in which foreign
investment is restricted or prohibited in the PRC through various
contractual arrangements (the “Contractual Arrangements”) with
VIE that is incorporated and owned by citizen of the PRC.
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4= AH

BT ¥R R MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE_ZT—

BE=RA=+—HLEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(d)

Consolidation of variable interest entities (“VIE(s)”)
(Continued)

The Group, through a WFOE, has entered into exclusive
business cooperation agreement with Shenyang Jinyi
e-commerce Co., Limited (iteral translation of &[5 % % E F 75
# B R/AT) (“Shenyang Jinyi”, the VIE) which entitle the Group
to receive 70% of the results of the VIE. In addition, the Group
has entered into certain agreements with the equity holders of
the VIE, including exclusive option agreement to acquire the
equity interests in the VIE when permitted by the PRC laws,
rules and regulations, equity pledge agreement of the equity
interests held by the equity holder, and power of attorney
and undertaking letter that irrevocably authorise individuals
designated by the Group to exercise the equity owner’s rights
over the VIE.

Details of the structure of the Company’s representative VIE are
set forth below:

Exclusive option agreement (the “Exclusive Option
Agreement”)

The equity holder of the VIE has granted irrevocably and
unconditionally to the WFOE the rights to require the equity
holder to transfer any or all of his 70% equity interests in the
VIE and/or to require the VIE to transfer 70% of its assets to the
WFQOE and/or a third party designated by it, in whole or in part
at any time and from time to time, at zero consideration, or, if so
required under the laws of the PRC, a minimum purchase price
permitted under PRC laws and regulations.

The equity holder and the VIE further undertake the below:

(i) without the prior written consent of the WFOE, the VIE
shall not supplement, modify, or amend the articles of
association of the VIE in any form, increase or decrease
its registered capital, or otherwise alter its capital
structure;

(i) the equity holder shall, in accordance with sound financial
and business standards and practices, maintain the
existence of the VIE, obtain and maintain all necessary
government permits and licenses required for its business
operations, and prudently and effectively operate its
business and handle its affairs;
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Notes to the Con

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BZE—ZE_h&E&E=-H=+—HILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(d)

Consolidation of variable interest entities (“VIE(s)”)
(Continued)

Exclusive option agreement (the “Exclusive Option
Agreement”) (Continued)

(i)

(V)

(vi)

(vii)

(i)

(ix)

without the prior written consent of the WFOE, the equity
holder shall not sell, transfer, mortgage, or otherwise
dispose of any significant assets, businesses, or rights or
interests in income of the VIE, or allow the creation of any
other security interests thereon;

without the prior written consent of the WFOE, the VIE
shall not incur, assume, guarantee, or allow the existence
of any debts, except for accounts payable that arise
in the normal course of business and are not incurred
through borrowing;

the VIE shall continue to operate all its businesses in the
ordinary course of business to maintain its asset value
and shall refrain from taking any action or omission that
would have an adverse effect on the operating condition
and asset value of the VIE;

without the prior written consent of the WFOE, the
VIE shall not enter into any material contracts with any
person, except for contracts entered into in the ordinary
course of business;

without the prior written consent of the WFOE, the VIE
shall not provide loans or credit to any person;

upon request by the WFOE, the VIE shall provide
all information regarding its operation and financial
condition;

if requested by the WFOE, the VIE shall purchase and
maintain insurance related to its assets and business
from an insurance company designated by the WFOE,
and the amount and type of insurance shall be consistent
with companies engaged in similar business;
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z_ZT " AFE=B=+—HILEE

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

REBERERGHBERER (B

(d) Consolidation of variable interest entities (“VIE(s)”) 0 AIENTERE (AIEFEERE)
(Continued) Hirs @

EXREE G (X EERE

Exclusive option agreement (the “Exclusive Option

78

Agreement”) (Continued) #1) (#8)

(x)  without the prior written consent of the WFOE, the VIE X RIS EBEREELE
shall not merge or form any joint venture with any person, ERE JEMNEEET
or acquire or invest in any person; BREMALTEHIAE

SERE WERKE
FEMAL;

(xij  the VIE shall immediately notify the WFOE of any xi) AR GmEEREIAEA
litigation, arbitration, or administrative proceedings that SEBEEREEELHA
have occurred or may occur relating to the assets, BEE AN SN m B
business, income, or equity of the VIE; BEENEB - WATKRE

BRANEM SRR T
ITELERER 5

(xi) the VIE shall maintain full ownership of all its assets, xi) PIEMmEREERSHE
execute all necessary or appropriate documents, take FMEBEENTZMAER"
all necessary or appropriate actions, bring all necessary EEMBLEABEN
or appropriate actions, and make all necessary or XA R — B
appropriate defenses against any claims; EMNTE THEARE

ET—VUIREFBEENT
=

(xii)  without the prior written consent of the WFOE, the (xii) KR EBEREELE
VIE shall not distribute dividends to its shareholders in HEE JZFZEET
any form, but upon the request of the WFOE, the VIE BUEAEXEKRE DR
shall immediately distribute all distributable profits to its SE>BEIEEERE
shareholder; MEK > ] & F] m B RS

YR MKRRAEFAAE D
oA ;

(xiv) upon the request by the WFOE, the VIE shall appoint (xiv) EIEEECENEX.
person(s) designated by the WFOE as a director or an AIEF) s BRI Een I
executive director of the VIE; BEREETWALTIEMS

AIEF G ERENEERR
TESE;

(xv)  without the prior written consent of the WFOE, the VIE (xv) REIIHBELEFLE
shall not engage in any business that competes with the HEE > J#FmBEER
WFOE or its affiliated companies; SREEMAIERED

X¥NEHBASAHFERH
RV ;

(xvi) unless required by the PRC law, without written consent (xvi) PFRABIEBRERIN KK
of the WFOE, the VIE shall not commence any dissolution SEBECEXERRER
or liquidation; and A mE BN SRGR

BEAEE ; &

(xvil) when the PRC laws allow foreign investors to hold a (xvi) EFRBDERASFINERE
controlling and/or wholly-owned interest in the principal ERAEMNEERETH
business conducted by the VIE, and the relevant PRC FEEBPREERE
authorities begin reviewing such business, upon the RNEE#m BHEER
exercise of the option by the WFOE, the VIE shall EPIFR R E & =R

immediately transfer its shareholding to the WFOE or its
designated person.
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Notes to the Con

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BZE—ZE_h&E&E=-H=+—HILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(d)

Consolidation of variable interest entities (“VIE(s)”)
(Continued)

Exclusive option agreement (the “Exclusive Option
Agreement”) (Continued)

In addition, the equity holder undertakes that:

M

(i)

i)

without the prior written consent of the WFOE, the equity
holder shall not sell, transfer, mortgage, or dispose of its
legal or beneficial rights and interests in the equity of the
VIE, or allow the creation of any other security interests
thereon, except for the rights established under the
Contractual Arrangements;

the equity holder shall ensure that the shareholders’
meeting and/or the board of directors (or executive
directors) of the VIE shall not approve the sale, transfer,
mortgage, or disposal of any legal rights or beneficial
rights on the equity interest of the VIE held by the equity
holder without the prior written consent of the WFOE,
nor shall they approve the creation of any other security
interests thereon, except for the rights established under
the Contractual Arrangements;

without the prior written consent of the WFOE, the equity
holder shall facilitate that the shareholders’ meeting and/
or the board of directors (or executive directors) of the
VIE shall not approve the merger or formation of any
joint venture with any person, or the acquisition of or
investment in any person;

the equity holder shall immediately notify the WFOE of
any litigation, arbitration, or administrative proceedings
that have occurred or may occur regarding the equity
interest of the VIE owned by the equity holder;

the equity holder shall ensure that the shareholders’
meeting or the board of directors (or executive directors)
of the VIE shall vote in favor of the transfer of the
purchased equity interest as stipulated in the Exclusive
Option Agreement and take any other actions requested
by the WFOE;
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(d)

Consolidation of variable interest entities (“VIE(s)”)
(Continued)

Exclusive option agreement (the “Exclusive Option
Agreement”) (Continued)

(vi)

(vii)

(viil)

(ix)

the equity holder shall maintain full ownership of
the equity interest, sign all necessary or appropriate
documents, take all necessary or appropriate actions,
bring all necessary or appropriate actions, and make all
necessary or appropriate defenses against any claims;

upon the request of the WFOE, the equity holder shall
appoint any person designated by the WFOE as a
director or executive director of the VIE;

if the equity holder obtains any profit distribution,
dividends, or liquidation proceeds from the VIE, the
equity holder shall promptly transfer such profit,
dividends, or liquidation proceeds to the WFOE or any
person designated by the WFOE in a manner permitted
by the PRC laws; and

the equity holder shall strictly comply with the provisions
of the Exclusive Option Agreement and any other
agreements signed by the equity holder, the VIE and the
WFOE, fuffill the obligations under these agreements,
and refrain from any acts or omissions that would affect
the validity and enforceability of these agreements. If
the equity holder retains any rights with respect to the
equity interest under the Exclusive Option Agreement,
the Equity Pledge Agreement (as defined hereunder), or
the authorisation letter from the equity holder, the equity
holder shall not exercise such rights unless instructed
otherwise by the WFOE in writing.

The Exclusive Option Agreement commenced upon the signing
of the agreement, until it is terminated upon the transfer of
the 70% equity interests held by the equity holder and/or
the transfer of all the assets of the VIE to the WFOE or its
designated person.
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Notes to the Con

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BZE—ZE_h&E&E=-H=+—HILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(d)

Consolidation of variable interest entities (“VIE(s)”)
(Continued)

Power of attorney and undertaking letter (the “Power of
Attorney and Undertaking Letter”)

Pursuant to the Power of Attorney and Undertaking Letter,
the equity holder irrevocably, unconditionally and exclusively
appoints WFOE or its designated person, as his attorney-in-fact
to exercise such shareholder’s rights (representing 70% equity
interests in the VIE) in the VIE, including without limitation to, the
rights to:

(i) convene and attend shareholders’ meetings of the VIE;

(ii) exercise all shareholders’ rights and voting rights enjoyed
by the equity holder under the PRC laws and the articles
of association of the VIE;

(iii) handle the sale, transfer, pledge, or disposal of the equity
interest (in whole or in part), including but not limited to
representing the equity holder in signing all necessary
equity transfer documents and other ancillary documents
in relation to the disposal of the equity interest in the VIE
and undergo all necessary procedures;

(iv)  on behalf of the equity holder, signing any resolutions and
meeting minutes in the capacity as a shareholder of the
VIE and a director of the VIE;

(v) represent the equity holder in nominating, electing,
appointing and removing the legal representative,
directors, supervisors, general manager, chief financial
officer and other senior management personnel of the
VIE; and

(viy  approve the amendment of the articles of association of
the VIE.

The equity holder further undertakes that he would not increase
capital, reduce capital, transfer, pledge or dispose of or
otherwise alter the share capital of the VIE.

The Power of Attorney and Undertaking Letter has an indefinite
term and remain valid so long as the equity holder remains as a
shareholder of the VIE.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(d)

Consolidation of variable interest entities (“VIE(s)”)
(Continued)

Equity pledge agreement (the “Equity Pledge Agreement”)

Pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement, the equity holder
agreed to pledge all of his equity interests in the VIE (including
equity interests to be acquired by the equity holder in the
future through capital increase or otherwise) to the WFOE as a
security interest to guarantee the performance of contractual
obligations and the payment of outstanding debts under the
Contractual Arrangements.

Under the Equity Pledge Agreement, the equity holder
represents and warrants to the WFOE that:

(i) the rights enjoyed by the WFOE with respect to the
Equity Pledge Agreement shall not be interrupted or
hindered by the equity holder or his successor, heirs,
representatives or any other person through legal
proceedings;

(ii) if the VIE declares any dividend during the term of
the pledge, the WFOE is entitled to receive all such
dividends, bonus issue or other income arising from
the pledged equity interests, if any. If any of the equity
holder or the VIE breaches or fails to fulfill the obligations
under the agreements underlying the Contractual
Arrangements, the WFOE, as the pledgee, has the
priority to be indemnified from the proceeds from the
disposal of pledged equity interests.

Further, the equity holder and the VIE undertake to the WFOE,
among other things, not to increase or reduce the registered
capital of the VIE, transfer the interest in his equity interests in
the VIE or create or allow any pledge thereon that may affect
the rights and interest of the WFOE without its prior written
consent.
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Notes to the Con

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BZE—ZE_h&E&E=-H=+—HILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(d)

Consolidation of variable interest entities (“VIE(s)”)
(Continued)

Equity pledge agreement (the “Equity Pledge Agreement”)
(Continued)

The Equity Pledge Agreement takes effect upon the execution
date and shall remain valid until (i) all the obligations under
the Contractual Arrangements (other than the equity pledge
agreement) have been fulfilled; (ii) the equity holder has
transferred his equity interests in the VIE in accordance with
the Exclusive Option Agreement; (iii) the VIE has transferred its
assets in accordance with the Exclusive Option Agreement; (iv)
all the agreements underlying the Contractual Arrangements
(other than the Equity Pledge Agreement) have been
terminated; and (v) the Equity Pledge Agreement has been
unilaterally terminated by the WFOE.

Exclusive business cooperation agreement (the “Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement”)

Shenyang Jinyi and WFOE had entered into an Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement, pursuant to which VIE would
agree to engage WFOE as its exclusive provider of technical
support, consultation and other services, including:

(@  to grant the right to use the technologies and software
relating to the principal business of VIE legally owned by
WFOE;

(b)  to design, develop, maintain and update the technology
required for VIE's principal business, and to provide
technical consultation and services;

(c)  to design, install and manage the computer network
system and related databases, as well as their daily
maintenance and updates;

(d)  to provide technical support and professional training for
relevant personnel of VIE;

(e) to assist VIE in collecting and researching relevant
technical and market information (excluding market
research activities restricted by the PRC laws for wholly
foreign owned enterprises);
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2

POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(d) Consolidation of variable interest entities (“VIE(s)”)
(Continued)

Exclusive business cooperation agreement (the “Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement”) (Continued)

() to provide enterprise management consultation for VIE;

(9) to provide marketing and promotional services for VIE;

(h)  to develop and test new products;

(i) to arrange leasing of equipment and assets; and

() to provide other related services as required by VIE, to
the extent permitted by the PRC laws.

In addition, pursuant to the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement, without the prior written approval from the WFOE,
VIE shall not, and shall procure its subsidiaries not to, accept
the same or any similar services provided by any third party
and shall not establish cooperation relationships similar to that
formed by the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement with
any third party.

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement also provides
that, () all intellectual property rights developed or created
during the performance of the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement belong to the WFOE, (iij the WFOE is entitled to
authorise VIE and its subsidiaries to use the intellectual property
rights, and (i) the WFOE is authorised to use all existing
intellectual property rights created by VIE and its subsidiaries
before execution of the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement for free.

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement is valid upon
execution thereof and remains valid until the WFOE agrees to
terminate the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement in
writing.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &;

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(d)

Consolidation of variable interest entities (“VIE(s)”)
(Continued)

Exclusive business cooperation agreement (the “Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement”) (Continued)

Pursuant to the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement, the
service fee shall be determined by the WFOE annually (or at any
other time mutually agreed upon by both parties). The service
fee payable by the VIE each year (or during any other agreed-
upon period) shall consist of a management fee and a service
provision fee, which shall not be less than 70% of its after-tax
profits.

Based on these Contractual Arrangements, the Company
believes that the Shenyang Jinyi should be considered as VIE
because the equity holders of it do not have significant equity at
risk nor do they have the characteristics of a controlling financial
interest. Given that the Company is the primary beneficiary of
Shenyang Jinyi, the Company believes that Shenyang Jinyi
should be consolidated based on the structure as described
above.

The VIE did not have any material related party transactions,
and those transactions among the VIE with other subsidiaries of
the Group were eliminated upon consolidation.

Under the Contractual Arrangements with the VIE, the
Company has the power to direct activities of the VIE and
can have assets transferred out of the VIE under its control.
Therefore, the Company considers that there is no asset in
any of the VIE that can be used only to settle obligations of the
VIE, except for registered capital and PRC statutory reserves.
As the VIE is incorporated as limited liability company under
the Company Law of the corresponding jurisdictions, creditors
of the VIE do not have recourse to the general credit of the
Company for any of the liabilities of the VIE.

Currently, there is no contractual arrangement which requires
the Company to provide additional financial support to the VIE.
However, as the Company conducts its e-commerce business
primarily based on the licenses and approvals held by its VIE,
the Company has provided and will continue to provide financial
support to the VIE considering the business requirements of the
VIE as well as the Company’s own business objectives in the
future.
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2

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(e)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive
rights (held by the Group and other parties) are considered. The
Group reassesses whether or not it controls an entity if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the elements of control.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Where
necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line
with the Group’s accounting policies. Intra-group balances,
transactions and cash flows and any unrealised profits arising
from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the
same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is
no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not
attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in respect
of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with
the holders of those interests which would result in the Group
as a whole having a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately from
equity attributable to the owners of the Company. Non-
controlling interests in the results of the Group are presented
on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as an allocation of the total
profit or loss and total comprehensive income or loss for the
year between non-controlling interests and the owners of
the Company. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. Loans from holders of non-
controlling interests and other contractual obligations towards
these holders are presented as financial liabilities in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BZE—ZE_h&E&E=-H=+—HILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(e)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued)

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts
of controlling and non-controlling interests within consolidated
equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is
recognised. Any difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with
a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. All
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the
subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to
another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
IFRS Accounting Standards). Any interest retained in that former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair
value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset or, when appropriate, the cost
on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or joint
venture.

In the Company'’s statement of financial position, an investment
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment loss (see note
2(I)(i)), unless the investment is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale).

2

RBUEEREAGHBRER (@

G

MiE A B KRIFERED (8

FEEBRENBREZHEEE
Vgt

ik 7 £5 [ 170 B /&8 /12 B) B9 4 o 4
B B R AR BIASR
PIEHE A 5 WHR LIRS
HmAERKRIFERED S
B DI BRAERA R m AV & S 1
FEREHE TATEINRE
YR - BEIERERN S
HENMHEWRABNATEE
ZHENEREZREEERETRET
ERLRBNR AT KRR

EREEREHNBRABRE
- ARHEZNBABNE
b A SR P EE MR SIS
BRI RS - FRA SR I H
th 2= T Wi i = Y B A B e BR
WEEE T UAR BOAEER
EEEHEZWEB AT AR
EERERE RERERYE
BREER A ERMREFF
AEFNNHEERTNEEES
—fafaE) AR EHEER
MR BBEN B AR ERED
BATEERES M TERRE
BRI EREENATE
&3 (WER) REN—MEHE
NEH G E EETIBHER
o

EABHFHRRED  RHBA
MR E AR A REGE
FIBR (BB EE2()() > 1B RS
ENEABELE EMAED
HEARBEHENRERR) Ik
4h o



88

2

T——

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fi= A
77 O = |

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z_ZT " AFE=B=+—HILEE

BT ¥R R MY 5E

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

®

Business combinations and asset acquisitions
Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration test,
on a transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets
is not a business. The concentration test is met if substantially
all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated
in a single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable
assets. The gross assets under assessment exclude cash and
cash equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting
from the effects of deferred tax liabilities. If the concentration
test is met, the set of activities and assets is determined not to
be a business and no further assessment is needed.

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities
that do not constitute a business, the Group identifies and
recognises the individual identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase price first to
financial assets/financial liabilities at the respective fair values,
the remaining balance of the purchase price is then allocated to
the other identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of their
relative fair values at the date of purchase. Such a transaction
does not give rise to goodwill or bargain purchase gain.

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which
include an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create output. The
acquired processes are considered substantive if they are
critical to the ability to continue producing outputs, including an
organised workforce with the necessary skills, knowledge, or
experience to perform the related processes or they significantly
contribute to the ability to continue producing outputs and are
considered unique or scarce or cannot be replaced without
significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability to continue
producing outputs.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

®

Business combinations and asset acquisitions (Continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the
sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-
related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.

For business combinations in which the acquisition date is on
or after 1 January 2022, the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed must meet the definitions of an asset and a
liability in the “Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting”
issued by IASB in March 2018 (the “Conceptual Framework”)
except for transactions and events within the scope of IAS
37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”
(“IAS 37”) or IFRIC 21 “Levies” (“IFRIC 21”), in which the
Group applies IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 instead of the Conceptual
Framework to identify the liabilities it has assumed in a business
combination. Contingent assets are not recognised.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

- deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with IAS 12 “Income Taxes”
(“IAS 12”) and IAS 19 “Employee Benefits” respectively;

- liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-
based payment arrangements of the Group entered
into to replace share-based payment arrangements of
the acquiree are measured in accordance with IFRS 2
“Share-based Payment” at the acquisition date;
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

®

Business combinations and asset acquisitions (Continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

- assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with IFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations” are measured in
accordance with that standard; and

- lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as
defined in IFRS 16 “Leases” (“IFRS 16”) as if the
acquired leases were new leases at the acquisition date,
except for leases for which (a) the lease term ends within
12 months of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying
asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised
and measured at the same amount as the relevant lease
liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable
terms of the lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and
the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit
or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share
of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets or at fair value. The choice of measurement basis is
made on a transaction-by-transaction basis.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

®

Business combinations and asset acquisitions (Continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement,
the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-
date fair value and included as part of the consideration
transferred in a business combination. Changes in the fair value
of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement
period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively. Measurement
period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the “measurement period” (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration
that does not qualify as measurement period adjustments
depends on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is
remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date
when the Group obtains control), and the resulting gain or loss,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other comprehensive
income, as appropriate. Amounts arising from interests in the
acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income and measured
under IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (“IFRS 9”) would be
accounted for on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had disposed directly of the previously held equity
interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete
by the end of the reporting period in which the combination
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items
for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional
amounts are adjusted retrospectively during the measurement
period (see above), and additional assets or liabilities are
recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised at that
date.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

®

Business combinations and asset acquisitions (Continued)
Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represents the lowest level at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes
and not larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently whenever there is indication that
the unit (or group of cash-generating units) may be impaired.
For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period,
the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units)
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable
amount is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group of cash-
generating units), except that the carrying value of an asset will
not be reduced below the highest of its individual fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable), value in use (if determinable)
and zero.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of
the cash-generating unit within the group of cash-generating
units, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When
the Group disposes of an operation within the cash-generating
unit (or a cash-generating unit within a group of cash-generating
units), the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on
the basis of the relative values of the operation (or the cash-
generating unit) disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units) retained,
unless the Group can demonstrate that some other method
better reflects the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of.
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Notes to the Co

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(9)

Other investments in equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in equity securities, other
than investments in subsidiaries and joint venture, are set out
below:

Investments in equity securities are recognised/derecognised
on the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the investment.
All regular way purchases or sales of equity securities are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of equity
securities that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the market place.
The investments are initially stated at fair value plus directly
attributable transaction costs, except for those investments
measured at fair value through profit or loss for which
transaction costs are recognised directly in profit or loss. For
an explanation of how the Group determines fair value of
financial instruments, see note 37(f). These investments are
subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on their
classification.

An investment in equity security is classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss unless the equity
investment is not held for trading purposes and on initial
recognition of the investment the Group makes an irrevocable
election to designate the investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income (non-recycling) such that subsequent
changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive
income. Such election is made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis, but may only be made if the investment meets the
definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective. Where
such an election is made, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income remains in the fair value reserve (non-
recycling) until the investment is disposed of. At the time of
disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-
recycling) is transferred to retained profits. It is not recycled
through profit or loss. Dividends from an investment in equity
security classified at fair value through other comprehensive
income, irrespective of whether classified as at fair value
through profit or loss or fair value through other comprehensive
income, are recognised in profit or loss as other income, unless
the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of
the investment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured
at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the
other gains and losses, unless the dividends clearly represent a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
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2

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(h)

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
(see note 2(I)(ii)):

- right-of-use assets arising from leases over leasehold
properties where the Group is not the registered owner of
the property interest; and

- other items of property, plant and equipment, including
right-of-use assets arising from leases of underlying plant
and equipment.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight line method over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

Leasehold land and buildings situated thereon is depreciated
over the unexpired term of lease.

Furniture and fixtures
Office equipment and Tools
Leasehold improvements

3 to 5 years

3 1o 5 years

Qver the shorter of the term
of the lease or 5 years

Motor vehicles 4 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment

have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated

on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is

depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its

residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to the acquisition of an item of property, plant and equipment.
Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains or
losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency
purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when
replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised
in profit or loss during the reporting period in which they are
incurred.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BZE—ZE_h&E&E=-H=+—HILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(h)

@

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gain or loss arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the net proceeds on disposal and the carrying amount
of the item and is recognised in profit or loss on the date of
retirement or disposal.

Investment property

Investment property is land and/or buildings which is owned
or held under a leasehold interest (see note 2(k)) to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation. These include land held
for a currently undetermined future use and property that is
being constructed or developed for future use as investment
property.

Investment property is initially measured at cost and
subsequently at fair value, unless they are still in the course of
construction or development at the end of the reporting period
and their fair value cannot be reliably measured at that time.
Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value or from the
retirement or disposal of an investment property is recognised
in profit or loss. Rental income from investment property is
accounted for as described in note 2(y)(ii).

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of
the investment properties under construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the
period in which the property is derecognised.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(0

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as
their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with finite useful lives are carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with
finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with
indefinite useful life are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

The following intangible assets with finite useful lives are
amortised from the date they are available for use and their
estimated useful lives are as follows:

- Licenses and know-how 12 years

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gain or loss arising from derecognition of an intangible asset,
measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset, is recognised in profit or
loss when the asset is derecognised.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(k)

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. The Group will reassess
whether a contract is, or contains, a lease only if the terms
and conditions of the contract are subsequently changed. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where the
customer has both the right to direct the use of the identified
asset and to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits
from that use.

@

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and
non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not
to separate non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-
term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
and do not have a purchase option and leases of low-
value assets. When the Group enters into a lease in
respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides whether
to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The
lease payments associated with those leases which
are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised at the commencement
date of the lease, the lease liability is initially recognised
at the present value of the lease payments (less any
lease incentives receivable) payable over the lease term,
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or,
if that rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and
interest expense is calculated using the effective interest
method. Variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or rate are not included in the measurement
of the lease liability and hence are charged to profit or
loss in the accounting period in which they are incurred.
Lease payments also include amounts expected to be
payable by the Group under residual value guarantees;
the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and payments
of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the
lease.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(k)

Leases (Continued)

@

As a lessee (Continued)

After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using
the effective interest method.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises
the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease
payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received, and any initial
direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the
right-of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, discounted to their present value, a provision is
recognised and measured under IAS 37. Except for that
which is classified as investment property and measured
at fair value, the right-of-use asset is subsequently
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see note 2(h)) and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

If the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to
the Group by the end of the lease term or if the cost of
the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group will exercise
a purchase option, the Group shall depreciate the right-
of-use asset from the commencement date to the end
of the useful life of the underlying asset. Otherwise, the
Group shall depreciate the right-of-use asset from the
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the
useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease
term.

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying
leased asset at the end of the lease term, upon
exercising purchase option, the cost of the relevant right-
of-use asset and the related accumulated depreciation
and impairment loss is transferred to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(k)

Leases (Continued)

()

As a lessee (Continued)

The initial fair value of refundable rental deposit paid is
accounted for separately from the right-of-use asset
in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to
financial assets measured at amortised cost (see notes
2(0), 2()(), 2@) and 2(y)(i)). Any difference between the
initial fair value and the nominal value of the deposits is
accounted for as additional lease payments made and is
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The Group presents right-of-use assets, that do not meet
the definition of investment property, in “property, plant
and equipment”, the same line item within which the
corresponding underlying assets would be presented if
they were owned.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change
in future lease payments arising from a change in an
index or rate used to determine those payments, or
there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount
expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee,
by discounting the revised lease payments using an
unchanged discount rate, unless the change in lease
payments results from a change in floating interest rates.
In that case, the lessee shall use a revised discount rate
that reflects changes in the interest rate. When there is
a change arising from the reassessment of whether the
Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase,
extension or termination option, the lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate, being the interest rate
implicit in the lease for the remainder of the lease term,
or the Group’s incremental borrowing rate at the date
of reassessment, if the interest rate implicit in the lease
cannot be readily determined. When the lease liability
is remeasured in either of these ways, a corresponding
adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-
of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to
zero.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(k)

Leases (Continued)

@

As a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
change in the scope of a lease or the consideration for
a lease that is not originally provided for in the lease
contract (‘lease modification”) and that is not accounted
for as a separate lease. In this case, the consideration
in the modified contract is allocated to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the associated non-
lease components are included in the respective lease
components. The lease liability is remeasured based
on the revised lease payments and lease term using
a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line
item in the consolidated statement of financial position.
In the consolidated statement of financial position, the
current portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined
as the present value of contractual payments that are
due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting
period.
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Notes to the Co

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #EZE_Z _RAF=H=+—HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(k)

Leases (Continued)

(i)

As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease
if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to the ownership of an underlying assets to the
lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is classified as an
operating lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs
are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term except for investment properties
measured under fair value model.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to each component on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis. The rental income from operating
leases is recognised in accordance with note 2(y)(ii).

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted
for under IFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the sub-lease
is classified as a finance lease or as an operating lease
with reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the
head lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease to
which the Group applies the exemption described in
note 2(k)(i), then the Group classifies the sub-lease as an
operating lease.

2

RUEEREARGHERER (B

®

HE @

(i)

e AN

HAEEBHBEA HiE
HERGREESEEE
BEERREHENEER
B RiEMEEEE N
BB AR B D B R K [0k
HREABANEE D
AREERE THDESD
KEHE Em kL HE
EREELENNT EER
EMABREBEENRE
B MZERENERAR
NEREEEEI DR
X R AT EBERRES
BB HERI -

HEMBEaHERIFEE
B AAERGRAY
BIEBEERGONRE
PEEEHD -KBLEE
HERNEE WA REH
2(y)(iBesE ©

B EREEERE TR
HEIRY B RS ERE
SEAR PR AFEE
FTE MBS E A
FEEFHNOBBERER
REABANEINEE N

=/
;o

fHAEERDHBEST A
RSEZBHEEBEELNE
RREEREHENER
MERERKCERE 4
BEEREERRABME
2(k) (i) P 4t 24 52 A9 A2 HATE
S AAEEREHEED
EnkeElEg-



102

fi= A
77 O = |

2

T——

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z_ZT " AFE=B=+—HILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(U}

Credit losses and impairment of assets

@

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) on the financial assets measured
at amortised cost (including cash and cash equivalents,
trade receivables, other receivables and rental deposits,
which are held for the collection of contractual cash flows
which represent solely payments of principal and interest)
and lease receivables.

Financial assets measured at fair value, including equity
securities measured at fair value through profit or loss,
are not subject to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses
over the expected life of the financial instrument. Credit
losses are measured as the present value of all expected
cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows
due to the Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the
following discount rates where the effect of discounting is
material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, trade and other
receivables: effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition or an approximation thereof;

- variable-rate financial assets: current effective
interest rate;

- lease receivables: discount rate used in the
measurement of the lease receivable.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs
is the maximum contractual period over which the Group
is exposed to credit risk.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

Notes to the Co

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BZE—ZE_h&E&E=-H=+—HILEE

POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(U

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort. This includes information
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of

future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs (“12-m ECLs"): these are losses
that are expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the reporting

date; and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from all possible default events over the

expected life of a financial instrument.

Loss allowances for trade receivables without significant
financing component and lease receivables are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on
trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix/
internal credit rating based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors and an assessment of both the
current and forecast general economic conditions at the

reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises
a loss allowance equal to 12-m ECLs unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk of the financial
instrument since initial recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime

ECLs.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

@

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at the
reporting date with that assessed at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

- failure to make payments of principal or interest on
their contractually due dates;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in
a financial instrument’s external or internal credit
rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

- existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to
meet its obligation to the Group;

— an actual or expected internal credit rating
downgrade for the borrower;

- an actual or expected significant change in the
operating results of the borrower;

= significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same borrower;
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

Notes to the Co

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BZE—ZE_h&E&E=-H=+—HILEE

POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(U

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

= significant changes in the value of the collateral
supporting the obligation or in the quality of third-
party guarantees or credit enhancements, which
are expected to reduce the borrower’s economic
incentive to make scheduled contractual payments
or to otherwise have an effect on the probability of

a default occurring; and

- significant changes in the expected performance

and behaviour of the borrower.

The Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that

demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to
have low credit risk if (i) the financial instrument has a
low risk of default, (i) the debtor has a strong capacity
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term and (i) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the debtor to fulfil its contractual
cash flow obligations. The Group considers a financial
instrument to have low credit risk when it has an internal
or external credit rating of “investment grade” as per

globally understood definitions.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(U

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

@

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective
basis. When the assessment is performed on a collective
basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due status
and credit risk ratings.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
that a default event occurs when (i) the borrower is
unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in
full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is held); or (i) the financial asset
is 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate. The Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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Notes to the Co

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE"ZE " AF=H=+—

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(U

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

@

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
the following observable events:

- significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

- the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

- it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
into bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor;

= the purchase or origination of a financial asset at
a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit
losses; or

- the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties of
the issuer.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

@

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset and lease
receivables is written off (either partially or in full) to the
extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This
is generally the case when the Group determines that
the debtor does not have assets or sources of income
that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the
amounts subject to the write-off. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in
profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses
over the expected life of the financial instrument. The
maximum period considered when estimating ECL is the
maximum contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECL, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort. This includes information
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BZE—ZE_h&E&E=-H=+—HILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(U}

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

@

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.
As for the exposure at default, for financial asset, it is
represented by the asset’s gross carrying amount at the
reporting date.

The Group uses a practical expedient in estimating
ECL on trade receivables and lease receivables using
a provision matrix taking into consideration historical
credit loss experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort. ECL on
individually significant trade receivables are estimated
individually based on all reasonable and supportable
information, including that which is forward-looking,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and
an assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the reporting date. The historical
loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-
looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting
the ability of the customers to settle the receivables. The
Group has identified the gross domestic products and
unemployment rates of the countries in which it sells
its goods and services to be the most relevant factors,
and accordingly adjusts the historical rates based on the
expected changes in these factors.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z_ZT " AFE=B=+—HILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(U}

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

@

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss.
The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all
financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment
to their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill, intangible assets that are not yet available
for use and intangible assets that have an indefinite
useful life are tested annually for impairment, or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are
tested for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. Internal and external sources of
information is reviewed at the end of each reporting
period to identify indications that the following assets
may be impaired or an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment, including right-of-
use assets;

- other intangible assets; and

- investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s
statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, the
recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or not
there is any indication of impairment.
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Notes to the Co

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BZE—ZE_h&E&E=-H=+—HILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(U}

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value
in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. Where
an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). A
portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset
(for example, head office building) is allocated to
an individual cash-generating unit if the allocation
can be done on a reasonable and consistent basis,
or to the smallest group of cash-generating units if
otherwise.

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss whenever the carrying amount of an asset,
or the cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment loss
recognised in respect of a cash-generating unit
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating
unit (or group of units) and then, to reduce the
carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (or
group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that
the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced
below the highest of its individual fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable), value in use (if
determinable) and zero.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(U

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)
- Reversal of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment
loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognised.

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to prepare
an interim financial report in compliance with IAS 34,
“Interim Financial Reporting”, in respect of the first six
months of the financial year. At the end of the interim
period, the Group applies the same impairment testing,
recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at the end of
the financial year.

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in
respect of goodwill are not reversed in a subsequent
period. This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss,
would have been recognised had the impairment been
assessed only at the end of the financial year to which
the interim period relates.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE"ZE " AF=H=+—

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(m)

Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the ordinary
course of business, in the process of production for such sale
or in the form of materials or supplies to be consumed in the
production process or in the rendering of services.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula
and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Costs
necessary to make the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the
Group must incur to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable
value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense
in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of
any reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised
as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an
expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE_ZT—
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(n)

(0)

(p)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays non-
refundable consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue (see note 2(u)). A contract liability would also
be recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to receive
non-refundable consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable
would also be recognised (see note 2(0)).

When the contract includes a significant financing component,
the contract balance includes interest accrued under the
effective interest method.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration
is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration, the amount is presented as a contract
asset.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component are initially measured at their transaction price.
Trade receivables that contain a significant financing component
and other receivables are initially measured at fair value plus
transaction costs. All receivables are subsequently stated
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
allowance for ECL (see note 2())(j)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash
equivalents are assessed for ECLs in accordance with the
policy set out in note 2()(i).

Bank balances for which use by the Group is subject to third
party contractual restrictions are included as part of cash unless
the restrictions result in a bank balance no longer meeting the
definition of cash.
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Notes to the Co

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_—Z—

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(C)]

(r)

(s)

Borrowings

Borrowings are measured initially at fair value less transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these borrowings are
stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Interest expense is recognised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy for borrowing costs. Fees paid on the
establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction
costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some
or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is
deferred until the drawdown occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
service and amortised over the period of the facility to which it
relates.

These borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has the right, at the end of the reporting period, to defer
settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the
reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value.
Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other payables are
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at invoice amounts.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares
are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds.
Consideration paid, including any directly attributable
incremental costs, for purchase of the Company’s ordinary
shares is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue
or cancellation of the Company’s ordinary shares.

2

RAEEREKR

@

®

©

“HE=A=1+—HILEE

BETBERER (B

&E

BEENSRATERERZ SR
KB EMBEDE B
0B R 5% R 9 A5
BE o {2 B AR S B T 1R 38
25 O B 5 SR RERT o 5 885)
%2 WEEHRIAS RIEN
0 (S S (4 00 B AR
DA ENTE R RULER
T AR RS AL
53 BB BA I D N2 WA
EERIAETRER IZE
BERCEARHESREN
AR I A A R
5o

ZEBEDERRBERE IR
FAERERNBSHEREE
ENEEEEEREHRED
+ZMEA-

B 5 KA M TRIE

B RHMEBNRBZAFE
B RES ¥R R B
B EL A FE 1 7R IR 3% 8 8 B A 5
ROBRIFRRREETAELR £
IEERT RIREREEARK

R

SEROEREDm - HITHEE
REZBENIESMAN
ORISR - B E
RABEBERIZNZAE (B
EEMEREBGEIZERE) B

AR R R - A AT
ERRME - BTREHE
AE BRI
W TR 48 o

& R B STAE A



116

177 O = |

2

T——

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4= AH

BT ¥R R MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE_ZT—
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(®)

(u)

v)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest
in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in
the year in which the associated services are rendered
by employees. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another IFRS requires
or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an
asset.
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Notes to the Co

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &;

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(v)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

Defined benefit plan obligations

The Group has a defined benefit plan, representing
long service payment (‘LSP”) under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance. The Group’s net defined
benefit obligation in respect of LSP is recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position. The Group’s
net defined benefit obligation is measured by discounting
the estimated cost to the Group of the benefit that
employees have earned in return for their service in the
current and prior periods, after deducting the negative
service cost arising from the accrued benefits derived
from the Group’s Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”)
contributions that have been vested with employees,
which are deemed to be contributions from the relevant
employees.

The calculation of defined benefit obligation is performed
by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit
method, with actuarial valuation being carried out at
the end of each reporting period. In determining the
present value of its defined benefit obligation and the
related current service cost and, where applicable, past
service cost, the Group attributes benefit to periods of
service under the plan’s benefit formula. However, if an
employee’s service in later years will lead to a materially
higher level of benefit than in earlier years, the Group
shall attribute benefit on a straight-line basis from
the date when service by the employee first leads to
benefits under the plan (whether or not the benefits are
conditional on further service) until the date when further
service by the employee will lead to no material amount
of further benefits under the plan, other than from further
salary increases.

Defined benefit costs, comprising current service cost,
any past service cost and gain or loss on settlement and
net interest expense on defined benefit obligation, are
recognised in profit or loss. Net interest is determined
by using the net defined benefit obligation and the
discount rate determined at the beginning of the year,
and also taking into account any changes in the net
defined benefit obligation during the year resulting from
contributions or benefit payments. Remeasurements
arising from defined benefit plan, which comprise
actuarial gains and losses, return on plan assets
(excluding interest), and the effect of any asset ceiling
(excluding interest), are recognised immediately in other
comprehensive income.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

v)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Equity-settled share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in a share-based payments reserve within equity.
The fair value is measured at grant date, without taking
into consideration of all non-market vesting conditions,
using the valuation model, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the options were granted.
Where the employees have to meet vesting conditions
before becoming unconditionally entitled to the share
options, the total estimated fair value of the share options
is spread over the vesting period, taking into account the
probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options
expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment
to the cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is
charged/credited to the profit or loss for the year of the
review, unless the original employee expenses qualify for
recognition as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment
to the share-based payments reserve. At the end of the
vesting period, the amount recognised as an expense
is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options
that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the share—
based payments reserve) except where forfeiture is
only due to not achieving market vesting conditions
(e.g. conditions that relate to the market price of the
Company’s shares). The equity amount is recognised in
the share-based payments reserve until either the option
is exercised (when it is transferred to the share premium
account) or the option expires (when it is released directly
to accumulated losses).

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when
the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when it recognises restructuring costs
involving the payment of termination benefits.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &;

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(w)

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and deferred tax
expenses. Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent
that they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts
of tax are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax
arises from the initial accounting for a business combination,
the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business
combination.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and
taxable temporary differences respectively, being the differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred
tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax
credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will arise
from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences,
provided that those differences relate to the same taxation
authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to
reverse either in the same period as the expected reversal of
the deductible temporary differences or in periods into which a
tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back
or forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax
losses and credits, that is, the entity has sufficient taxable
temporary differences relating to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, which will result in taxable amounts
against which the unused tax losses or unused tax credits can
be utilised.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(w)

Income tax (Continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are:

- temporary differences arising from goodwill not
deductible for tax purposes,

- temporary differences arising from the initial recognition
of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor
taxable profit (provided they are not part of a business
combination) and do not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences,

- temporary differences relating to investments in
subsidiaries and joint venture to the extent that the Group
controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that
the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future,
or in the case of deductible differences, unless it is
probable that they will reverse in the future and taxable
profits will be available, and

- temporary differences related to income taxes arising
from tax laws enacted or substantively enacted to
implement the Pillar Two model rules published by
the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and
Development.

Where investment properties are carried at their fair value, the
amount of deferred tax recognised is measured using the tax
rates that would apply on sale of those assets at their carrying
value at the reporting date unless the properties are depreciable
and are held within a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the properties over time, rather than through sale.

In all other cases, the amount of deferred tax recognised is
measured based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities,
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted.
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Notes to the Co

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #EZE_Z _RAF=H=+—HIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(w)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such
reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each other
and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against current
tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against deferred tax
liabilities, if a group entity has the legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the
following additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the group
entity intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current tax assets
and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis
or realise and settle simultaneously.
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2

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(w)

(x)

Income tax (Continued)

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments, the
Group considers whether it is probable that a taxation authority
will accept an uncertain tax treatment. If it is probable that the
taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the
Group shall determine the taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases,
unused tax losses, unused tax credits or tax rates consistently
with the tax treatment used or planned to be used by a group
entity in its income tax filings. If it is not probable that the
taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the
Group shall reflect the effect of uncertainty in determining the
related taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses,
unused tax credits or tax rates, by using either the most likely
amount method or the expected value method, depending
on which method the Group expects to better predict the
resolution of the uncertainty.

Provisions, contingent liabilities and onerous contracts
(i) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a
past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of
money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the Group is also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle
a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another
party, a separate asset is recognised for any expected
reimbursement that would be virtually certain. The
amount recognised for the reimbursement is limited to
the carrying amount of the provision.
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Notes to the Cor

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &;

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

()

(y)

Provisions, contingent liabilities and onerous contracts
(Continued)

(ii)  Onerous contracts

An onerous contract exists when the Group has a
contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting
the obligations under the contract exceed the economic
benefits expected to be received from the contract.
The cost of fulfilling a contract comprises the costs that
relate directly to the contract, which consist of both the
incremental costs of fulfiling that contract (e.g., direct
labour and materials); and an allocation of other costs
that relate directly to fulfilling contracts—for example,
an allocation of the depreciation charge for an item
of property, plant and equipment used in fulfiling that
contract. Provisions for onerous contracts are measured
at the present value of the lower of the expected cost
of terminating the contract and the net cost of fulfilling
with the contract. Before a separate provision for an
onerous contract is established, the Group recognises
any impairment loss that has occurred on assets used in
fuffiling the contract.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises
from the sale of goods, the provision of services or the use by
others of the Group’s assets under leases in the ordinary course
of the Group’s business.

In determining whether the Group acts as a principal or as an
agent, it considers whether it obtains control of the products or
services before they are transferred to the customers. Control
refers to the Group’s ability to direct the use of and obtain
substantially all of the remaining benefits from the products
or services. When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises
revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to which
it expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the
specified goods or services to be provided by the other party.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service
is transferred to the customer, or the lessee has the right to use
the asset, at the amount of promised consideration to which
the Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value
added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any
trade discounts.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(v)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time if one of the following criteria is met:

(@)  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

(b)  the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
(for example, work in progress) that the customer
controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

(c)  the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

The Group recognises revenue over time by measuring the
progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation, using output method, that depicts the Group’s
performance in transferring control of goods or services
promised to a customer. Output method recognises revenue on
the basis of direct measurement of the value to the customer
of the goods or services transferred to date relative to the
remaining goods or services promised under the contract.

If the consideration promised in a contract includes a variable
amount, the Group shall estimate the amount of variable
consideration, to which the Group will be entitled in exchange
for transferring the promised goods or services to a customer,
using the expected value method. The estimated variable
consideration is included in the transaction price only to the
extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when
the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved. At the end of each reporting period,
the Group updates the estimated transaction price (including
updating its assessment of whether an estimate of variable
consideration is constrained) to represent faithfully the
circumstances present at the end of the reporting period and
the changes in circumstances during the reporting period.
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Notes to the Co

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

v)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the customer for
more than 12 months, revenue is measured at the present
value of the amount receivable, discounted using the discount
rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
with the customer at contract inception, and interest income is
accrued separately under the effective interest method. Where
the contract contains a financing component which provides a
significant financing benefit to the Group, revenue recognised
under that contract includes the interest expense accreted on
the contract liability under the effective interest method. The
Group takes advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph
63 of IFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for any
effects of a significant financing component if the period of
financing is 12 months or less.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Sale of goods and provision of services

Revenue is recognised when the customer takes
possession of and accepts the products or services.
If the products or services are a partial fulfilment of a
contract covering other goods and/or services, then
the amount of revenue recognised is an appropriate
proportion of the total transaction price under the
contract, allocated between all the goods and services
promised under the contract on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis.

(i)  Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over the
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are earned.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(v)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

(iii)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under the
effective interest method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset. For financial assets (other
than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial
assets) measured at amortised cost that are not credit-
impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the
gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit-impaired
financial assets, interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost (i.e. gross
carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the financial
asset.
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Notes to the Con

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BZE—ZE_h&E&E=-H=+—HILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(2)

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated into
the functional currency of a group entity at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency of a group entity at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss, except those arising
from foreign currency borrowings used as effective hedge a
net investment in a foreign operation which are recognised in
other comprehensive income and for exchange differences
on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign
operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely to
occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign
operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive
income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal
or partial disposal of the Group’s net investment in the foreign
operation.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated into the
functional currency of a group entity using the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the transaction dates and are not re-translated.
The transaction date is the date on which a group entity
initially recognises such non-monetary assets or liabilities.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies stated at fair value are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was measured.
When a fair value gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of that
gain or loss is also recognised in profit or loss. When a fair value
gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other
comprehensive income, any exchange component of that gain
or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income.

2

RBUEEREAGHBRER (@

@

SMEEIRE

FRHNEZZ IS BE
BzZiEERMBESERERR
BINEE G - LUNESHEZ BT
EERBEDEREEHRE
BZBERMERERER
BITHAEE 1S - FE R URa K 5 1R 7Y
B W EESD - e A BIFA R
BN EBREFRZINEE
EMELEZER WD MEER
REMEERZPESS UKREE
BB AAEEELEE (AL
BB EBREFEN—E
) ZEWREEN T8N EHH
EREENEREZR AHEH
REMEEREPDES I
FRENBOEEFSEEBEI
EBREFEFHEEEND

BERE-

DN ESERAStEZIFE
KEERABEDHEARXZAH
BRZINEEXSRESEAR
BNIEE AT REMRE
RHERERBRIIGHEDRZ
ShERBEENRRZAM-7
NEPEBEIRZIINESHEZIF
EREERGENERARSE
ATEEEABRZIIBER
ME -EBIFEKEENATEE
Wzt SRS R I IR I FE R0 A > sX IR
1 B 5 48 B9 7] B 52 38 0 AR A%
BmER - BEIFEEEENAT
BER@IEEREMEZEER
TSRS > Z U A IR A
BE 52 88 20 78 B0 EL fth 2 [ W B

Bl
&0 ©



128

fi= A
77 O = |

T——

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT ¥R R MY 5E

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z_ZT " AFE=B=+—HILEE

2

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

@

Translation of foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the foreign operations
are translated at exchange rates prevailing on the reporting
date. The results of foreign operations are translated into
HK$ at the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in
which case the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the
transactions are used. Goodwill and any fair value adjustments
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on the
acquisition of foreign operation on or after 1 April 2005, are
translated into HK$ at the closing foreign exchange rate at
the end of the reporting period. Goodwill and any fair value
adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
arising on acquisition of a foreign operation before 1 April
2005 are translated at the foreign exchange rate at the date
of acquisition of the foreign operation. The resulting exchange
difference is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the exchange reserve,
except to the extent that the translation difference is allocated
to non-controlling interests.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of
the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint
venture that includes a foreign operation of which the retained
interest becomes a financial asset), all the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to
the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation that does not result in the Group
losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of
accumulated exchange differences is re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and is not recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_—Z—

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(aa)

(ab)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes
a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use
or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset
is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and
activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended
use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs
is suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or
sale are interrupted or complete.

Related parties

a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

i) has control or joint control over the Group;

ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Group’s parent.

b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

i) The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

iii) Both the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party.
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2

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(ab)

(ac)

Related parties (Continued)
b) (Continued)

iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

V) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

Vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

vii) A person identified in (a)()) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

vii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
discrete financial information provided regularly to the executive
Directors (the chief operating decision maker) for the purposes
of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance
of, the Group’s various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority
of these criteria.
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Notes to the Co

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTIES

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses,
assets and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and
the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or
liabilities affected in the future.

(a)

Significant accounting judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following accounting judgements:

@

(i)

Principal versus agent consideration (principal)

The Group engages in the trading of milk powder and
foods (the “Milk Products Business”). The performance
obligation of the Group is to sell the milkk powder and
foods to the customers as specified in the contracts
and sales orders. The Group controls the goods before
passing to the customers and is subject to inventory risk.
When the Group satisfies the performance obligation, the
Group recognises trading revenue in the gross amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled
as specified in the contracts.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group
recognised revenue relating to sales of milk powder and
foods of HK$13,991,000 (2024: HK$93,087,000).

Principal versus agent consideration (agent)

The Group is considered as an agent for its contracts
with customers relating to certain sales of milkk powder
and foods as the Group did not obtain the control over
product before passing on to customers taking into
consideration that the Group cannot direct the use of
the goods obtained from the third parties. When the
Group satisfies the performance obligation, the Group
recognises a commission revenue in the amount it
expects to be entitled as specified in the contracts.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group acted
as an agent recognised commission revenue from sales
of milk powder and foods of HK$1,583,000 (2024: Nil).
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3.

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTIES (Continued)

(@) Significant accounting judgements (Continued)

(iii)

Determination on lease term of contracts with
renewal options

The Group applies judgement to determine the lease
term for lease contracts in which it is a lessee that
include renewal options, specifically, the leases relating
to offices. The assessment of whether the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise renewal options impacts
the lease term, which significantly affects the amount of
lease liabilities and right-of-use assets recognised. Re-
assessment is performed upon the occurrence of either a
significant event or a significant change in circumstances
that is within the control of lessee and that affects the
assessment.

When assessing reasonable certainty, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances including
economic incentives/penalties for exercising or not
exercising the options. Factors considered include:

° contractual terms and conditions for the optional
periods compared with market rates (e.g. whether
the amount of payments in the optional periods is
below the market rates);

o the extent of leasehold improvements undertaken
by the Group; and

o costs relating to termination of the lease (e.g.
relocation costs, costs of identifying another
underlying asset suitable for the Group’s needs).
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ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTIES (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Significant accounting judgements (Continued)

(iv)

Control over VIEs

Reference is made to notes 2(d) and 36 that Shenyang
Jinyi e-commerce Co., Ltd (“Shenyang Jinyi”) and its
subsidiary, Jinyi (Hainan) e-commerce Co., Ltd., are VIEs
of the Group pursuant to the contractual arrangement
entered into between the Group and the nominee
shareholder of Shenyang Jinyi.

The Directors assessed whether the Group has control
over VIEs based on whether the Group has the practical
ability to direct the relevant activities of VIEs unilaterally
and whether the Group has the exposure, or rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with VIEs. In making
the judgement, the Directors considered the Group has
owned 70% voting rights over Shenyang Jinyi pursuant
to the contractual arrangement which give it sufficient
power to direct the relevant activities of VIEs which affect
the amount of the Group’s returns. As such, the Group
has control over VIEs.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

@

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

Trade receivables with significant balances and credit-
impaired are assessed for ECL individually. In addition,
the Group uses practical expedient in estimating ECL
on trade receivables which are not assessed individually
using a provision matrix. The provision rates are based
on aging of debtors as groupings of various debtors
taking into consideration the Group’s historical default
rates and forward-looking information that is reasonable
and supportable available without undue costs or effort.
At every reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The information about the Group’s trade receivables and
the ECL are disclosed in notes 22 and 37(a), respectively.
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ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTIES (Continued)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Fair value of investment property

Investment property is stated at fair value based on the
valuation performed by an independent professional
property valuer. The determination of the fair value
involves certain assumptions of market conditions which
are set out in note 15.

In relying on the valuation report, the Directors have
exercised their judgement and are satisfied that the
method of valuation is reflective of the current market
conditions. Changes to these assumptions would result
in changes in the fair value of the Group’s investment
property and the corresponding adjustments to the
amount of gain or loss reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of the
Group’s investment property was HK$41,232,000 (2024:
HK$41,350,000).

Estimated impairment of gooadwill, property, plant and
equipment (including right-of-use assets) and other
intangible assets

Determining whether goodwill, property, plant and
equipment (including right-of-use assets) and other
intangible assets is impaired requires an estimation of
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill,
property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use
assets) and other intangible assets has been allocated,
which is the higher of the value in use or fair value less
costs of disposal. The value in use calculation requires
the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from the cash-generating unit (or a group of
cash-generating units) and a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value. Where the actual
future cash flows are less than expected, or changes
in facts and circumstances which result in downward
revision of future cash flows or upward revision of
discount rate, a material impairment loss or further
impairment loss may arise. As at 31 March 2025,
the carrying amounts of goodwill, property, plant and
equipment (including right-of-use assets) and other
intangible assets are HK$13,351,000 (2024: Nil) (net of
accumulated impairment loss of HK$5,191,000 (2024:
HK$2,161,000)), HK$29,344,000 (2024: HK$18,000) and
HK$23,653,000 (2024: nil), respectively. Details of the
calculation of value in use are disclosed in note 18.
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ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTIES (Continued)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

Estimated useful lives of other intangible assets

Management of the Group determines the estimated
useful lives and amortisation charge for the Group’s other
intangible assets. Management of the Group will revise
the amortisation charge where useful lives are different
to previous estimates, or it will write-off or write-down
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have
been abandoned or sold.

Provision

The Group evaluates whether a present obligation exists
under the litigation claim after taking into account all
available evidence, including, among others, advice
from its legal advisors. A provision is recognised for
the claim if the management of the Group consider it
is more likely than not that present obligation exists
and a reliable estimate can be made on the settlement
amount of the claim. If it is more likely than not that no
present obligation exists, the Group should disclose a
contingent liability, unless the possibility of any transfer
of economic benefits in settlement is remote. Changes
in the assumptions around the likelihood of an outflow of
economic resources or the estimation of any obligation
would change the values recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

Current tax

The subsidiaries of the Company are subject to income
tax in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), Hong
Kong and Australia. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income tax. There are many
transactions for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the current tax and deferred tax provisions in
the financial period in which such determination is made.
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4.  APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO IFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The Group has applied the following amendments to IFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the IASB for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the Group’s financial annual period beginning on or after
1 April 2024, to the consolidated financial statements for the current

accounting year:

Amendments to IAS 1
or Non-current and Non-current
Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to IAS 7
and IFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

The Group has not applied any new standards and amendments to
IFRS Accounting Standards that are not yet mandatorily effective for
the current accounting period. The application of the amendments to
IFRS Accounting Standards in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these

consolidated financial statements.

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised
by business lines (products and services). In a manner consistent with
the way in which information is reported internally to the executive
Directors (the chief operating decision maker) for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment, the Group has
presented the following three reportable segments. No operating
segments have been aggregated to form the following reportable

segments.

1. The Milk Products Business;

2. The provision of warehouse logistics services (the “Logistics

Business”); and

&, Property investment (the “Property Investment”).

The Milk Products Business derives revenue primarily from the sales of

milk powder and foods.

The Logistics Business derives revenue primarily from the provision of

warehouse services.

The Property Investment derives revenue primarily from rental income

arising from the lease of a property.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(@

Segment results, assets and liabilities

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the executive Directors
(the chief operating decision maker (‘CODM”)) monitor the
results, assets and liabilities attributable to each reportable
segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets and
current assets with the exception of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, and other corporate assets. Segment
liabilities include trade and other payables, contract liabilities,
lease liabilities, income tax payable, provisions, deferred tax
liabilities and defined benefit obligation attributable to the
activities of the individual segments.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to sales generated by those segments
and the expenses incurred by those segments or which
otherwise arise from the depreciation and amortisation of assets
attributable to those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment (loss)/profit is
“adjusted EBITDA” i.e. “adjusted earnings before interest,
taxes, depreciation and amortisation”, where “interest” is
regarded as including investment income and “depreciation and
amortisation” is regarded as including impairment losses on
non-current assets. To arrive at adjusted EBITDA, the Group’s
earnings are further adjusted for items not specifically attributed
to individual segments, such as Directors’ and auditors’
remuneration and other head office or corporate administration
costs.

In addition to receiving segment information concerning
adjusted EBITDA, executive Directors are provided with
segment information concerning interest income and expense
from cash balances and borrowings managed directly by the
segments, depreciation, amortisation, impairment losses, fair
value gain on investment property, provisions and additions
to non-current segment assets used by the segments in their
operations.

The accounting policy information of the operating segments
are the same as the Group’s material accounting policy
information described in note 2.
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5 DEEN @

(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued) (@ DHER BEREE®
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers RETERDE kT ED IR
by the timing of revenue recognition, as well as information EMARTEEMRERZEE
regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided to the TETHRERZIZEINF=A
executive Directors for the purposes of resource allocation and —t+—HIEFERKRAEREF
assessment of segment performance for the years ended 31 BEDEKERLAAHNZIMAE
March 2025 and 2024 is set out below. B B A 5 B 78 T 3R &5 99 &0 48 B

ZERER T

Year ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z_AF=A=1+—HLEE

Milk
Products Logistics Property
Business Business Investment Total
hEEEMER YIRER MERE fst
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET FHET FAT
Reportable segment revenue BYREDHBUA
Disaggregated by timing of NS
revenue recognition Elba)
Point in time [E1:=3 15,574 - - 15,574
Over time BERSRE R - 24,946 - 24,946
Revenue from contracts with RENBERENZ
external customers WA 15,574 24,946 - 40,520
Gross rentals from investment property REMERSEE - - = o
Reportable segment revenue BFREPBBA 15,574 24,946 = 40,520
Profit or loss B
Reportable segment (loss)/profit BYREDE BB
(adjusted EBITDA) %M ({S3BEEBITDA) (188,799) 9,074 2,010 (177,715)
Bank interest income RITH B URA 57
Depreciation e (10,117)
Amortisation i) (1,705)
Finance costs B AR A (3,941)
Gain on financial assets mandatorily JRERATEBEA
measured at fair value through BRTEZEMEEN
profit or loss W 7,192
Impairment losses on non-financial assets ~ JE & B E E 2 RERE (3,030)
Unallocated head office and corporate RN BMERREE
income and expenses other than WA KBS GRITHIE
bank interest income, depreciation, WA ITES 8 R
amortisation and finance costs RUE R ASBRIN (10,017)
Consolidated loss before taxation IRRAIAR A BB (199,276)
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Notes to the Co

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #EZE_Z _RAF=H=+—HIEFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(@)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

Reportable segment assets
Unallocated head office and
corporate assets
— Cash and cash equivalents
— Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
— Other unallocated assets

Consolidated total assets

Reportable segment liabilities
Unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities
— Other borrowing
— Other unallocated liabilities

Consolidated total liabilities

Other segment information

Amounts included in the measure of
segment (loss)/profit or segment
assets:

Net impairment losses of
trade receivables
Net impairment losses of
other receivables
Additions to non-current
segment assets
- Other intangible assets
- Goodwill
- Property, plant and equipment
Fair value gain on
investment property
Provisions for compensation

Amount regularly provided to the
CODM but not included in the
measure of segment (loss)/profit
or segment assets:

Bank interest income

Depreciation

Amortisation

Finance costs

Impairment losses of
non-financial assets
- Goodwill

5. DEEN @
@ POEEE BEKREE®
At 31 March 2025
RZZE_AF=B=+—H
Milk
Products Logistics Property
Business Business Investment Total
MEERER MR MERE Hst
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
BYREDPEE 45,858 49,459 41,263 136,580
RAABEZEMEER
EEE
-RERREEEY 735
—RATEESABRZ
SHEE 12,228
—HthRpEZEE 34
RRBERE 149,577
BYREDHEE 143,867 27,935 131 171,933
AREZBMEER
TEEE
—HtnEE 41,081
—HfhkpizaE 1,697
REBERE 214,711
Year ended 31 March 2025
BE_S-HAF=B=+—HILFE
Milk
Products Logistics Property
Business Business Investment  Unallocated Total
MEBERER LbTES MERE K2 HaEt
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FET
HthnEEr
AR (518)
BAHNHEE
STEZMIE !
B 5 RWIERE
E518738 (22,478) (106) 86 - (22,498)
HAnR WIS RE
bR (4,722) - - - (4,722)
FRBNBEEZ
R"E
—HtnEREE 25,412 - - - 25,412
-HE 11,441 4,971 - - 16,412
—MEBE K& 2,922 36,537 - - 39,459
REME
ANFEEKRE - - 2,033 - 2,033
HERHE (125,220) - - - (125,220)
THRUFTEEEE
REEBRF AN
(B518) /A D &8
BEFEZHE:
RITH B UA 42 14 - 1 57
e (978) (9,139) - = (10,117)
ey (1,705) - - - (1,705)
BB A (47) (605) - (3,289) (3,941)
FERMEEZRHE
E518
-HE (3,030) - - - (3,030)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e MR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BE_Z_hF=-HB=+—HILFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5  DEER @

Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

@ PEEER BEXRERE G

Year ended 31 March 2024
HEZZ_ME=B=+—HILEFE

Milk
Products Logistics Property
Business Business Investment Total
hEBEMER YIRER mELE 45t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
Reportable segment revenue BFREDHUA
Disaggregated by timing of U A BESR R R

revenue recognition
Point in time BBF 93,087 - - 93,087
Over time BEPS R = 1,493 = 1,493
Revenue from contracts with REIBERENZ

external customers WA 93,087 1,493 = 94,580
Gross rentals from investment property REERSEE - - 1,730 1,730
Reportable segment revenue BYREDHBA 93,087 1,493 1,730 96,310
Profit or loss B
Reportable segment (loss)/profit BYREDE (H8)

(adjusted EBITDA) wmH] (A EEEEBITDA) (31,274) 86 1,905 (29,283)
Bank interest income RITH BURA 1
Depreciation e (718)
Finance costs B AR A (4,448)
Loss on financial assets at fair value BRATEESABRZE

through profit or loss MEENEE (5,006)
Impairment losses on non-financial assets ~ JF A E E 2 HERE (3,144)
Unallocated head office and corporate RO BWER R E

income and expenses other than WA KBS GRITHIE

bank interest income, depreciation and WA~ T EE e B S ok AR

finance costs BR5M (5,776)
Consolidated loss before taxation bR AT AR S 5 1E (48,374)
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Notes to the Co

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &Z_—Z " hFE=

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(@)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

Reportable segment assets
Unallocated head office and
corporate assets
- Cash and cash equivalents
— Other unallocated assets

Consolidated total assets

Reportable segment liabilities
Unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities
— Other borrowing
- Other unallocated liabilities

Consolidated total liabilities

Other segment information

Amounts included in the measure
of segment (loss)/profit or
segment assets:

Net impairment losses of
trade receivables
Net impairment losses of
other receivables
Additions to non-current
segment assets
- Property, plant and equipment

Fair value gain on investment property

Amount regularly provided to the
CODM but not included in the
measure of segment (loss)/profit
or segment assets:

Bank interest income

Depreciation

Finance costs

Impairment losses of
non-financial assets
- Property, plant and equipment
- Goodwill

5. DEEN @
@ POEEE BEKREE®
At 31 March 2024
RI2ZME=A=+—H
Milk
Products Logistics Property
Business Business Investment Total
hEEERER MRS MELE Kt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
BYREDPEE 125,896 - 42,077 167,973
RAAEZ BMER
RtEEE
-RERREEEY 30,300
—HEthRDEEE 33
REEERE 198,306
BYREHTEE 44,817 - 664 45,481
KNBLZ @M EE
a3 =N
—HifEE 33,182
—Hithk iz aE 1,410
RAaBERE 80,073
Year ended 31 March 2024
HE_Z-NE=ZA+—HILEEE
Milk
Products Logistics Property
Business Business Investment Unallocated Total
AR mER MIRER MERE Fpaly st
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET FHT FHET FHT
Hia s Ek
AN (518)
mAS D EHEE
STEZMIE !
B SR IERE
E518%88 (25,455) - - - (25,455)
HAnE ISR E
I8 % (1,746) - - - (1,746)
FRBABEEZ
WE
o E G 1,360 - - - 1,360
REMELTEENRR - - 515 - 515
THRMFTEEEE
RREBREADE
(B518) /@A 3 &8
EENEZHE .
RITH B UA 1 - - - 1
e (7117) = = () (718)
= (21) - - (4,427) (4,448)
FERMEEZRE
E518
—M¥E-BRE Rk (983) - - - (983)
—E (2,161) - - - (2,161)

There are no inter-segment revenue during the years ended

31 March 2025 and 2024.

RBEE_ZE_AFK_ZT_/N
F=ZR=+—HLFE"
BRI A ©

T 7 )
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EEMBEHRRMNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z_ZT " AFE=B=+—HILEE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5 AHER @
(b) Revenue from major products and services ) REFEELKRRBEZWA

2025 2024

“ETHEF T ME

HK$’000 HK$'000

TAET FET

Milk powder and foods Wity K B h 15,574 93,087

Gross rentals from investment property & &Y £ H S 4858 - 1,730

Warehouse logistics income BEYTRWA 24,946 1,493

40,520 96,310

(c) Geographical information © HEHREE
The following is an analysis of geographical location of (i) the UTANTEEREBINERZ
Group’s revenue from external customers and (i) the Group’s WA K (i EERNEENE Y
investment property, property, plant and equipment, other *: " BMERZE EMELEE
intangible assets and goodwill. The geographical location UREEZEMED T B
of customers is based on the location at which the services FrEt @ iR ERBHEY
were provided or the goods were delivered. The geographical RERTEMEB D - WEMEMUR
location of investment property and property, plant and ME- -BEREZEZMEMETL
equipment is based on the physical location of the asset BERMEREENBRUEM
under consideration. In the case of other intangible assets and E-mEMEBEFEERHEM
goodwil, it is based on the location of the operation to which SO HEREEES RN EF
they are allocated. EMTRE ©

Non-current assets
(excluding financial

Revenue from external instruments and deferred
customers tax assets)
FERBEE
FEEEMIAR
REMIERZBA RERBEE)

Year ended 31 March At 31 March At 31 March
HE=B=1+—HLEE 2025 2024
2025 2024 —E"RE TEE
“ERE “ZZmE =A=+—H Z=A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FET FHAT FHET
Hong Kong (place of domicile) & (/& {EithZk) 24,946 - 32,368 =
Australia B - 28,852 41,232 41,350
The PRC i 15,574 72,458 33,980 18
40,520 96,310 107,580 41,368
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(d)

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers (a group of entities known to the
Group to be under common control is considered as a single
customer) contributing 10% or more of the Group’s revenue are

as follows:

Revenue from provision of
warehouse logistics services
— Customer A

Revenue from sales of milk
powder and foods
— Customer B
— Customer C
— Customer D
— Customer E

Revenue from property investment
— Customer C

kERHE Y RRE
Z WA
—ERH
REHED N R B R
ZIA
—-BRZ
—%FR
—&FRT
—BRX
REMEREZIRA
—-BFRA

For the year ended 31 March 2

5.

DEER (B

@

AREERRZER

REBMAEERBA10%TEL
EER (REERTHFES
TH—HEERE—XR) 2K
AIF -

2025 2024
—E_RE TR N4
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FET
6,221 =

= 33,905

= 30,269

= 10,970

= 9,678

= 1,344
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EEMBEHRRMNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z_ZT " AFE=B=+—HILEE

6. REVENUE 6. WA
(a)  Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by @ RBRIZEQIRBENIDZ
major products or service lines is as follows: RKEREFEHNZWANT
2025 2024
“ECRE —EmE
HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
Revenue from contracts with REBERMBREEL
customers within the scope of F15REBENRE
IFRS 15 BEREHZIA
Disaggregated by major products or % & & & ol RFS BRI 9
service lines
— Sales of milk powder and —HE D
foods KRB 15,574 93,087
— Warehouse logistics income —B YR 24,946 1,493
40,520 94,580
Revenue from other sources REEHMRRZ WA
Gross rentals from investment property & B4R £ 4828
— Lease payments that are fixed —EEEEN® - 1,730
Total revenue A 40,520 96,310
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by the ¥ U A T 5T B [ e F 3t (& T 35
timing of revenue recognition and by geographic markets are R RBEREHNZAD
disclosed in notes 5(a) and 5(c), respectively. BB 5E5(a) K5 (c)IR B ©
(o) The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised (b)) TREHINARSEHABETH
in the current reporting period that were included in the contract WA &5 ZE SN IRSHY
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period: Bt AGHNEEN
2025 2024
“E"AHEF ZZTOF
HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
Revenue recognised that was RBERVAAEHNEERN
included in contract liabilities at the ~ AYEHESBUA :
beginning of the reporting period:
Sales of milk powder and foods HEMMREH 172 -
() Revenue expected to be recognised in the future arising from () TEMERFREENBSEHBEEE
contracts with customers in existence at the reporting date: HNERESHETDHWA -
All sales contracts with customers within the scope of IFRS 15 HEERMEREELF 155
are for periods of one year or less. As permitted under IFRS 15, HENMBERERAHESN AR
the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is —F U - MBI B E
not disclosed. R BE1SRPTAET R ERE
MENDEMNRZH BRI RIE
Eﬁ‘g o
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OTHER INCOME

Interest income on financial assets measured
at amortised cost
— Bank interest income

Marketing service income

Sundry income

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET

Net foreign exchange loss
Gain/(loss) on financial assets mandatorily
measured at fair value through
profit or loss
— Listed equity securities
Fair value gain on investment
property (note 15)
Provisions for compensation (note 31)

Notes to the Co

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &Z_—Z—

RN AT B 2/
BEMBHA
—RITFBWA

HIEHERBUA

HMIEWA

PERES I8P 4E
BEIEATEBESA
EBRstE22EeREEN
e, (§518)
— EHRAE
KREYENTEE
e (FIzE15)
wEEE (5E31)

HgA

2025 2024
ZETREF —EBUE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
57 1
106 2,900
2,480 260
2,643 3,161

Hies K518 > 758
2025 2024
—E"RHEF —ETUE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
(2,831) (2,408)
7,192 (5,008)
2,033 515
(125,220) =
(118,826) (6,894)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e MR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z_ZT " AFE=B=+—HILEE

9. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting) the
following:

(@)

(b)

(©)

Finance costs:
Interest on other borrowing (note 24(b))
Interest on lease liabilities (note 24(b))

Total interest expense on financial liabilities
not at fair value through
profit or loss

Employee benefits expenses (including (b)

Directors’ emoluments):

Salaries, wages and other benefits

Defined contribution retirement benefits
scheme contributions (note 32)

Other items:
Cost of inventories (note 21)
Auditor’s remuneration
— Audit services
- Non-audit services
Depreciation charges (note 16)
— Owned property, plant and equipment
- Right-of-use assets
Amortisation of other
intangible assets (note 17)
Net impairment losses of
financial assets
- Trade receivables (note 37(a))
- Other receivables (note 37(a))

Impairment losses on goodwill (note 18)
Impairment losses on property,
plant and equipment (note 16)
Expense relating to short-term leases
Rental income from investment property
less direct operating expense of Nil
(2024: HK$86,000) from investment
property that generated rental income
Direct operating expenses from investment
property that did not generate rental
income

RRE R
HMEEZFE (H5E24(0)
HEABEZFE (HE24()

W IR A TEES AR
ZEMAENSHX

ek

EERFRS (BEEE

) :

& TERHEAMER

FE HRR B E
i (P5E32)

HEg .
FEERA (MfsF21)
1% B En A
—ZERE
— IR
EER (fiz16)
—-BEYE BERRE
—ERREE
HitEmREE
iy (MsE17)
SREENE
EIFEE
— B 5 EWEIE (5£37(0)
—HAihpE WIS (i5E37()

BEREEE (ff:t18)
MEBEMRBERESE
(M$3£16)
HSHREAMZ Y
TEREMEZASIA
HEEMRSWANREYE
MEBLERST

(ZZ M4 : 86,0005 7T)
TREERS WAL
BREYEN
BEKERY
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FRIRIRS1R

BRI ATES IR RR 7 (

A UT &

BEIEN

2025 2024
“E"RE “EoE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
3,270 4,427
671 21
3,941 4,448
22,722 6,594
1,685 352
24,407 6,946
9,260 90,836
1,320 930
390 250

421 14
9,696 704
1,705 =
22,498 25,455
4,722 1,746
27,220 27,201
3,030 2,161

= 983

5,927 68
= (1,644)

201 g




Notes to the Co

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &Z_—Z " hFE=

10. INCOME TAX

(@

Amounts recognised in profit or loss:

Current tax BPHRTRIE
— Australia Corporate income tax —REFEEBRMNEE
for the year Frig
Over-provision in respect of prior years  iB{FEEBREEH
- Hong Kong Profits Tax —&5BNER
— Australia Corporate income tax —BEMEEFRER

Deferred tax — origination and reversal of &R IE—EBF = 2B

temporary differences EE K #EE

(note 30(a) and (c)) (F£E30(a) K (c))
Reversal of withholding tax FEIM B E]
Income tax credit FRiSIRIE %R

Notes:

(i

(i

(iv)

The Group’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong are subject to Hong Kong
Profits Tax at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profits for the
year, except for one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying
corporation under the two-tiered profits tax rate regime. For this
subsidiary, the first HK$2 million of assessable profits is subject to tax
at 8.25% and the remaining assessable profits are subject to tax at
16.5%.

No Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for in the consolidated
financial statements as the Group has no assessable profits for the
years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

The Group's subsidiaries registered in the PRC are not subject to the
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) as they have no assessable profit
for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

The Group’s subsidiaries established in Australia are subject to
Australia Corporate Income Tax at the rate of 30% for the year ended
31 March 2025 (2024: 30%).

The Group is not subject to any taxation under the jurisdiction of
Bermuda and the British Virgin Islands (“BVI") for the years ended 31
March 2025 and 2024.

FRiSti

@ B

2025
—E_RE
HK$’000
FHET

TR AR -

2024
—EUE
HK$’'000
FHET

- 212

(326) -

(326) (86)

1,325
= (11,504)

(10,053)

(i

(i

(v)

FEBREBWNBRABDNDRER
EEERR BT URE16.5%
BMEENEKR  EAER—
BAFSRMAGETEER
I EHINE QB BRI o 7 Z I
BABMES B2B8BTZE
BRIR T LU8.25%M IR IR
i H i SRR T LL16.5% K
TR -

BHE_Z_AFER-ZMF
ZA=+—HLEEE x&E
R ERRER  F Lt & R
REPMBMRHREBIER
B o

BHE_Z_AFER-ZMF
ZA=+—HLEEE x&E
RPEELTHRIINEEASTIL
WERREMN > RILEBEZR
FECEMRBR (TREMSB
) o

HE_Z-_RFE=HB=+—H
IEFE > REBMPORMAL LB
WEBAB AU (ZF M
£ 1 30%) BRI b 2
Frig# o

BHE_ZE_RER_T_ONFE
—A=+—HILEE x£H
BEBMERERERELEHE
(TEBERER)) BEEEDN
EfAFRIE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e MR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BE_Z_HE=A=+—HILEE

10. INCOME TAX (Continued) 10. Fri5H @&

148

(b) Reconciliation between tax expenses and accounting loss at

b) MIERMZEEGE IR ERE

applicable tax rate: BREZHIR
2025 2024
—ERE =y o=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FHExT
Loss before taxation FRIRATE B (199,276) (48,374)
Tax credit at the domestic Hong Kong  ##16.5% /15 A& EF SR
Profits tax rate of 16.5% MEFEZRNEBIR S
(2024: 16.5%) (ZEZHE 1 16.5%) (32,881) (7,981)
Effect of different tax rates arising from  E4 B HMRTFEE ?H&E
other tax jurisdictions HNAERENTE (1,989) 63
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses ~ FEIHM AT 2 MRFF L 23,455 2,091
Tax effect of non-taxable income BEZRRBRAZRBLE (2,283) (401)
Tax effect of tax losses/deductible SRR 2 IERS 18
temporary differences AINPRE R ERE Y
not recognised mETeE 13,286 7,072
Utilisation of tax losses previously not — BiFEiBFRERZ
recognised RIAEE (25) (99)
Over-provision in prior years BEFEBREE (326) (86)
Reversal of withholding tax B EE - (11,504)
Others Hith (14) 792
Income tax credit FrigiRik e (777) (10,053)
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11.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Notes to the Co

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &Z_—Z—

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are

as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2025

Executive Directors:
Zhao Lei

(Chief Executive Officer)

(note (i)

Wu Feizi

Gao Peng (Appointed on
31 May 2024 and
resigned on 11
September 2024)
(note (i)

Independent
non-executive
Directors:

Li Chak Hung

Tu Chunan
(Appointed on
25 April 2024)

Chen Jianguo
(Appointed on
15 July 2024)

Cheng Haoliang
(Appointed on
22 December 2023
and resigned on
31 May 2024)

WITES !

HE
(B4 E)
(B 3E()

RIEF

Sk (M2 mE
FRE=+—HEZE
RR-ZZEZME
hB+—HEHD
(B (i)

BIFFRITES !

=210k

HRER
(RZE_MEMA
—+ A BEZRE)

BRIE R
(R-_ZT_MmE
tA+HEAEZRD

(b
(RZEZ=F+=A~
"+ HEZERR
“ENERA
=t+—H#M

1. EEME
RIBFE B A BMEGIZE383(1)F KA E
WEEZFEDER ROE2B DK
BENEEME0OT -
BE_ZHAF=A=+—HLEE
Salaries, Retirement
allowance benefits
and benefit scheme
Fee in kind Bonuses contributions Total
e R BRREF
wE REVAE 4L HE R Mzt
HK$’000 HK$'000 HKS$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHERT FET FHET FERT FAT
- 180 - - 180
180 - - - 180
47 - - - 47
36 - - - 36
8 - - - 8
271 180 = = 451
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EEMBEHRRMNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z_ZT " AFE=B=+—HILEE

11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 1. EEME @
Year ended 31 March 2024 BE_Z_ME=B=+—HLEFE
Salaries, Retirement
allowance benefits
and benefit scheme
Fee .. inkind Bonuses  contributions Total
\ B 2R N BAER \
wE kBT JEAL stEIER st
HK$'000 ~ HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000
BT FET BT BT BT
Executive Directors: HTES
Zhao Lei HE

(Chief Executive Officer) (fTEEH)

(re-designated on RZEB_=FhA

25 September 2023 T HEABBI

from independent EHTES

non-executive Director)  FBE)

(note (i) (3 =EG)) = -
Wu Feizi RIEF 315 - 315
Chen Xu (resigned on 28 [REA (R _Z_=4

August 2023) NBZ+N\BED - 148 = = 148
Independent BIFRITES

non-executive

Directors: .

Li Chak Hung M 180 180
Zhao Lei HZ 87 S 87
Cheng Haoliang (e tn

(Appointed on MRZZB_=&+_F

22 December 2023) T HESZD 39 - - - 39
Choi Kin Man 2RER

(Passed away on (HRZZ_mF

26 January 2024) —B /R BE) 150 - - - 150

456 463 - - 919
Notes: P 5T
(i): Mr. Zhao Lei is an executive Director and chief executive (i) HELEEARANTHNITES
officer of the Company (the “Chief Executive Officer”) and is FioBEE (M7BzEE)) »
responsible for the Company’s day to day management and BEAN NG HEEE L ZEE
the overall activities. o
Under the service contract entered by Mr. Zhao Lei with RIEBEHEIEERNATEIIL
the Company, Mr. Zhao Lei will not receive any sala(r:y or NARB S B8R ER T
director’s fee for the capacity as executive Director and Chief WEE 7 1T & 5 R ITIH4R
Executive Officer. Nevertheléss, Mr. Zhao Lei is an employee S EAF TN EEEE
of an entity (“Service Entity I”) which provides consultancy Ao HREEA—HEE
services to the Group starting from the year ended 31 March (TRFEER) 2 BB &%
2024 and charges service fee to the Company pursuant BEREE _T_E=H
to an agreement entered into between the Company and —T-HIEFEMRERAE
the Service Entity |. The total service fee charged fo the B H AR 75 0 WAR IR &
Group during the year ended 31 March 2025, which has Re)EARFE B ESIE] 7 B ik
not been included in the above table, is HK$600,000 (2024: BAAANBWERERZEE 82
HK$245,000). —_Z-HRE=HF=+—HIL
FEF m A & B IR 75 & 4R
28600,00078 75 (— = _ [ % :
245,000 7t) WA A L
RWeo
(ii): Mr. Gao Peng is an executive Director. Under the service (iiy: BlEEERIITES RiE
contract entered by Mr. Gao Peng with the Company, Mr. = B8 75 & B AR A B 5] 37 I AR
Gao Peng will not receive any salary or directors fee for BEH =5 4 g A UEX
the capacity as executive Director. Nevertheless, Mr. Gao ERIITESZE M EF T
Peng is an employee of an entity (“Service Entity II”) which EEHT AT =k ES
provides consultancy services to the Group starting from —fEEE (RS ER ) Z &
year ended 31 March 2025 and charged service fee to the BrZBERlaE _T " A
Company pursuant to an agreement entered into between F=ZH= H IE & E B
the Company and the Service Entity Il. The total service mAEEREEEHRY
fee char%ed to the Group during the year ended 31 March AR 45 28 2 5] B AR %5 B A |
2025, which has not been included in the above table, is 5] 1L HY 755 ) 2 2 B W B AR
HK$95,000 (2024: Nil). BE-BHE_T_HE=H
= T—HILFERAERK
AR TS B 42 %E95,00078 7T (—
%%EE CE) S MiRFAL
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12.

Notes to the Con

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_—Z—

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

The executive Directors’ emoluments were for their services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and
the Group.

The independent non-executive Directors’ emoluments were for their
services as directors of the Company.

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no emolument was
paid by the Group to the Directors or the Chief Executive Officer as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office.

There was no arrangement under which the Directors or the Chief
Executive Officer have waived or agreed to waive any emoluments
during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, no individual
(2024: Nil) is a Director whose emolument is disclosed in note 11. The
aggregate emoluments of the remaining five (2024: five) individuals
were as follows:

R EMENE
RIREF 5T BIHRR

Salaries and other emoluments
Retirement benefits scheme contributions

The emoluments of the five (2024: five) individuals (who are not
Directors of the Company) with the highest emoluments are within the
following band:

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z%1,000,0007 7T

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no emolument
was paid by the Group to the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office. There was no arrangement under which the five highest
paid individuals have waived or agreed to waive any emoluments
during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

1

12,

“HE=A=1+—HILEE

Ex=ME @

HITEEMEANZIARENERE
RABRALEBER S ETRENR
}’%0

BYFNTESNNERNIARSE
R R ABERFIR AR -

RBE_Z_AFR-_ZE_NF=A
= t+—BLEFEE - AEETERES
WAITEMBHS TN S (FR S B E
PAAER SHERMAREREZ
SRS BER A E

RBE_Z_AFKR-_ZE_NF=A
=+— Etﬁ@ﬁﬁ BmBEBENT
BABEFT AR RNREREEM
Mz 28k

REiE 2 ERAL

TEEAESWNSENALER BRE
BHAL (CEWF 8 HES H
MEEWENRRE-HFTAR CF
“E B @R AT ZMEARER
T

2025 2024
—E-me —Fome
HK$’000 HK$'000
FiER FiET
3,183 2,283
373 90
3,556 2,373

%A (CBIME ER) B

@%Ajﬂi¥$@7§$%zwﬁ
F—THE:

2025 2024
ZEZRE TR TN
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A& ANE

5 5

RBEE_E_RAER_FT_NE=
So— EEEF NERWERASG
Bale@IALZOIME EAE
B EMARER RIEAMAKRE
ERRBNERBE REEZS
ThHERZE_ME=ZRA=+—HL
M1EEE > 7% & e bl & @8 B A T8

BT A RABERE R REREM
Wiz 228k
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e MR AR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z_ZT " AFE=B=+—HILEE

13. LOSS PER SHARE 13. EREE

(a) Basic loss per share (@

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the
loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company of
HK$197,268,000 (2024: HK$38,321,000) and the weighted-
average number of approximately 349,280,000 (2024:
349,280,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year ended 31
March 2025, calculated as follows:

SRENEGE

EREAGEEDIREAATR
R (LA EE518197,268,000
B (T ZEE 38,321,000
BT ERBEE_ZE_RF=A4
Zt+—HLEEEEETZER
B9 N AE T 19 2 49349,280,0008%
(ZZ U4 : 349,280,0008%)
SHEEOT

2025 2024
ZTTRF TN
000 ‘000
T T
Weighted-average number of KEFEELEE
ordinary shares during the year #EFEHE
349,280 349,280
HK cents HK cents
22311 =Rl
Basic loss SRER
per share 18 (56.5) (11.0)
(b)  Diluted loss per share b)) ERIEEHEE

No diluted loss per share for the years ended 31 March 2025
and 2024 is presented as there is no potential ordinary share in
issue during the both years.

HRBE_ZE_HAFR_ZE
“MEZA=+-BLEED
BEETZETEER RUE
2IMETFEzSREERHE

14. DIVIDEND 14. KRE
The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for EEETEBKVEE_S A=
the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024 Nil). B=+—BEFENTEAEREARE C
TTPUF [ M) o
15. INVESTMENT PROPERTY 15. KEYE
Fair value
NEEE
HK$'000
FAET
At 1 April 2023 N _=FMA—H 42,094
Net fair value gain recognised in PiBmER 2 AT EBEW SRR
profit or loss (note 8) (MIzE8) 515
Exchange differences PERZE%R (1,259)
At 31 March 2024 and Tf‘_v “mME=A=+—Hk
1 April 2024 “EUEm™E—H 41,350
Net fair value gain recognised in RiBmEsR 2 A EBEW R TR
profit or loss (note 8) (MFzE8) 2,033
Exchange differences PERZE%R (2,151)
At 31 March 2025 RIZE_RAFE=A=+—H 41,232
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Notes to the Co

INVESTMENT PROPERTY (Continued)

Fair value adjustment of investment property amounting to gain of
HK$2,033,000 (2024: HK$515,000) is recognised in the profit or loss
and is included in “other gains and losses, net” as “Fair value gain on
investment property” (note 8).

The Group leased out an investment property under operating leases
during the year ended 31 March 2024 and the investment property
was vacant during the year ended 31 March 2025. The leases typically
run for an initial period of three years, with an option held by lessees
only to extend the leases beyond initial periods and all terms are
renegotiated. None of the leases includes variable lease payments.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the
lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the respective
functional currencies of group entities. The lease contracts do not
contain residual value guarantee and/or lessees’ options to purchase
the properties at the end of lease terms.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group’s investment property of
HK$41,232,000 (2024: HK$41,350,000) is pledged to the lender for
the Group’s other borrowing (note 28).

Reference is made to the Arbitrations in note 31, further to the
handing down of the Arbitration Awards (defined in note 31) and
an application made by IFC, the Federal Court of Australia issued
a freezing order (the “Freezing Order”) against Willis Trading, GA
Investment and GA Australia Trading Pty Ltd (“GA Trading”, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of GA Investment) (collectively “Freezing Order
Respondent(s)”) on 2 May 2025, whereby it is ordered that, among
others, each Freezing Order Respondent must not remove from
Australia or in any way dispose of, deal with or diminish the value of its
assets in Australia and throughout the world up to the unencumbered
value of the award debt amounting to AUD3,687,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$17,885,000) (the “Award Debt”). The investment
property located in Australia is one of the assets of GA Investment and
hence is subject to the Freezing Order. Considered that the Freezing
Order is issued to the Group after the end of the reporting period,
the fair value measurement of investment property does not take into
account the implication of the Freezing Order as there is no restriction
on the sale or use of the property at the end of the reporting period.

Fair value measurement of investment property
(i) Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s
investment property measured at the end of the reporting
period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair
value hierarchy as defined in IFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement”
(“IFRS 13”). The level into which a fair value measurement is
classified is determined with reference to the observability and
significance of the inputs used in the valuation technique as
follows:

15.

whi 3
For the year ended 31 March 2025 BZE—ZE_h&E&E=-H=+—HILEE

rREME @

REVMENATEERAERZSRD
2,033,000/ 7T (ZZ M4 : 515,000
ABrT)  WEGER TR REY
EQNTEBEURE ST TE IS KA
838 (EEs) °

SAEBRBSERENEE-S
EZR=Z+—HBLEEEHHEREY
X O MBREVEREE_TS _HF=
B=Zt+—BHLEEEHE -HENTA
GFERIPBEEAZF  ABARNGE
BB EESERY BRMAER
PFHEFEE ZEHEMESEY
BB

AR ARENERERBAMIIES
BEHE HitA BT EABE 2
MmAEIINERE - HESNTESH
REBEREWEABARBERR
BAMENEEZRE-

A E_RERE S _NE =
B=+—H XxEBENKEY
41,232,000 T (& =

RALEEBNEMBE (MiFE28)

IR SIS B EHEIR
(E&RMIE31) B HIFCIRH B
BRAMGEHMB AN _E-_AFH
BZHHEHNHEZE S GA Investment
K:GA Australia Trading Pty Ltd (TGA
TradingJ > —MIGA Investmentfy 2 &
MEBAR) RiBIEERGESEHAL
BHEERES (BEERES)) &
ES (EHPEE SNEERGS
BERATREBIRAF EEB UM
FREEREENBAFAERERS
HMWEES RV EEBE UFHRED
3,687,000 7T (185574 4917,885,00078
7o) (ERER) 2 EBKaREES
LR U B AR BRI EYESCA
InvestmenttVE E 2 —> EILZEER
ELHRB-ZEINEERGSLTIINR
EHRFREARERZEY  ARRSH
FUEBHHENERAZWE > QL
EYEN R FEBEFELEAKREE

RESHR &
REMENATEENE
) RAFEEER

TRENAEEREYENR
THREEENREESBL Y
BR=ZESHRATEERR (E
ERERYHREERF135%
Mr P EEE (BERFHR
HERE135)) NAFEE R
TEESEBDEZERLSE
il (B B i P 5% AR ) A BB 2 7]
BREEREZUMEENT :

B « —E_AFER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EEMBEHRRMNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z_ZT " AFE=B=+—HILEE

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (Continued) 15. KEWE @
Fair value measurement of investment property (Continued) GEYEN AT EETE @)
() Fair value hierarchy (Continued) )  AFEEER G
- Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level - F—ihfEE AFEEE
1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets A S — 4 A 8iE st
for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date 2 INstE0HREEE
HEERERTSZ KL
R E
- Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 — FETREE N FEEEIFR
inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level BE _fEm ABEt=
1, and not using significant unobservable inputs. BIRFEE—RZAIERE
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data are EAEE WA NNMEARE
not available ERTHERBAZBET T

ARRBARBRELE
SHBREEZBARE

= Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant — FDHEE AFEER
unobservable inputs RBERBRREARE
2

Fair value measurements as at
31 March 2025 categorised into
RIZEZHF=B=+—HZAFBEHENES

Fair value at
31 March
2025 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
NIZTZHE
=A=+—H
ZATEE E—R FEHR B
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHERT FHET FHET
Recurring fair value REMERATEEN=Z
measurement
Investment property LSRN Z
located in Australia =LY/ E 41,232 - 41,232 -
Fair value measurements as at
31 March 2024 categorised into
RIZEZNFE=A=+—HBZAFEESENEA
Fair value at
31 March
2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
RIEZmE
=H=+—H
ZNTEE E—MH B B4R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FHET FHET
Recurring fair value REMATEETE
measurement
Investment property IR BEMNZ
located in Australia KEYE 41,350 - 41,350 =
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Notes to the Co

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #EZE_Z _RAF=H=+—HIEFE

INVESTMENT PROPERTY (Continued)
Fair value measurement of investment property (Continued)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, there were
no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into
or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers
between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the

reporting period in which they occur.

The Group’s investment property was revalued as at 31
March 2025 and 2024. The valuation was carried out by an
independent firm of valuers in Hong Kong, Norton Appraisals
Holdings Limited, who have among their staff member of
Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors with recent experience in the

location and category of property being valued.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and

best use of the properties is their current use.

(i) Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair value

measurements

The fair value of investment property located in Australia is
determined using market comparison approach by reference
to recent sales prices and rentals achieved of comparable
properties on a price per square meter basis using market data

which are publicly available.

The Group’s management has discussion with the valuers
on the valuation assumptions and valuation results when the
valuation is performed at each interim and annual reporting

date.

There were no changes to valuation techniques during the years

ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

15.

rREME @
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RFEEER (B
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e MR AR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BE_—ZE_HAF=RB=+—HILFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. ME -BEKHRE
Properties Office
leased for Furniture ~ Leasehold  equipment Motor
ownuse and fixtures improvement and tools vehicles Total
HERK HERK MARE
HENE EEXE HEREE RIA "E a5t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT TAT TET TET TER

Cost [H%N
At 1 April 2023 RZ_E-=FMA—H 2,759 48 - - - 2,807
Additions B 1,348 12 - - - 1,360
Exchange differences ERER S 2 - - - @
At 31 March 2024 and R _B_ME=F=+—H

1 April 2024 R_E_MEMA—H 4,107 58 = = = 4,165
Additions B 37,890 64 166 - 362 38,482
Acquisition of subsidiaries  YtEEHI B AF

(notes 38() and (i) (B £E380)Reii)) = 486 148 168 175 977
Exchange differences ERER 21) © (1) - = (24)
At 31 March 2025 RIZEZHF=B=+—H 41,976 606 313 168 537 43,600

Accumulated depreciation Rt ERHE
and impairment

At 1 April 2023 RoB-=£ME-—R 2,420 27 - - - 2,447
Charge for the year AEEYH

(note 9(c)) (Fft29(c)) 704 14 - - = 718
Impairment losses RIBER PN

recognised in profit BUEBE

or loss (note 9(c)) (MzE9(c) 983 - - - - 983
Exchange differences ERER - (1) = = = (1)

At 31 March 2024 and RIE_ME=F=+—H

1 April 2024 MZEZMEMZ—H 4,107 40 - - - 4147
Charge for the year AEELH

(note 9(c)) (i Z9(c)) 9,696 135 139 56 91 10,117
Exchange differences ERER ) (1) - - = ©)
At 31 March 2025 RIEZHE=F=+—H 13,796 174 139 56 9N 14,256
Carrying amounts EEETE
At 31 March 2025 A _E_HFEZRA=+—H 28,180 432 174 112 446 29,344
At 31 March 2024 RZE_MFE=F=+—H - 18 - - - 18
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Notes to the Co

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &Z_—Z " hFE=

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
Impairment assessment

The Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (the “CGU") of the Milk Products Business and the Logistics
Business to which the assets belong when it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount individually, including allocation
of corporate assets when reasonable and consistent basis can be
established.

Impairment assessment of the CGUs (containing property, plant and
equipment (including right-of-use assets), other intangible assets and
related goodwill) is disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements. Based on the results of the assessment, impairment
losses of Nil (2024: HK$983,000) has been recognised in profit or
loss against the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment
(including right-of-use assets) and included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income during the
year.

Right-of-use assets

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by class of
underlying asset is as follows:

Properties leased for own use, HERNEEYE
carried at cost less depreciation LURK A 3T B8 e
and impairment BETER

16.

I~ BRBs Rkt (D)
FAEEF

EmZENGEEENTWEEE
B AEBGEHNEEREBRY
MEBFBREELEMN ((REeE
EE) WA REIEEE > BIEERN
BUYGER—BNEREDREXSE
Eo

REeESXEN (BaVE - BEARE
(BEERAEEE) HUEFEEK
AR WRETER GRS FRE
MIsE187 I B o IRIFFTEAE R BFtY
¥ BEARE BEFEHARER B
REEREGZTRIRESES (CE
PO : 983,00057T) © st AZASEE
NizaEREREMEERERS

ERREE

RIEREESRN B NN EREEER
EFEDNUT :

2025 2024
ZEIRE =S 8=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
28,180 =
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BE_—ZE_HAF=RB=+—HILFE

16.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in profit
or loss is as follows:

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets

by class of underlying asset: HEEZINEER .
Properties leased for own use HERNEEME

Impairment losses of right-of-use assets

by class of underlying asset: HEEZRERBIE !
Properties leased for own use HERNHEEYZE
Interest on lease liabilities HEaGZiE

(note 9(a)) (FF5%9(a))

BISHIEE A2

Expense relating to short-term leases

The Group has obtained the right to use certain properties as its
office, warehouse and parking spaces through tenancy agreements.
The leases typically run for an initial period of 2 years. None of the
leases includes variable lease payment.

The Group also entered into short-term leases for office, warehouse
and parking spaces. In addition to the portfolio of short-term leases
for office which are regularly entered into by the Group, the Group has
accounted several leases for office, warehouse and parking spaces
as short-term leases during the year ended 31 March 2025 as these
leases are with lease terms ends within 12 months of the acquisition
date when the Group acquired these subsidiaries during the year
ended 31 March 2025. As at 31 March 2024, the portfolio of short-
term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the
short-term lease expense disclosed above.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, additions to right-of-use
assets were HK$37,890,000 (2024: HK$1,348,000), which is related
to the capitalised lease payments payable under new tenancy
agreements.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity analysis of
lease liabilities are set out in notes 24(c) and 27, respectively.

Lease liabilities of HK$28,553,000 are recognised with related right-of-
use assets of HK$28,180,000 at 31 March 2025 (2024: lease liabilities
of HK$991,000 and related right-of-use assets of Nil). The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security
interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased
assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.
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OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Cost
At 1 April 2023,
31 March 2024 and
1 April 2024
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 38 (i)
Additions
Exchange differences

At 31 March 2025

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 April 2023,
31 March 2024 and
1 April 2024
Charge for the year (note 9 (c))
Exchange differences

At 31 March 2025

Carrying amount
At 31 March 2025

At 31 March 2024

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_—Z—

“HE=A=1+—HILEE

17. HtEFEE

Licenses and

know-how
SOl 58 R Al
HK$’000
TAET
[N
RIZE=FMA—AQH-
ZEINFE=A=+—HkK
“ENEMNE—H -
W EE M B A B (B 5E38(i)) 25,363
RE 49
PERZERE (68)
ATE_RAF=RB=+—H 25,344
Rty
RIZEZ=FM@M/—H-
ZEINF=A=+—HkK
“EUFEN™BE—H -
AEEZTH (FI5E9(c)) 1,705
PERZERE (14)
RIE_HE=B=+—H 1,691
IREE
AR RFE=A=+—H 23,653

N TE_ME=R=+—H

The amortisation charge for the year is included in “administrative
expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Included in licenses and know-how is an amount of HK$23,610,000
(2024: nil) representing the carrying amount of Value-Added
Telecommunications Business Operating License, also known as the
“ICP License” and Online Culture Operating License, also known as
the “ICB License” acquired in the year ended 31 March 2025. The
licenses entitle the Group to conduct its Milk Products Business via
e-commerce in the PRC as the operation of an e-commerce related
business involves internet information service and online performance
under applicable PRC laws and regulations, which the Group is
required to hold the relevant license to carry out such business. The
net carrying amount will be amortised over the remaining estimated
useful lives of 11 years.

Impairment assessment of CGU (containing property, plant and
equipment (including right-of-use assets), other intangible assets with
finite useful lives and related goodwill) is disclosed in note 18.

FEEZHHBRFAGGETERA
theEmWEERZ THEM] -

;#ﬂ%ﬁ&&ﬁﬁ@}%zs,mo 000 7T (=
T_NE E) CRE_SE_RE=
B=Z+—BLEEERMKBZIMESE
¥R 8 (N RETICPEFRIEE ) M
Wi L&l ss (RRE TICBEFAJ
B NEEE AR EEERNTR
FRRARKEEFEFARERY
EREMBEERER G EEL mA
EEBRBEMITIE A ETHR
% MZEHFUELAEBEER
FESEEFHRCEENBERE
o lREFER NGt ERE
A1 EREY -

REELBEU (BaYE -BBEMR
(BEEPERE) ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ—lﬁﬁﬁ
FHZHEMEBTEERABEE) 2R
BEFTEIR M 18RI R o
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z_ZT " AFE=B=+—HILEE

18. GOODWILL

Cost
At 1 April 2023,
31 March 2024
and 1 April 2024
Acquisition of subsidiaries
(notes 38(j) and (ii))
Exchange differences

At 31 March 2025

Accumulated impairment losses
At 1 April 2023
Impairment losses during

the year (note 9(c))

At 31 March 2024
and 1 April 2024
Impairment losses during
the year (note 9(c))
Exchange differences

At 31 March 2025

Carrying amounts
At 31 March 2025

At 31 March 2024

ERER
RIZEZHE=A=+—H

REtRESE

RZE_=FMA—H

FRRERSE
(FfEE9(c))

RZF_ME=-A=+—H
R_Z_MEME—R
FENRELE
(MI=E9(c))
ERELE

RIZEZH&E=A=+—H

REE -
A _E_HEZRA=+—H

A ZE_ME=A=+—H

Impairment assessment for CGUs containing goodwill

In addition to goodwill, property, plant and equipment (including right-
of-use assets and allocated corporate assets) and other intangible
assets that generate cash flows together with the related goodwill are
also included in the CGUs for the purpose of impairment assessment.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs is determined based on
value-in-use calculations which require the use of assumptions. The
calculations for Logistics Business CGU use cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management of the Group
covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period
are extrapolated according to a constant 3% growth assumption
for terminal value. These growth rates are consistent with forecasts
included in industry reports specific to the industry in which the CGU

operate.

For the Group’s Milk Products Business CGU, as the Group derives
revenue from sales of milkk powder and foods through the operations
of internet content providers with the use of licenses and know-how
which are estimated to have useful life of 12 years, the calculation
for the Milk Products Business CGU use cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management of the Group
covering a five-year period, with the forecasted period after 5 years
up to the eleventh year adopting a growth rate not exceeding the
market expected growth rate of 3%. The financial forecast of the
Milk Products Business CGU covering a eleven-year period prepared
by management is considered appropriate for the milk powder and
foods e-commerce in China which takes into account the historical
experience and expected industry operating cycle.
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18. W&
Milk
Products Logistics
Business Business
CGU CGU Total
HEEREH WRERS
REELEQ REELE[ ezt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT FTHERT HIT
2,161 - 2,161
11,441 4,971 16,412
31) - (31)
13,571 4,971 18,542
2,161 - 2,161
2,161 - 2,161
3,030 3,030
5,191 - 5,191
8,380 4,971 13,351
%];?;.@EEEETE (BEEd) &ETTRE
FRm &4 BARR R ELRE
MBI R K BIEERAE
BEREDRNT2EE) UREME
T EERBET G AREE
HE e
BeEs B REIS A E R E
AEENEE T ShREEEARES
B LR RS A B BEA
HensBA ARAEANLERAE
& 12 HE 80 = 1 E R O B 7
BEEH L EBEB 2 HERE
R BRI MC%E T IE & KRR
Hog s ERm R HIH
ﬁ%i“ﬁ%@ﬁ&?%%ﬁ%ﬁm
7
MAEENDEEREBREELS
fifis AR AEEABEBERND
HFE R A 5T 1) 58 e iR AT A S i e
BREEEMERRKA  MZ Lo
55 R B WA 5 126 > B 5t
BinEESER RS ET B RRE
ERAEEESEEH AN HE R TR
BN BFEEEEHNRES A=A
MsFEBEE+—FNTER A EHRA
NBBTIHTEARIG R EI%N IR R o
PEEMmESFREEETBUNYEE
AHEREERERN+—FHR
WHABETENNEERET
oW B st RIBIERRRFARTES
EREAR-
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whi 3
For the year ended 31 March 2025 BZE—ZE_h&E&E=-H=+—HILEE

18. GOODWILL (Continued) 18. BE W
The following table sets out the key assumptions: TREFEE®HR
At 31/3/2025 At 31/3/2024
RZE_EE=A=+—H R ZEMNFE=A=1+—H
Milk Milk
Products Logistics Products Logistics
Business Business Business Business
CGU CGU CGU CGuU
HEERER YImER DEELRER b
REEFEN REEEFEQN RELEQN FREEEQ
Growth rate (%) 12 R (%) 28% t0 98% 3% to 8%
28%%98% 3%E8% 1% N/A B
Pre-tax discount rate (%) AT AGIR (%) 29% 17% 19% N/A NEHR
Budgeted gross margin (%) FBEEFE%) 8% t0 10% 9% t0 24% 3% 10 5% N/A R H
8%ZE10% 9%ZE24% 3%E5% N/A REFR

Management determined budgeted gross margin based on past
performance and its expectations of market development. The growth
rate was determined by the management based on expectation of
the market development and the business development of the CGUSs.
The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect the current market
assessment of the time value of money and specific risks relating to
the relevant CGUSs.

For the Logistics Business CGU, the recoverable amount is
significantly above the carrying amount of this unit. Management
believes that any reasonably possible change in any of these
assumptions would not result in impairment.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group’s performance was
adversely affected by the economic downturn and the Group’s Milk
Products Business incurred a significant loss. Based on the result
of the assessment, an impairment loss of HK$3,030,000 (2024:
HK$3,144,000) is recognised for the Milk Products Business CGU
within the Milk Products Business segment and is included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as separate line items, which included impairment losses on
goodwill of HK$3,030,000 (2024: HK$2,161,000) and impairment
losses on property, plant and equipment of Nil (2024: HK$983,000).

As the Milk Products Business CGU has been reduced to its
recoverable amount of HK$40,527,000 at 31 March 2025, any
adverse change in the assumptions used in the calculation of
recoverable amount would result in further impairment loss. If the
discount rate is increased by 0.5%, while other parameters remain
constant, the recoverable amount of the Milk Products Business
CGU would be reduced by HK$1,024,000 and a further impairment
of goodwill and/or other assets in this CGU of HK$1,024,000 would
be recognised. If the budgeted gross margin is 1% lower, while other
parameters remain constant, the recoverable amount of the Milk
Products Business CGU would be reduced by HK$7,484,000 and
a further impairment of goodwill and/or other assets in this CGU of
HK$7,484,000 would be recognised. If the budgeted growth rate is
3% lower, while other parameters remain constant, the recoverable
amount of the Milk Products Business CGU would be reduced by
HK$5,196,000 and a further impairment of goodwill and/or other
assets in this CGU of HK$5,196,000 would be recognised.

EEERBEEERREETHEEYN
RPEEREEN K - BRRTIHE
EEREATSERNABHANESE
TEMUNEBERIBERETE FAER
BIRLIR R B M ARG IR &> W K BRE Al
THEHEEEREERERREES
BASE Rz

M MEBRESELEUMS > T
CEHEESNZEUNKEE  §E
BRE EAZFHEINEFNFED
BEEEI TS ERURME-

REBEE_E_AF=-RA=+—HILE
B> K%l%fﬁmﬁl KR TITHARA
HERAEANEEREFHEEA
BB RBETEER MEEREED
ﬁﬁmﬁﬂtﬁiﬁﬁuﬁﬁﬁﬁiiﬁuﬁﬁ
R AR 183,030,000 T (Z B

4 1 3,144,000E5T) > WIS A B
Hih2mWREXREBIIIER ’EEP
BIEE 2R EE 183,030,000 7T (
T PO 2,161 ooo;%m)&#@%
%&uxﬁmﬁﬁﬂaﬁﬁ(_ﬁ EE
983,0007& 7T) °

HRMEERERRSES BN
E_REZRA=+—HBNIKREEEE
B&ZE40,527, ooo%ﬁ’ BRI eE
% %8 85 B 9 {3 28 1O 1 ) R R 2 3 %
BEE— S R ERE - AR IREIE M
0.5% MEMSHERIFAE BIHE
ERE(FRESELEBUNYKROIEEE
# R 101,024,00058 70 0 WHEFLILIR &
EEBUNEER REMEERD
¥E—FRET,024,0008 T HTEEE
MERD1% MEMSHRIFTLE
B EE RERBSEEEMNMNTTIR
B4 2B R /L 7,484,000 7T > A6 HE 7
ﬁtiﬁﬁﬁiﬁuﬁﬁﬁﬁ&/‘jﬁf‘mé
ERESRE— 2 B {E7,484,00058 7T © {#
%E%'t*'ﬁ </ 03% » T ELfH 2 BUiR

At B ERERIRSESEEM
649 BT U [5] % 2B 9535105, 1 96,0003 7T »
LTS ELBELNHER R
HhE ERIE— P 585,196,000/

JT ©

B « —E_AFER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EEMBEHRRMNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z_ZT " AFE=B=+—HILEE

18. GOODWILL (Continued) 18. HE @
During the year ended 31 March 2024, due to the dispute with the REBEE_Z-_MF-B=+—HIF
major supplier of the Group which the Group lost the major source of EoAlNEAERNTIEHEREL
the milk products, the purchase and sales volume of the Group’s milk W SAEBXEPRERNTIE
products declined significantly and the Group suffered an operating SRR 2 £ M 48 A o B9 BB 8 B A 18
loss. For the year ended 31 March 2024, goodwill related to the Milk T SRAERHRESERE 8F
Products Business CGU amounting to HK$2,161,000 has been fully —E_NE=H=+— FE B
impaired and impairment amounting HK$983,000 had been allocated DEEMERReETBURMANG
to property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets) to £2,161,0008 7T EXBURE » BiRE
the extent the carrying amount of the asset is not reduced below the 983,000 T ENELEY X BB KRR
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal, its value in use and zero B (EECRAEEE) EEENRE
and the amounts of impairment losses are set out in note 16. BRFRERNEATEBRLER
HEABERSzREE BEE
BRI E16-
As at 31 March 2024, as the Milk Products CGU had been reduced KRB _ME=B=+—H By
to its recoverable amount of HK$20,332,000, and the goodwill and HEmRTELEUSRMIOEHTIR
related property, plant and equipment is fully impaired, any adverse [ #620,332,00078 7T, > LA K2 7 2 e 4
change in the assumptions used in the calculation of recoverable CHENEV R ot At ]
amount would not result in further impairment losses. Accordingly, no Y [] < &8 {65 F3 B9 (R 5% BV {F fa] A~ F1) 24 Eh
sensitivity analyses was performed by the management for 2024. RAEERE— DRI ER S FLL
BEEBR ST NEFAETHRE
Pife
19. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURE 19. NEERFEER
2025 2024
—EBRE TN
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET 7T
Cost of unlisted investments ReghEZRETRE
in joint venture Z A = -
Share of post-acquisition profits and FE(S B B I8 18 H ) K
other comprehensive income Hin2mhism - -
Details of the Group’s interests in the joint venture, which are AEENSERENER (G HEN
accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial REMBHREAR ZEBOT

statements, are as follows:

Proportion of ownership interest and voting rights

BERRERRFENLA
Group’s
Form of Place of Particulars of effective
Name of business incorporation issued and interest and Held by Held by
joint venture structure and operation paid up capital voting right  the Company a subsidiary  Principal activity
FEEER
RELELH EBRER AMAIKEENE BEORARRAHE EaRRERE FARRE  MBRAIRE TEEH
Bubs Supreme Incorporated Australia AUD100 49% - 49%  Advertising, marketing and distribution
Partner Pty Ltd of infant nutrition products
Bubs Supreme BaiA bl 10087 49% - 49% BE EHERIBEREER
Partner Pty Ltd
The shares of Bubs Supreme Partner Pty Ltd are unlisted whose Bubs Supreme Partner Pty LtdBI B 15
quoted market prices are not available. Wk B W mEERME
Bubs Supreme Partner Pty Ltd was established by the Group with Bubs_Supreme Partner Pty LtdF 7z &
Bubs Australia, a major infant products manufacturer in the Australia. BN T 22 R E MRS EBubs
Bubs Supreme Partner Pty Ltd entered into a trademark licence deed Australiat [ A 3Z ° Bubs Supreme
with Bubs IP Pty Ltd, a subsidiary of Bubs Australia, and was granted Partner Pty LtdE £Bubs ‘Au‘straliaE'\J
by Bubs IP Pty Ltd an exclusive, royalty-free and sub-licensable i A E)Bubs IP Pty Ltds] 1 @iZ5T
licence to use the trademarks with the name “Bubs Supreme” (the B 224> WHEBuUbs IP Pty LtdiSfH
“Bubs Trademarks”) in the PRC, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan REEB R KRS EFERBubs
for the purpose of advertising, marketing and distributing the infant Supreme J 1% (TBubs@Eifz1) BB SR ~
nutrition products manufactured and supplied by Bubs Australia or its SR EE R &R el A
affiliates. SES S EiE R D HBubs Australia
REBBARRERHENERESR
an °©
Bubs Supreme Partner Pty Ltd has not commenced any operation Bubs Supreme Partner Pty Ltd s A& B
and there is no summarised financial information to be disclosed. ZE%E > B FEFE AR B BB R AT IR
% o
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21.

Notes to the Co

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE"ZE " AF=H=+—

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT 20.

OR LOSS

BATEESABDZ SMEE

2025 2024
—E"hHEF —E a4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FHET
Listed equity securities in Australia FOBRN EZ RS
not held-for-trading (IEFIEES 12,228 -
The carrying amount of the financial 23| A&IERBIEEZAFEESA
assets at fair value through profitor ~ EHZ SREBE>
loss presented as non-current assets  BREIE 12,228 -

At the date of subscription and at 31 March 2025, the Group intended
to hold the investment in 48,477,509 ordinary shares of Australian
Dairy Nutritionals Limited (the “AHF Shares”) for long-term strategic
purpose instead of held-for-trading.

The Company undertakes not to sell the AHF Shares to third party
at anytime within 12 months from the date of the issue of the AHF
Shares to the Company.

ARBEHHERR_ZE_HEE=A
=+—8> > AEEEK K Australian
Dairy Nutritionals Limited 48,477,5098%
ZER (TAHFRR S ) N ERERE
HEEER MIEFIEESE -

A B EEE B R AR A B EITAHFR G
ZBE12E8 ANERERE T
55 =77 HEAHFER D ©

INVENTORIES 21. #&
2025 2024
—_E"RHE RO
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Milk powder and foods T KB G
— Merchandise — 78 & 315 9

The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense
and included in profit or loss is as follows:

ERRAXLABRENEFESED
T

Carrying amount of inventories sold BEGFEREER

2025 2024
—E-RAE —EINE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
9,260 90,836

All of the inventories are expected to be recovered within one year.

FrEEERERR —FRWE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EEMBEHRRMNEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z_ZT " AFE=B=+—HILEE

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22, B RHME
2025 2024
“EHE Sl 5= 5
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FHET
Trade receivables, net of loss B RUNEIE IR B R E
allowance (note (i)) (B =)
— Contracts with customers —BFR&HN 2,846 84,312
— Operating lease receivable —REHERKFIE - 565
2,846 84,877
Other receivables, net of loss HMEURRIE I FRES B3 E
allowance (note (i) (B i) 1,439 22,230
Rental deposits (note (ii)) HEE (%) 3,618 203
Other deposits Hihigs 3,274 421
Financial assets measured at RHER At EZ
amortised cost TRMEE 11,177 107,731
Other tax recoverable Hh W B 18 294 =
11,471 107,731
Representing: Hrp:
Current TRED 8,060 107,528
Non-current JETRE 3,411 203
11,471 107,731
At 1 April 20283, trade receivables from contracts with customers (net AR —FMNE—H RBEFRA
of loss allowance) amounted to HK$162,079,000. K2z B EWEIE QUREEEE) &
162,079,00078 7T ©
Except for the rental deposit of HK$3,411,000 (2024: HK$203,000) FRIEBER —FEURKEIZAERE
which is expected to be recovered after more than one year, all of the 3,411,000 7t (ZZ M4 : 203,000
trade and other receivables are expected to be recovered within one BT I BB S R EMERRIETE
year. AR —FRHURE -
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Notes to the Co

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE"ZE " AF=H=+—

22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes:

(i) Aging analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the aging analysis of trade receivables
based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

0 to 30 days 0ZE30H

31 to 60 days 31E60H
61 to 90 days 61ZFE90H
91 to 180 days 91F180H
181 to 365 days 181E365H
Over 365 days 365H L £

(i

(i)

Trade receivables from contracts with customers are due within 0 to 180 days
(2024: 90 to 180 days) from the date of billing. Further details on the Group’s
credit policy and credit risk arising from trade receivables are set out in note
37(a).

Operating lease receivable is due monthly.

At 31 March 2025, included in the Group’s trade receivables balance
are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of HK$52,967,000 (2024:
HK$84,309,000) which are past due at the reporting date. Out of the past due
balances, HK$52,967,000 (2024: HK$84,309,000) has been past due 90 days
or more, with HK$52,967,000 (2024: Nil) is considered as in default with the
remaining balance of Nil (2024: HK$84,309,000) is not considered as in default
as Nil (2024: HK$62,243,000) are repaid after the end of the reporting period.

Rental deposits are typically paid for leased properties, which are refundable
after the expiry of the leases.

At 31 March 2024, included in other receivables there is receivable of
AUD3,640,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$18,580,000) due from IFC,
which was subject to the Arbitration, details of which are set out in note
31. Such balance was originally a prepayment made by the Group for the
purchase of goods from IFC. Upon the termination of purchase contract during
the year ended 31 March 2024, the prepayment is refundable to the Group
and is reclassified as other receivable. At 31 March 2024, the management
of the Group considered the other receivable would be settled upon the
conclusion of the dispute with IFC.

For 2025, pursuant to the Arbitration Award granted by the ACICA (defined
in note 31), IFC may have recourse to the AUD3,640,000 in satisfaction of
the amounts ordered to be payable by Alice Trading, to IFC. Accordingly, the
management of the Group considered such other receivable of AUD3,640,000
would not be recovered anymore and therefore write off the receivable against
the provision provided by Alice Trading (note 31).

22,

B 5 REAMAERTRIR (8)
GEE
0 REDIH

BERSHKR REZZHHANEZE
WRRIE GO R B R BERE DT

T
2025 2024
ZZTAHE —EmE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
1,538 568

927 -

361 -

20 -

- 54,019

- 30,290

2,846 84,877

REFEREMZEZRKREBLRK
HEREEH0E180H (CE N4 : Q0E
1808) NEIM-AEEEEBRNE S
B HREEENEERRNE—FF
BRI IIEEST(a) °

REHERWRIESAZ M-

RZIZEZRAE=A=+—H & &
ENESREARBELEROIERER
E752,967,0008 7T (T MO :
84,309,000% 7T) MR > BRAIRR
RESOHEAR REAREH
552,967,000 7T (ZZ Z N4 .
84,309,00038 7T) BE#HA90H MU L
52,967,000 7T (Z2NF  T)
RABEHN BTHEBRT (CEMmE:
84,309,000/ 7t) KR AEL > BEZ
T (TR TIU4E 62,243,000 7T) AR
HHRBEE

(i) HERESBEDMREEMESM AR
HEFHERTLURE

(i) RIBZME=A=+—H HiEK
TRIE 6% FEWLIFCHY3,640,0002 7T (18
£120#918,680,000/87T) » ZEMIALIE
AP ERIE > S IE R 5E31 - BRI
HRAZEBERIFCEESYWAMELN
EAR-REE_S_NE=A=+—
HIEEERIEBEAN® BARKER
BYAERTHEHDEAEMMEIR
ABoPRZZZMFE=F=+—H &
EEBERER A HithEKTRIER R
IFCHIAl M AERBAEE -

A" HERIBACICA (EER
MEE31) EHBI P& R IFCAIB R
3,640,000 7 LUBEEBMEZHE
EAZIFIFCHRE It AEEE
204 3,640,000 70 A A RE H 1t FE

W RR IR A B BT A [B] » 3 R I 1E 22 BB A
B 5 B R s R UGR IR (f5E31) ©
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AR e MR AR MEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z_ZT " AFE=B=+—HILEE

23. PREPAYMENTS

Prepayments to suppliers B FE R H B TR 7B
Other prepaid expenses HhENMAZ

All the prepayments are expected to be recognised as inventories and
expenses within one year.

24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH FLOW
INFORMATION

a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

Cash at banks and on hands ~ $RfTIR& R FERS

Cash and cash equivalents Rl o)
stated in the consolidated MR R
statement of financial position #&ZEREFERARZ
and consolidated statement HERRE
of cash flows Z£EY

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates.

At 31 March 2025, cash and cash equivalents situated in
Mainland China amount to HK$759,000 (2024: HK$1,129,000).
Remittance of funds out of Mainland China is subject to relevant
rules and regulations of foreign exchange control.

ALPHA PROFESSIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED e Annual Report 2025

23, FE{IFIE
2025 2024
—ECRE —BE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
3,963 -
695 186
4,658 186
FRAETENREERE R —ENRELR
AEEKRMAL
24. BRERRSEBEYREMRE =

BH

a) REMRSFEVEE:

2025 2024
“EZhREF TENE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
10,701 47,277
10,701 47,277

RITREBZENESHIETER
GIES: S IRIES: SIS

R_E_RAE=B=+—H"K
FEAENRESRBESEEBY
#759,0008 7 (ZTZHE -
1,129, ooo/%ru) o [ FH B Ay 3t BE
REEBEETHEBINEEHIR
ElJEzﬂ%%



Notes to the Co

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &Z_—Z " hFE=

24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH FLOW
INFORMATION (Continued)

b)

c)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

At 1 April 2023

Changes from financing cash flows
Adjustment from lease modification
Interest expenses (note 9(a))
Exchange differences

At 31 March 2024 and

1 April 2024
New leases
Changes from financing cash flows
Interest expenses (note 9(a))
Exchange differences

At 31 March 2025

Total cash outflow for leases

24, BRERATFEVRAMBRTRE

BH @

b) REEBELNSEHER

Lease Other
liabilities borrowing Total
HE&E HtEE it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEr TEr TER
(note 27) (note 28)
(fyzE27) (Ffyz£28)
A_E"ZFNA—H 347 47,544 47,891
MERERELH (725) (17,483) (18,208)
REREEITNAE 1,348 = 1,348
FISEES (5E9() 21 4,427 4,448
ERER - (1,306) (1,306)
A_E-NE=B=+—H
RZE-_NEME—H 991 33,182 34,173
WiHE 37,890 = 37,890
RERSRELE (10,989) 6,730 (4,259)
FISRZ (3E9(a) 671 3,270 3,94
EREH (10) 2,101) 2,111)
RIEZHAFE=R=+—H 28,553 41,081 69,634

Amounts included in the consolidated statement of cash flows

for leases comprise the following:

Within operating cash flows
Within financing cash flows

EREREREN
TRERESREN

All the above amounts relate to the lease rentals paid.

o AREENERERH

MEEFAGRERERERZ

HIEBENTEE !
2025 2024
—EIRE =T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
5,927 68
10,989 725
16,916 793
EXFERBELENEERS

HRie
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AR e MR R EE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BE_Z_hF=-HB=+—HILFE

25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 25, B RHEMEMNRIE
2025 2024
“EHE Sl 5= 5
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TFAET
Trade payables (note (i)) B 5 FEARIE (MisE()) 28,680 28,861
Payables for marketing and P E R EERS
promotion expenses - 11,800
Other payables Hh I FRIB 2,961 1,237
Accruals g4z 3,699 1,854
Salary payable 3NE A 1,577 1,220
Financial liabilities measured at BEENRASTEC2EMEE
amortised cost 36,917 44,972
Deposit received Bz E 256 381
Other tax payable HME[RIE 41 5
37,214 45,358
All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled within FrEEZ REMENRIBEREBLREN—
one year or are repayable on demand. FRESZNHBREREER-
Note: BdsE
[0) Aging analysis 0] RIS DA
As of the end of the reporting period, the aging analysis of trade payables R|ERFR  REBELSZHHNE ZEN
based on the invoice date is as follows: MIEBMERE DATUT -
2025 2024
ZZRHE —T U
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
0 to 30 days 0Z30H 578 =
31 to 60 days 31E60H 49 =
61 to 90 days 61ZE90H 12 =
91 to 180 days 91Z180H 571 =
181 to 365 days 181ZE365H 51 =
Over 365 days (note) 3650 LU L (FfiEE) 27,419 28,861
28,680 28,861
Note: [
At 31 March 2025, the Group recognised trade payables due to IFC ?ﬁ:g:ﬁﬁzzﬁ =+—B F%EE®
amounting to AUD2,665,000 (2024: AUD2,665,000) by Willis Trading 5% 4 80 51 54 55 PR IFCH0 54 53 /B (4 R0UR
and AUD2,988,000 (2024: AUD2,988,000) by Alice Trading, totalling \2,6§51000>§3E (ZFZ U4 £ 2,665,000
AUDS5,653,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$27,419,000 (2024: @Z:) &E%@%%%%Jﬁﬁi{ﬁchmg%%
AUDS5,653,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$28,856,000)), which are the F i’RIEZ,?SéiOOO‘,Eén (:%Z\IEI:*’-E 3
outstanding debts that are claimed by IFC in the Arbitrations (note 31). 2,988,000:87) (& 55,653,000 7T (18

£R#927,419,0005870) (ZZT U4
5,653,000 7T (155572 #728,856,0007%
7)) ZEFIBEAIFCRZEMET R
ERIRERBER (HF:E31) ©
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26.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Receipt in advance

Notes to the Co

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &Z_—Z—

FAWRRIE

At 1 April 2023, contract liabilities amounted to Nil.

Certain customers are required to pay deposits when they place the
sales order, which resulted in contract liabilities until the Group delivers
the products and the customers obtain control of the products.

Movements in contract liabilities:

Balance at beginning of the year REEY 2 &k
Increase in contract liabilities EFEUEE & EY B
as a result of billing in advance BREHN
of sale of goods =)

Decrease in contract liabilities as a AR AR FEEER
result of recognising revenue during R EREHIFIE A

the year that was included in the BHEBEANKA

contract liabilities at the beginning HREH

of the reporting period a&RLD

(note 6(b)) (Mt 5E6(b))
Balance at end of the year REERZ &R

The contract liabilities are expected to be recognised as income within

one year.

aH8E
2025 2024
—2THF —ZT U4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
- 172

RIBZ=_FNA—H sHNaEs

o
=<

ETERARTEHETERIAET

& RSN (EEAERARNERE
EREREHERNENRER 608

E o

BHBEES !
2025 2024
ZECRE —Z=omE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
172 -
- 172
172) -
- 172

BEHNBERBEHBN —FRERANK
Ao
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BE_—ZE_HAF=RB=+—HILFE

27. LEASE LIABILITIES 27.

At 31 March 2025, the lease liabilities were repayable as follows:

RIEBE_RFE=ZR=+—H HE&
BEEBERRNT :

Within 1 year —FR
After 1 year but within 2 years —FBEMER

REERZEEF

Balance at end of the year

The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities range from
3% to 5% per annum (2024: 3% per annum).

2025 2024

“ERE —TTmE

HK$’000 HK$'000

TET TR

19,251 675

9,302 316

28,553 991
BEKEESERNEEGENEN

FEEIBESY (T _EEF gF
3%) °

28. OTHER BORROWING 28. HMEE
2025 2024
“EZhF TE g
HK$’000 HK$’000
TAET FHET
Repayable within one year and BR—ERNEER
contains repayment on demand BRBEX
clause BBIER 41,081 33,182

On 23 June 2023, Willis Trading, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, as the borrower entered into a supplemental loan
agreement with the third-party lender (the “Lender”) to extend the loan
facility (the “Loan Facility”) of the other borrowing for one year from the
original maturity date of 15 June 2023 to 14 June 2024.

The other borrowing of AUD6,500,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$31,081,000) and HK$10,000,000 (2024: AUD6,500,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$33,182,000) and Nil), at variable
interest advanced from the Lender is repayable on 14 June 2024.
Before 5 July 2023, the other borrowing bears interest at higher of
12% per annum or variable interest rate of the aggregate of 6.75%
per annum and prime rate. At 31 March 2025 and 2024, the other
borrowing bear interest at the higher of 8.5% per annum or variable
interest rate of the aggregate of 2.5% per annum and prime rate.

The other borrowing was guaranteed by the Company and was
secured by debentures created by the Company and Willis Trading,
respectively, of a first fixed and floating charge over each of the
Company’s and Willis Trading’s undertaking, property and assets as
security for the due payment of all monies payable under the Loan
Facility.
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RIEZ=FEBZ+=H>&1H
HiEz2ENB AR EHTESEAE
RANRBF=FEHRA BFH AL 5T

—PERHEARE BEMEBEENR
& (Mm#E) BRIIBHIZEZ=FX
B+EHIEER—EFEE_ZT-_NEXA
+rmA-e

KEEFRARIBIH XA EZ
HE 56,500,000 7T (HHZE R4
31,081,0007 7t) 5210,000,0007 7t (=
T4 : 6,500,00002 7 (BBERY
33,182,000 7T) &%) AR _Z -
FRETHRHEBE - R_ZE_=F+
BAHBA HthEERENFT12%3,
FEREE.7T5N R RESFE M F
BAERSESFE - RIE__HFE
E_E_NE=ZR=+—H = Hfhfg
BERENEKSLSUHEFNR2.5%A R
BERNEZMZEHFE RS ES
Bo

HthEERARBFEER LUAER
BREHMBESMERSBNES M
ERBEEMDANRILNE —BEE KT
IR EEE IR (FREIAX
REE T AT A B RIBRIER
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_—Z—

OTHER BORROWING (Continued)

On 12 October 2023, GA Investment, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Willis Trading, entered into (i) a mortgage to create the pledge of
its investment property located in Australia to the Lender (see note
15); (i) a security deed to undertake as security for the due payment
of the secured money payable under the Loan Facility; (iij a deed
of guarantee and indemnity to guarantee the payment of all money
payable under the Loan Facility. Willis Trading also entered into a
mortgage with the Lender to pledge all its interests in shares of GA
Investment to the Lender.

On 11 June 2024, Willis Trading as the borrower entered into a third
supplemental loan agreement with the Lender to extend the Loan
Facility for one year from 14 June 2024 to 16 June 2025.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, on 7 May 2025, the
Lender, served letters to each of Willis Trading, as the borrower, and
the Company, as the guarantors, as a result of the failure to pay
interest of approximately HK$337,000 accrued on the outstanding
principal amount of the Loan Facility in April 2025 by Willis Trading,
demanding that (i) all outstanding loan principal amount and all
interest accrued thereon (the “Indebtedness”) and all other sums
payable under loan agreements shall immediately become due and
payable; and (i) payment of the Indebtedness as at 7 May 2025
of AUDB,500,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$32,630,000 at
7 May 2025) and HK$10,662,000. As Wilis Trading failed to repay
the Indebtedness on 9 May 2025, the Lender served a letter to GA
Investment, as the guarantor, on the same date demanding the
repayment in full of the Indebtedness on or before 12 May 2025. Up
to the date of the approval of these consolidated financial statements,
the Group did not settle the Indebtedness, which is now carried
default interest rate of 11.5% per annum until the full settlement of
the Indebtedness, and the Lender could proceed with enforcing the
security and obtain possession of the investment property.

28.

“HE=A=1+—HILEE

Hitfg & (@

AZE=F+A+ZH ESHE
SME2EMNBATGA Investments] iL
(328> LB ERARILEURBEMNZ
KREYENER (BIE15) ;(i)ER
L ARSI OIMEBETNENE
(RAEAERR ; Ki)iER R ERE
AENMEBETAAAERMRBEEHE
fRo#EENMBE F I B AT L1218
BB ANERERGA Investmenti&
AR EER o

R TR NERB+—H #EEBHE
GIEBBRANRERANTULE=ZDHE
TERWZ FREB - ZOFEN
Bt+OHIER—FE_ZE_AF/~H
+7xB-°

EREPERB - N_E_EEE/+
Ho HRESNTESZRENR S A
EMAXfIRMEREEACESTFE
#9337,0008 7T BERA B E S
(EBEBHAN) Lx&zl:’zla (EA#E
RA) BHEMR > BXROFMBRER
I=EN Zk%&ﬁFﬁEWEqu?F'Jé' =3
B URERBEBETHREEMRE
IRIEBREFEE ; R(IiIVEETRZE
— AR Bt A% A& &6,500,0002
T ZIBE_AERRtHBZENKY
32,630,000 75) £210,662,0007% 7T ©
HRMHRESREN _S_AFH
BhBEZEZa® EXAREEB
GA Investment (1EZ& IR A) 35 {44
RKoBRR _B_REREA+"HxK
CHESEEZEB BEEAGEH
BHRERAEZH AEBERBEEZ
a8 BREIFNEASE11.5% B
EXRHBFEZEBEAL MERAA

BETERFRRBRSZREDEDN
PREME
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z_ZT " AFE=B=+—HILEE

29. DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION 29, RAEENEE
2025 2024
“EHE Sl 5= 5
HK$’000 HK$’000
TFAET FET

Analysed for reporting purposes as:  FLIREBHI DA -

Non-current liabilities JERENBE 422 =
Total
4zt

HK$’000
FET

At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and RIE_=FmHA—H-ZZEWF
1 April 2024 —B=+—BR-_Z_MEMBE—H =

Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 38iii)) W RE BT B A B (M 5E38i)) 422

At 31 March 2025 RIZ2ZHFE=R=+—H 422

The provisions relates to government-mandated long service payment. BEARARENERBRE AR

30. DEFERRED TAX 30. IRIEFRIE
(a) Deferred tax assets recognised (@ CEERZIERLEREEE

Credit loss

Decelerated allowance of
tax depreciation  trade receivables Total
RRRIEINE EEHEBRE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT FET
At 1 April 2023 RZZE_=FNA—H - 1,354 1,354
Charged to profit or loss (note 10(al) RBEMNE (IE100) - (1,325) (1,325)
Exchange differences EREHE - (29) (29)

At 31 March 2024 and RIEZME=F=+—Hk

1 April 2024 “E_ENA—H - - -
Credited to profit or loss (note 10(a)) AR (EE10(@) 64 - 64
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 38(1) WeEE T 2 =) (HIE38() (43) = (43)
At 31 March 2025 RIEZHE=B=+—H 21 - 21
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 &Z_—Z " hFE=

30. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

(b)

Deferred tax assets not recognised

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has estimated unused
tax losses of approximately HK$62,937,000 (2024:
HK$19,721,000) and other deductible temporary differences
of HK$53,223,000 (2024: HK$35,018,000) available for offset
against future taxable profits of the entities in which the losses
arose. No deferred tax was recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil)
since it is not probable that future taxable profits against which
the losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax
jurisdiction and entity. Expiry dates of unrecognised tax losses
are as follows:

Tax losses of HK$20,908,000 (2024: HK$1,181,000) with expiry
dates are disclosed in the following table. Other tax losses of
HK$42,011,000 (2024: HK$18,540,000) and other deductible
temporary differences may be carried forward indefinitely.

2027 TECAHE
2028 —ENE
2029 —EAE
2030 —E=Z|AF

30. RIEFIE @

®)

—E_RE
HK$’000

REER ZBIEIRIRE &

A _E_RE=BA=+—8"
AEBGHARBAREBELY
62,937,000/ 7 (Z T P94
19,721,000 7T) R EAM AT
[ B B 2= §853,223,00058 7T (&
T P4 : 35,018,000 7T) A
HIRHEEBE TR ARAKE
BREM R ZE_HE=HA
=+—08 > BRERREEERE
BREEHYAOEHRTAR
IESE RSB 2 R AR FERIRE A i)
TRELGETHERRIE DR
IEERIE (CZ N4 © ) ok
RIEEENIHENT

TR IEE51820,908,000# 7T (&
Z U4 1,181,000/ 7T) REEF)
AR TRIFE -HiRIEEIE
42,011,000t (ZZT M :
18,540,000 7T) K EAth el 08k
TR AR ERAfAE S o

2025 2024
ZENFE

HK$'000

THET THET

565 572

93 91
2,480 518
17,770 =

20,908 1,181
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE_ZT—

BE=RA=+—HLEFE

DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Deferred tax liabilities recognised

At 1 April 2023,
31 March 2024 and

1 April 2024 “EUFEm™E—H
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 38iii) BB B B A B (P 5E38(i))
Credited to profit or loss (note 10(a)) sFABE (HEE10())
Exchange adjustments PE R eR R

At 31 March 2025

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards.

Under the Corporate Income Tax Law of Australia, withholding
tax of 30% is imposed on dividends declared in respect of
profits earned by the Australia subsidiaries.

At 31 March 2025, temporary differences relating to the
undistributed profits of subsidiaries amounted to HK$3,132,000
(2024: HK$4,696,000). Deferred tax liabilities of HK$940,000
(2024: HK$1,409,000) have not been recognised in respect
of the tax that would be payable on the distribution of these
retained profits as the Company controls the dividend policy of
these subsidiaries and it has been determined that it is probable
that these profits will not be distributed in the foreseeable
future.
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KRZ2Z=FHWA—H-
“ETMF=—A=+—HkK

IRFERRIE (45)
(@] EEEUL‘Z@L&IEQ{E

KRZE-_AF=R=+—H

@

Fair value
adjustments on
other intangible

assets upon
acquisition of
business

U Bl 2 75 B
HthEEEEN
N EERE
HK$’000

FHT

5,876
(387)
(12)

5,477

RERDZIBEIRAA R

RBERECERBRE BZE
ENEFE-B—HE SHENS
ABIFTBREAYEF] B RAR S
REATREIR o

TR BMN 2R PRISHE » BUBN
B RS BIRAENEIRRE
B > ZABARB0%MTRINGR

A ZE_RFE=B=+—H"
BB A B RO IKEA A B
B E%8743,132,0005 7T (2

Z U4 : 4,696,00057T) © B
READEHNZEMBATN
Be BN AR E X R A BT AE
TERE B9 K B R 5
Dk SRR R T FE A A 89

TR 1B HE 52 4 3E 7R TE & £5940,000
Bt (CTE U4 @ 1,409,000%
7o) °©



For the year ended 31 March

31. PROVISIONS 3. B

2025 2024
ZEIRHF —E g
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

Analysed for reporting purposes as: MBEENDHA !
Current liabilities mEIEE 101,849 -
Provisions for
compensation
HEEE
HK$’000
FHET
At 1 April 2024 RIZZMFEMAE—H =
Additional provisions made (note 8) TEH RV ERSMERE (F5E8) 125,220
Set-off against the other receivables (note 22(iii) &84 = thFEURIE (it 5E22ii)) (17,655)
Exchange differences ERERE (5,716)

At 31 March 2025 RZIZZHAF=A=+—8 101,849
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BE_—ZE_HAF=RB=+—HILFE

31. PROVISIONS (Continued) 31. #BE®
On 19 July 2023, Willis Trading and Alice Trading, both indirect N_E_=—Ft A+ hH #HHE
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, noticed that two notices SGRERMHES BAKXABRZEES
of arbitration (the “Arbitration Notices”) from IFC, a wholly-owned E B A E) B E R EBubs Australia
subsidiary of Bubs Australia and the then supplier of the Group, were Z%ﬁMﬁE@T&ﬂK%@EﬁZ@%
filed to the Australian Centre for International Commercial Arbitration EIFCH MR & B (TMhEBEH)
(“ACICA”) for requesting arbitrations regarding the outstanding BRXERAFGEABRE BRSO
debt due by Willis Trading and Alice Trading, respectively (the (F ARFEEEEmEHRHEAP O
“Arbitration(s)”). The Arbitrations were accepted by the ACICA on 26 BEBRDAMESNTESIRERME
July 2023. IFC claims Willis Trading and Alice Trading for outstanding SRR KEBEREBETHER (T2 (F)
trade payables of totaling approximately AUD5,653,000 (note 25), W)  ZEHREN T I=FLA
losses and damages of AUD34,200,000, costs and expenses of ZtHAABERRMCEEEEHPES
Arbitrations, interests and other relief. As at 31 March 2024, other DRI IFCERESNE ZRERBHK
than the recognised trade payables of approximately AUD5,653,000 B 5 X T #4851 495,653,00078 7T A9 R AT
(equivalent to approximately HK$28,856,000), no provision was made B S EMRIE ([5E25) ~ 34,200,000
in the consolidated financial statements for the other claims made by BOoTHIBLEE - ZEHHZIERK
IFC against the Group, as the management of the Group considered I -FIEREMEBEN - KRZZ2 N
not probable that the Group would lose the Arbitrations that would FE=-A=+—H BREEINEZE
result in the Group to be required to settle the losses and damages TR IE#5,653,00002 ¢ (BBERE
claimed. 28,856,000/ 7T) S » ANEEE I R FL AR

B BRRABMFCHAERRHNE
tREFLEE RESAEEEE

BRBAEBRRZFMEMFMAL
TTFE?TE%ES’EPTEE’JTAE’IiTﬁ°

On 28 April 2025, ACICA handed down the awards in the Arbitrations RIE-REMNBE —+/\B BXF
(the “Arbitration Awards”) and ordered that Willis Trading and Alice TEEEERRPOMZERIE
Trading breached the sales and purchase agreements with IFC and HEBR ((ZEREBR) RDEES
therefore are required to settle the trade payables of approximately HESREBMEZIERAIFCEIIL
AUD5,653,000 due to IFC. In addition, Willis Trading and Alice NE &% BRILAEZ T XAMIFC
Trading are required to pay IFC () the losses and damages, costs and B & 5 eI R IE495,653,00008 7T ©
expenses of Arbitrations, and pre-award interests of approximately Lo 4NN E 5 & ?L BHEZE
AUD1,022,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$4,958,000) and BIFCEM(I)BREE -ZEMFEZ
AUD23,614,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$114,546,000), EARARES U RERA %' 5 3 Bl 9
respectively, and (i) post-award interests on the outstanding amount 1,022,000/8 7t (#8552 494,958,000
calculated at 2% to 10% per annum from the date of the Arbitration HBIT) ’&23,614,00008 7T (HBEMRY
Awards to the date of payment. 114,546,000 70) ; K(i)FR =B Z

EHBEBCREABREMRBRBFERNE
2%E10%st BRI ERBFIE

As a result, provisions were made by Willis Trading and Alice Trading At #ESHESZREBMEZERN
for the best estimate of the expected settlement under the Arbitration HIFCHEZAUNBRNZEMEE
Awards in relation to the trade dispute with IFC. Willis Trading and RIEBTEPRSZ O ARENREGBER
Alice Trading recognised the aggregate provisions of approximately BE - BHE_ZT_RAFE=ZHA=+—H
AUD24,636,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$125,220,000) in EFE #HTEBEFRERAESE
“other gains and losses, net” as “provisions for compensation” (note 8) RITEME S REEE BEE) PrREEE
for the year ended 31 March 2025 for the losses and damages, costs &£ 4924,636,00008 55 (FHE R
and expenses of Arbitrations, interests and other relief that would be 125,220,000/ 7T) 4 M EREH) (s
required to settle the Arbitration Awards. 8) AR EZMMRAZEMRHEERARNTE
TANBLBEE - ZSEMHMR2EAR
S M B R E AR
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PROVISIONS (Continued)

Pursuant to the Arbitration Awards granted by the ACICA, IFC may
have recourse to the AUDS,640,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$17,655,000) (note 22(ii)) in satisfaction of the amounts ordered
to be payable by Alice Trading to IFC. Accordingly, the Directors
considered such other receivable of AUD3,640,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$17,655,000) would not be recovered anymore and
therefore write off the receivable against the provision provided by
Alice Trading.

Accordingly, as at 31 March 2025, the aggregate provisions
recognised by Willis Trading and Alice Trading amounted to
AUD20,996,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$101,849,000).

Further to the handing down of the Arbitration Awards and an
application made by IFC, the Federal Court of Australia issued a
Freezing Order against Willis Trading, GA Investment and GA Trading
on 2 May 2025, whereby it is ordered that, among others, each
Freezing Order Respondent must not remove from Australia or in any
way dispose of, deal with or diminish the value of its assets in Australia
and throughout the world up to the unencumbered value of the
Award Debt. As at 31 March 2025, the main assets of Willis Trading
and its subsidiaries comprise an investment property, being a land
parcel in Australia together with all buildings and structures erected
thereon, which carried at HK$41,232,000 at 31 March 2025. The
other current assets of Willis Trading and its subsidiaries amounted to
HK$2,078,000 at 31 March 2025.

Further on 2 June 2025, Alice Trading received a statutory demand
(the “Statutory Demand”) from the solicitors acting on behalf of IFC
pursuant to Sections 178(1)(a) or 327(4)(a) of the Companies (Winding
Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Chapter 32 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), demanding Alice Trading to pay, among others,
the judgment debt of Alice Trading under the Arbitration Award of
the Arbitration between IFC and Alice Trading (the “AT Arbitration”),
interest and IFC’s costs for the AT Arbitration (the “Debt”). According
to the Statutory Demand, Alice Trading is required to pay the Debt
within three weeks from the date of service of the Statutory Demand
on 2 June 2025, failing which IFC may present a winding-up petition
against Alice Trading. Up to the date of the approval of these
consolidated financial statements, the Debt is yet to be settled.

31.

77 o = |
For the year ended 31 March 2025 BZE—ZE_h&E&E=-H=+—HILEE

BE @

TR IR A F 28 B R g B b 3 P O PR
BIE% % 3 #OR > IFCTE] 1B 23,640,000
BT (B F4917,655,00058 1) (s
22(iii)) " LUBEEBRH4EZWH TR
FTEFIFCHFE AL EEBAE B
R E 1th FE L FR1E3,640,00008 7t (1
R #917,655,00078 7T) & R EB UG I
KL 72 B BB 44 B 55 135 1 TP I B ULk
I8 o

At -R-_BE_FE=ZB=+—8>
HHHESRERME R BRNE
#4858 7420,996,0008 75 (HEZ R4
101,849,000 7T) ©

BEZEMEFRERAIFCIRERER
AN BB ERN _S_RERA
_HEEHIRE S GA Investment
GA Trading®Z HEERAE S BILES
(HEhEiE) BNBERESETHA
TERBEAN ER Y UER S R E
BREERBEAMNGE TR HNE
ERVEBE USRER 2 EBER
BEEEALR -RBE_HE=
—t+—H SN ESRERB AT
ZEFEEERFE-—BREWE B
RBEAMGEZ —i@tiR R E FE 2
BEFRERY) ENTTETRE=
B=+—HZEREEA41,232,000%8
T MBS RAERBAT ZEM
REBEER_ZE-RHE=B=+—8
#2,078,00058 7T ©

Ioh RZB-HEAA R BE4
B WEIRRIFCITENEMBIEEE
ERIEIENT (BBERMIEE) 1§
B E178(1)(a)8Y 55327 (4) ()1 25 HAY 3%
EEREEEZ (DEAEEREEE)) »
EREB#B SN (HhaiE) 2B
H$ESIRBIFCEABEBME S 2 M
HOEBEHEBERMhE) NRSHEE
RTZHRE F ERIFCIRE B4
BomEbzEm (MEF)) ~RigE
EEREBEZ BERMHEZAREE
EREEEXREAR_S_AFAA
“HEst = BRXAER > TRIIFCH
EOHEEBMEZREBEREREHE B
ERGREMBERRMLEZR  BHD

RBE-

B « —E_AFER
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32. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS 32. ERRAEH

Defined contribution retirement plans EEBETURIASTE

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF KEBRBEEEAFTIELABEENE
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes B2 EBREENEE2ZERES
Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the RIUAFIEAREESHE (MBS
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a defined ) - RBEEHBNEZHBIUZEAE
contribution retirement plan administered by independent trustees. B CTREMAERE RIZRES
Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each FEEENREESBHEREESR
required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ B AZ5% M st 8IfEHEZ &R
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of BREAWA Z ER%A30,00078 7T © 51 2|
HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately, and there is =0 B BF BF B8 0 It A 208 U AR AT {4
no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group to reduce REBMABLURERA HARKF-

the existing level of contribution.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members KEBZHENBAB ZEBEHAF
of a state-managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the BNEEZBERAEMNE 2K
government of the PRC. The subsidiaries are required to contribute BoZENBRABARHFMBESZ 21
a specified percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefits EEDLERRAKREFFEIER BE
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with AEAMNEHRES AEBHEEREBRNK
respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the specified EBAHHEZETEAERIEEZMH
contributions. ;o

No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution payable 4 B2 WA BRSO RE B R R
in the future. The retirement benefits scheme contributions of the MR- BE_E_FER_TNE
Directors and staff of the Group for the years ended 31 March 2025 —BA=t+—HLEFEZEERAER
and 2024 are stated in notes 9(b), 11 and 12, respectively. BB 2 BIREBF s8I D 5 & KT

579(0)~ 11120
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34.

Notes to the Con

COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2025 2024
“EhHEF “ETuE
Notes HK$’000 HK$jOO_O
B 5 FHET FHET
Non-current assets ERENEE
Investments in subsidiaries KRB ARZKE 10 10
Financial assets at fair value BATBESAEEZ
through profit or loss TREE 12,228 =
Amounts due from subsidiaries Ll NI 48,212 56,504
60,450 56,514
Current assets MENEE
Other receivable H AU R IE 35 33
Amounts due from subsidiaries NIV 124 31,749
Cash and cash equivalents HEKRIREEEY 569 30,163
728 61,945
Current liability mENE A
Accruals and other payables FEsT BB R EME[RIE 1,460 1,180
Net current (liabilities)/assets wE) (BaE) S BEERRE (732) 60,765
NET ASSETS BETFH 59,718 117,279
Capital and reserves BARKGHE
Share capital A3z 34(p) 435,252 435,252
Reserves fa%{ﬁ 34(a) (375,534) (317,973)
TOTAL EQUITY T AEEE 59,718 117,279
CAPITAL AND RESERVES 34, BXRKEE
(@)  The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of @ XEBERSE SRR EPANN
each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out FE ) F & B9 Y BR #0Y
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of RoHmE YN
the changes in the Company’s individual components of equity B9 18 B %8 5L 2B 0 1L E ¥ e
between the beginning and the end of the year are set out FERNEHFEHRINWT
below:
The Company P ATl
Share Accumulated Total
premium losses reserves
B 158 Reth1E AR
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
FHET FAET FET
At 1 April 2023 RoE-=#mA—H 592,019 (881,114) (289,095)
Loss and total comprehensive  AEEHER
loss for the year 2HEBIBEE - (28,878) (28,878)
At 31 March 2024 and RI2ZHF=A=1+—H
1 April 2024 E-E-MEMA—H 592,019 (909,992) (317,973)
Loss and total comprehensive  ZEEE ?EIEZ
loss for the year 2 HEEBEE - (57,561) (57,561)
At 31 March 2025 RIE-ZHEE=A=+-8 592,019 (967,553) (375,534)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_—Z—

“HE=A=1+—HILEE
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34. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

4. BEK#E @)

(b)  Share capital b BB
Number Amount Amount
of Shares equivalent to equivalent to
EESN BER
BRI EE Ex ] ]
US$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Authorised: EE
At 1 April 2023, A_E_=FM/A—H-
31 March 2024, ZEZIME=ZB=+—H"
1 April 2024 and 31 March “ETHFMA—HE
2025, ordinary Shares of “ERAFE=A=+—H
US$0.16 each SREEC.16ETHLER 625,000,000 100,000 778,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRERE
At 1 April 2023, RIZE-=FmA—H-
31 March 2024, “ETME=ZB=+—H"
1 April 2024 and 31 March “2INHFMA—HBHR
2025, ordinary Shares of “EHF=A=1+—H
US$0.16 each SREEC16ETHEER 349,280,383 55,885 435,252

HEREREAEEERT R EIK
WiRERERRARTD KRG L
BEMES—REROHKR—F -5

The owners of ordinary Shares are entitled to receive dividends
as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per
Share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary Shares rank
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equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.
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34. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Share premium

Share premium arose from the issuance of Share by the
Company at prices in excess of their par value, and may
be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares. The
application of the share premium is governed by section
40 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

(i) Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policy set out in note 2(z).

Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that they
can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders, and maintain an optimal capital structure
to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The
Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the payment
of dividends, issue new shares, buy-back shares, raise new
debts, redeem existing debts or sell assets to reduce debts.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the net debt-to-
equity ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by
total equity. Net debt is calculated as total liabilities less cash
and cash equivalents. Total equity comprises all components
of equity (that is, share capital, share premium, foreign
currency translation reserve, and accumulated losses) and
non-controlling interests.
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34. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued) 4. BEARKiEHEE @
(d)  Capital management (Continued) d BREEEG
During 2025, the Group’s strategy, which was unchanged REBRZZZ A FNHREIE
from 2024, was to maintain the net debt-to-equity ratio at the BRI TS R o ZL‘%EI
lowest as possible, in order to secure access to finance at a NEBAFEBEFEEER
reasonable cost. The net debt-to-equity ratio at the end of the ERNDEFHRENKTE LXEET%
reporting period is as follows: UEERAEBSES NREH

o BEBPEERELLRNT

2025 2024
HK$ 000 HK$’000
FAET FHET
Total debt BERE 214,711 80,073
Less: cash and cash equivalents B IRERIBEEEEY
(note 24(a)) (MiEE24(a)) (10,701) (47,277)
Net debt BEFE
204,010 32,796
Total (capital deficiency)/equity (B4 HEmieEE (65,134) 118,233
Net debt-to-equity ratio BEFEHEERLER (313.2%) 27.7%
According to the Listing Rules, at least 25% of the Shares Rk EMRE RID25%RDFE
should be held in the hands of the public. Saved and except for HARANLHEEB BREIX Tt E
the aforesaid, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries b RABIHEE R B AR
are subject to externally imposed capital requirements. ZANER RGN0 2 B AR E PR 0
35. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 35, [EERGHEETE
The Company had adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option KRBERZEZZEFABNBEE
Scheme”) at the annual general meeting held on 8 September 2020. TZREBEARZ ERMBIREE
The Share Option Scheme became effective on 8 September 2020 (rgﬁﬁx% FTEI) - BRESIHRCE
and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for ZZEFAANBRER BRBITECH
10 years from that date. FETIN B EAZ AR T F

182 ALPHA PROFESSIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED e Annual Report 2025



35.

Notes to the Con

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BZE—ZE_h&E&E=-H=+—HILEE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are set out as below:

Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to incentivise and
reward participants who have contributed to the Group and to
encourage participants to work towards enhancing the value of
the Company and its Shares for the benefit of the Company and
its Shareholders as a whole.

Participants

The participants are any directors (including executive directors,
non-executive directors and independent non-executive
directors), Shareholders and employees of the Group and any
advisers and consultants of any member of the Group who the
Board considers, in its sole discretion, have contributed or will
contribute to the Group.

Total number of Shares available for issue

The number of Shares which may be issued upon the
exercise of all share options granted or to be granted under
the mandate of the Share Option Scheme was 31,436,038
Shares, representing 10% of the issued Shares as at the date of
adoption of the Share Option Scheme and approximately 9% of
the issued Shares as at the date of this annual report.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each grantee under the Share
Option Scheme (including both exercised and outstanding
options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
Shares in issue for the time being, unless approved by the
Shareholders.

Period within which the Shares must be taken up under an
option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme at any time during the period to be
notified by the Board to each grantee upon the grant of options,
such period which shall not exceed 10 years from the date
of grant of the relevant option. Options granted during the life
of the Share Option Scheme shall continue to be exercisable
in accordance with their terms of grant after the expiry of the
Share Option Scheme.
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35.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are set out as below:
(Continued)

Vi.

Vii.

viii.

Minimum period for which an option must be held before
it can be exercised

There is no general requirement on the minimum period for
which an option must be held or the performance targets which
must be achieved before the option can be exercised, under the
terms of the Share Option Scheme.

Amount payable on acceptance of the option and the
payment period

An offer is deemed to be accepted when the Company receives
from the grantee the offer letter signed by the grantee specifying
the number of Shares in respect of which the offer is accepted,
and a remittance to the Company of HK$1.00 as consideration
for the grant of the option within 28 days from the grant. Such
remittance is not refundable in any circumstance.

Basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price shall be determined by the Board in its
absolute discretion but in any event shall not be less than the
higher of:

(@  the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the
date of grant which must be a business day;

(b)  the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of
the grant; and

(c)  the nominal value of the Shares.
Remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall remain in force for 10 years
commencing on 8 September 2020 up to and including 7
September 2030.

As at 31 March 2025, the remaining life of the Share Option
Scheme is approximately 5 years 5 months.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme on 8
September 2020 and up to 31 March 2025, no options were
granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled. As at 31 March 2025
and 2024, the Company has no outstanding options.
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SUBSIDIARIES

36. MEAE

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries and VIE as at 31 March 2025 AZTZTHE= ﬁ +—H8> FZH

are as follows: BAB R M M BREREEIENT ¢
Place of
establishment/ Issued and Percentage of economic
incorporation and fully paid-up/  ownership interest held by the
Name of subsidiary __ business ref stered ca |taI Compan Zx Principal activities
BRIL/ SR BRI ﬁ . Zt’/ljﬁﬁﬁ O
WEAR%E REZHEH FiEkEza Dt TBEH
Dlrect*lg Indlrect}lg
L 8
Subsidiaries
BAR
Alice Tradmg Limited Hong Kor;g 2,000,000 ordinary shares - 100%  Inactive
ERERMEZARAT & 2,000,0008% Z &M% TER
Alpha Distribution Limited Hong Korg 10,000 ordinary shares - 100%  Tradin )g of mllk owder and foods
HRENHERAT & 10,0008 & B
Alpha Industrial Holqus Limited Hong Kor;g 1 ordmary share 100% - Inactive
HRECEERERAT B 1REBR TER
Alpha Overseas L\mlted Hong Ko% 10,000 ordinary shares - 100%  Investment holding
HREBNERR & 10,0008 & B RETR
Alpha Overseas Tradin: Q Limited Hong Kor;g 10,000 ordinary shares - 100% Trad% of milk powder and foods
WEEENBRERAT & 10,0008 & B %
GA Australia Investment Pty Ltd Australia 100 ordinary shares = 100% Pr(gerty investment
iy of AUD1 each G &
100RSREE
TR ERR
GA Australia Trading Pty Ltd Australia 100 ordinary shares S 100%  Inactive
el of AUD1 each TER
100REREE
1R ERR
CGolden Elect Investments Limited BvI 1 ordinary share 100% - Inactive
HERUHE of US$1 each i
1REREE
1ETHERR
Golden Joyous Ventures Limited n BVI 1 ordinary share 100% - Investment holding
HERUHE of US$1 each REER
1REREE
1ZTHEER
Golden Splendid Group Limited . BVI 1 ordinary share 100% - Investment holding
EREEFRAF HERUES of US$1 each REER
IREREE
1ETHEBR
Golden Splendid HK Limited Hong Kor% 10,000 ordinary shares - 100%  Investment holding
B 10,0008 & B REER
Lucky Golden Ant Limited Hong Korg 10,000 ordinary shares 100% - Provision of mane};gement services to the Group
FELEARAT B 10,0008 BB AAERRHEERS
San Tai Distribution Company Limited Hong Kor% 2 ordinary shares - 100%  Provision of warehouse logistics services
74\%@@ [N 7—5 WG EBR }Ifn%ﬁ# Yiiid E?%
San Tai Logistics Company Limited Hong Korg 2 ordinary shares = 100%  Inactive
—ERERAT & R BER FERE
Smart Ant Tradmg Limited Hong Kor% 10,000 ordinary shares - 100%  Tradin g of mik powder and foods
BEESERARD & 10,0008 & &% nhERE
Smart Front Developments Limited n BVI 1 ordmary share = 100%  Investment holding
HERUHE Sy each RERR
1REREE %EB’J
Smart Tone International Limited Hong Kor% 100 ordinary shares 100% - Provision of mana ement services to the Group
HEARERAR & 1008 BB AAERRHEERE
Vantage Edge Investments Limited N BVI 1 ordinary share 100% - Investment holding
EBRUHE of US$1 each e
1REBREE
1ETHEER
Welflt (HK) Limited Hong Kor% 3,500,000 ordinary shares - 100%  Investment holding
AR E%) BRAT & 3,500,000 & &R REER
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36. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 36. MIEAT (@)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries and VIE as at 31 March 2025 RZE_HF=A= | =z
are as follows: (Continued) ( g}ﬁ&ﬂﬁ JHBERNFBUWT
fi=}

Place of
establishment/ Issued and Percentage of economic
incorporation and fully paid-up/  ownership interest held by the
Name of subsidiary business reglstered capital Compant Principal activities
A/ SR B8R % 5 KEIF 8
WEARRE REZHE FiEkEza Dt TEBEH
Directl Indirect]
B #

A

SubS|d|ar|es  (Continued)

WEAT (&)

Willis Trading Limited Hong Korg 2,000,000 ordmarX shares = 100%  Inactive
EREDNERERAT & 2,000,0008% & & TaE

MNERETEEERAT" ;]R Paid-up capital of - 100% Pnr%\g%o% ?f Qﬂﬁggg}iﬂt senvices to the Group
Ei RMB1,000,000 out of iE
registered capital of
B10,000,000
AMERARE
10, 000 0007z’
HAfeRsA
A E#1,000,0007¢

MMNBAZEEFEBERAT" ;JR RMBWPaidégpoggpita\ o; - 100% g}ga%in é)j mg( %Jowder and foods
i 7,500,000 out 0 NRERE
registered capital of
RMB19,000,000
AMERARKE
19,000,0007T
HARgRRES
AE#17,500,0007¢

MNAEETEEERAT" ;]R Paid-up capital of - 100% T?rad\n]g of foods
Ei RMB1,000,000 out of 2mE5
registered capital of
51,000,000
AMERARE
1,000,0007» ERAE
&A% AR #1,000,0007¢

Shenzhen Huolong e-commerce Co. PRC Paid-up capital of - 50%  Provision of management services to the Group
Ltd.* (“Shenzhen Huolong’) FE RMB1,000,000 out of EAEBRESERE
(note (i) registered capital of
ﬁﬂU\nE%ﬁﬁ%E RATF _RMB1,000,000
(D&Y BE)) (MeEGin) SRERARE
1,000,00070 > EFBR KA
# AR 1,000,007

BNEREHEEEEERAT PRC Paid-up capital of - 100%  Provision of warehouse logistics services
HE RMB466,000 out of REBEMRERS
registered capital of
RMB8,000,000
& & A K #8,000,0007T
HRERRAR
}\E #466,0007T

VIE
AENEEE

Shenyang Jinyi e- commerce Co. Ltd.* PRC Paid-up capital of S 70%  Trading of milk powder and foods
She%ang Jin % note FE RMB nil out of kB RES
RAS 7‘”‘ registered capital of
/éﬁﬁﬁﬁj Frﬁuf()) RVBI,000,000
SREAAR
1,000,007 * ,HM%&E
YN £

Jinyi (Hainan) e-commerce Co. Ltd.* PRC Paid-up capital of - 35.7%  Inactive
gmx i Hainan’) (note (i K)é FE RMB1,000,000 out of B
) BT ?n‘ﬁ’(ﬁ A7 registered capital of
(re%ism)) (=) RMEg zgcf EOOO
1,000,000z > EAEE
ﬂﬂifﬁ/\ﬁm 000,0007%

# Registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under the PRC law. & REBEFREDE MR EEE X
it Registered as a domestic-owned enterprise under the PRC law. w RIEPEERFMARNERE -

Remark: None of the subsidiaries has issued any debt securities at the end of the aF RIREHR > RN B RS ETEM
reporting period. B

& For identification purpose only
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SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Note (): Shenyang Jinyi is held as to 70% by the Company indirectly through the
contractual arrangement detailed in note 2(d) above.

Note (i): Jinyi Hainan is registered as a limited liability company under the PRC law

and held as to 51% by Shenyang Jinyi.

Note (ii): Shenzhen Huolong is registered as a limited liability company under the

Notes to the Co

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &Z_—Z—

36. MBAR (@

PRC law and held as to 50% by the Group and 50% by Mr. Zhao Lei, an
executive Director. The Group can control the board of directors of Shenzhen
Huolong pursuant to the acting in concert agreement with Mr. Zhao Lei.

The following table lists out the information relating to Shenyang Jinyi
and Jinyi Hainan (collectively “Shenyang Jinyi Group”), the subsidiaries
of the Group which have material non-controlling interests. The
summarised financial information presented below represents the

amounts before any inter-company elimination.

Proportion of ownership interest and voting rights held
by non-controlling interest (‘NCI")

Current assets

Non-current assets

Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Net assets

Net assets attributable to owners of Shenyang Jinyi Group
Carrying amount of NCI of Jinyi Hainan

Carrying amount of NCI of Shenyang Jinyi (note)

B EE ()

P 5E(i):

B S (i) -

EEEBRAARREES LX)
PR 2 B Z TR IZRHE70%#

o

THEEREBETEEREMABRA
B MBS SRR A 51 %

RINKERFPEZREMBARR
B WHAEMENITEFTMERE
DRI AS0% M - A% B AR IR A
MRS EN—RTHIREIRFIRYIA
BENEEE-

TREFEGESHREEEE (REBR
EhsBEl) (FEEERFEKXR
SFERER B AR ZBMER -
UT2NHBERBERRER

NEIEIEHEAI 2 &8

Shenyang Jinyi
Group
BT EERE
2025
ZEZRE
HK$'000
TERT

R (FEERER)) FENMERERK
RAREZ LA 30%
RHEE 1,992
FRPEE 23,617
nEaR (5,068)
FRBaR (5,477)
EEFE 15,064
BReBEERRREZEERE 14,832
SREEFEREGENEEE 232
BB ERERNREE () 4,450
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36. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 36. MIBAS @
Shenyang Jinyi
Group
EheHER
From 27 June 2024
(date of acquisition)
to 31 March 2025
BEZZZME
~BZ+tH
(KEEHE) EE
ZECRE
=B=+—-H
HK$'000
TER
Revenue WA 4,061
Loss for the year FEEER (2,814)
Other comprehensive loss HEM2EHE (88)
Total comprehensive loss FEBBRASE (2,902)
Loss attributable to owners of Shenyang Jinyi Group EheBERRRREGER (2,685)
Loss allocated to NCI of Jinyi Hainan NEFeEERFERERNEE (129)
Loss allocated to NCI of Shenyang Jinyi (note) NETERSBIFERERNERE () (806)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to owners of EhcEEEREES
Shenyang Jinyi Group FEBBAE (2,773)
Total comprehensive loss allocated to NCI of Jinyi Hainan NETEEERmIFERERNEEBEEE (129)
Total comprehensive loss allocated to NCI of Shenyang Jinyi (note) D EF BB B IHEREZN 2 EHEEEAE (H:D) (832)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests EFEER R ARE -
Net cash outflow from operating activities RELSEHNRE ML FE (920)
Net cash inflow from investing activities RERETENRETAEE 1
Net cash inflow from financing activities REREEENRETATE -
Total net cash outflow REMHPEEE (919)
Note: P 5E
The amount solely represents the carrying amount of Shenyang Jinyi's NCI as at 31 ZEBEEEGSBIFEREGN _SHE
March 2025 and loss and total comprehensive loss allocated to Shenyang Jinyi's NCI ZE=t—HHREERSEE EREHIFE
for the year, as appropriate, which excludes the carrying amounts of NCI of Shenyang REZNEABEREEmAAERLAE WER) »
Jinyi’'s subsidiary and loss and total comprehensive loss allocated to NCI of Shenyang TEEEGEERBABFERERNIREE
Jinyi's subsidiary, as appropriate. The calculation is based on Shenyang Jinyi Group's ENREEGeENB AT IFERERNEE
net assets, loss and total comprehensive loss attributable to owners of Shenyang Jinyi KREEEIBMREE WEA) - ZTENLENRER
Group and NCI's shareholding of 30% in Shenyang Jinyi. STHRERREEG IR BEREEFHE S
EBREEGBEBERIFERERINERSEN
30%& 4 o
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF 37. EREREERERTENATE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (]

The Group’s major financial instruments include the followings:

FEENEIEERIECEUTE
15 :

2025 2024
“E"RE “ETNFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at fair value through BRATEEGFABRZ SR
profit or loss, mandatorily measured BE REBATEESA
at fair value through profit or loss Bate 12,228 =
Trade and financial assets included in SFAHMERRIEBZES R
other receivables (note 22) SRMEE (MizF22) 11,177 107,731
Cash and bank balances (note 24(a)) RERIRITHEE (F5E24(a) 10,701 47,277
Financial assets measured at amortised cost REHERAHEZ CREE 21,878 155,008
Financial liabilities THEeE
Trade and financial liabilities included in STAHMBERTIEZ 85K
other payables (note 25) SMERE (HiF5) 36,917 44,972
Lease liabilities (note 27) %HEE\TZ (M5E27) 28,553 991
Other borrowing (note 28) HMEE (fizF28) 41,081 33,182
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost R #EM At E SRIEE 106,551 79,145

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, currency risk and equity
price risk. The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to manage
these risks are described below.

(@

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group.
Their gross carrying amounts disclosed in the respective notes
represent their maximum exposure to credit risk, without taking
into account the collateral, at the end of the reporting period.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
receivables. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
cash and bank balances is limited because the counterparties
are banks with high credit rating assigned by international
credit-rating agencies, which the Group considers to represent
low credit risk. The Group assessed 12-month ECL for bank
balances by reference to information relating to probability of
default and loss given default of the respective credit rating
grades published by external credit rating agencies. Based on
the average loss rates, the 12-month ECL on bank balances is
considered to be insignificant and therefore no loss allowance
was recognised.

Zﬁﬁlﬁnﬂliﬁﬁéﬂzﬁﬁixﬂ&%
EERRE REBERE FXEAR &
s R R B B A B AR L B o TN X E It A
EEAZ 5’372?}13 R E B AL
T%ﬁ R & Bl MR B B R
B

@ fFERR

EERBEXSIHFAIRER
HENEEMERAERRR
SRR A o 7R Y 5 R IR
BENGEmEAKARREHN
KOERAREERBRMO G5tk
IR
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37.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EEMBEHRRMNEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(@) Credit risk

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from refundable
rental deposits is considered to be insignificant, taking into
account (i) the landlords’ credit rating and (i) the remaining lease

term and the period covered by the rental deposits.

Trade receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than
the industry or country in which the customers operate and
therefore significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. At the end of the reporting period, 38% (2024:
89%) and 67% (2024: 99%) of the trade receivables (net of loss
allowance) was due from the Group’s largest trade debtor and

the five largest trade debtors, respectively.

The Group has established a credit risk management policy
under which individual credit evaluations are performed on
all customers requiring credit over a certain amount. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and take
into account information specific to the customer as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade receivables are normally due within O to 180
days (2024: 90 to 180 days) from the date of billing. Upon
request by the customers, the Group may further grant up to
90 days credit period. Normally, the Group does not obtain

collateral from customers.

Other receivables

For other receivables, the Directors make periodic individual
assessment on the recoverability of other receivables based
on historical settlement records, past experience, and also
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportive forward-looking information. At 31 March
2025, the Group assessed the ECL for other receivables and
loss allowance of HK$5,095,000 (2024: HK$1,755,000) was

recognised.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(@)

Credit risk (Continued)

Assessment of ECL based on internal credit rating

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises
the following categories:

Internal credit

37. TREABREERTRMTIANQTE

18 (@

@ FERRE@®

B AEE BETFARBIRRI 1= B

REFIE

NEBNEBEE AR TR
EEE TR

Trade receivables/

Other financial

rating Description lease receivable assets/other items
B 5 EkE HittemEE/
R IEETR it HEREWRIE HthEg
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL — 12-month ECL
and does not have any past-due amounts not credit-impaired
EERE RHHF HEN BB R FaEAIE HBEREERR- 12@ARHREEBRE
RIEERAE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates Lifetime ECL - 12-month ECL
but usually settle in full not credit-impaired
BRLE BEBALERIAEEENERRE ETHEE HBEREERER- 12@ABEHEEBR
RESRE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL

risk since initial recognition through information

developed internally or external resources
BJ5E BBNEFHSMIERRRER SRR

BIamEsR LR E

Loss There is evidence indicating the
asset is credit-impaired
] BERBBRNEECERERAE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in

severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery

b6 BRBENEFEABAREV RS
AEE W mE R IR R

not credit-impaired

EHRAEEEE-
BEERE

Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired

HRBEERE-
EERE

Amount is written off

RIRC 5

- not credit-impaired

SHRBEERE-
BEERE
Lifetime ECL
- credit-impaired
SHEIEERE-
EERE

Amount is written off

AT M
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF 37. TREREEREMTIANATE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) ENEE)
(@) Credit risk (Continued) @ FEERRG
Assessment of ECL based on internal credit rating B A5 B5F R FERIE B
(Continued) 185G (4B)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s TR T AERBEITTALE
financial assets which are subject to ECL assessment: EEBETENESREENE
SRk
2025 2024
ke 7 —EomE
External credit Internal credit ~ 12-month ECL or Gross Gross
rating rating lifetime ECL carrying amount carrying amount
12[BF A EERER
SMEETHR NGRS 2PRHEESS IRERE RERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET

Financial assets at amortised cost M A B2 £REE

Other receivables and deposits HthEBRIERESE () N/A Low risk 12-month ECL 8,331 19,250
(note (i)
TER B 12EREHEESE
N/A Loss Life-time ECL-credit-impaired 5,095 5,359
FEA BR EHRBEERE-EEAHE
13,426 24,609
Trade receivables BREWHE N/A (note (i) Lifetime ECL (not credit impaired 2,963 654
and collective assessment)
B (G0 2HBHEENE (BEERE
REETE)
N/A Watch list Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired - 1,276
and individual assessment)
&R BEeE LHBRHEEEE BEEHE
RABRIET(E)
N/A Doubtful Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired - 116,210
and individual assessment)
FEA BE SHRAEESE BEENE
RABRIST(E)
N/A Loss Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired and 52,967 -
individual assessment)
B 548 2HBHEESE (EEAER
BRETE)
55,930 118,140
Bank balances RITEER Baag to A1 N/A 12-month ECL (not credit- 10,701 47,277
impaired and assessed
individually)
Baa3ZA1 TER 12@R EHEEFE (REEHE
ERERIEE)
80,057 190,026
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #EZE_Z _RAF=H=+—HIEFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF 37. TREAREEREHMTIANATE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) & @&
Credit risk (Continued) @ EERRG
Assessment of ECL based on internal credit rating B A E BF AR FERIE B S
(Continued) 185G (4B)
Note: e
(i) For the purpose of internal credit risk management, the Group uses 0] MABEERREEMS > &
past due information to assess whether credit risk has been increased EEFERARENTHEER
significantly since initial recognition. fREAERUREERER
e
2025 2024
ZZCRE ZZTpNE
Not past due/ Not past due/
no fixed no fixed
repayment repayment
Past due terms Total Past due terms Total
K/ BEE pSaLive
(=¥t B st Baf RETERHS st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FTER FTER FTER FTER TER
Other receivables HttEIFRIER
and deposits %& 5,095 8,331 13,426 5,359 19,250 24,609
(ii) For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach (ii) MEZEBAREMS %

in IFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for
debtors with significant outstanding balances, the Group determines
the ECL on these items on a collective basis grouped by past due
status.

Provision matrix — Debtors’ aging

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group uses
debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for its customers in
relation to its operation because these customers consist of a
number of customers with common risk characteristics that are
representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due
in accordance with the contractual terms. The following table
provides information about the exposure to credit risk for trade
receivables which are assessed on a collective basis by using
provision matrix within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired).

P P B PR B 755 ¥R T R ) 59518 89
BEs A2 BEREERE
SABERAR - BRAEAKRE
BESR BTN AEBMUE
BEERARRTERNEEZ
SHEENRBEERE

B AE[E — AR KB AR 62

FRtEBEEREBEEN—
BB AEEEARMARE R
HERIEARMEEENRE
BDRZEEFHZEAAHE
BRI E P AN BERESE
RERBEFRBESOIFRRIAAR
BRHIMIBRIEE D - TRIEHA
MEZEYCREmBENEER
BBk Ty U EERE B R
HFRREERR (EBEERE
PRy B R AR fe T 5T A
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z_ZT " AFE=B=+—HILEE

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF 37. EREMREERERTENQTE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) & @
(@) Credit risk (Continued) @ FEERRG

BB — AR ARE? ()

Provision matrix — Debtors’ aging (Continued)

2025
—ZTTHEF

Gross
Average carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
THEEE IREARE EEiaEE
% HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Current (not past due) BNHA (W =38 ER) 3.0% 1,492 45
1-30 days past due BHI1ZE30H 3.1% 931 29
31-60 days past due BHAB1E60H 5.9% 461 27
61-90 days past due #IHAG61E90H 10.0% 70 7

More than 90 days #HA90H
past due Mk 100.0% 9 9
Total #ast 2,963 117
2024
“ETUE

Gross
Average carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
T EEE IREARE kit
% HK$ 000 HK$’000
FHE7T FHET
Current (not past due)  BNHR (3t %% 381 HF) 0% 3 =
1-30 days past due BHI1ZE30H 13.2% 651 86
Total st 654 86

194

Debtors with significant outstanding balances with gross
carrying amounts of HK$52,967,000 as at 31 March 2025
(2024: HK$117,486,000) were assessed individually.

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors and
are adjusted for forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed
by management to ensure relevant information about specific
debtors is updated.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group provided
HK$117,000 (2024: HK$86,000) impairment allowance for trade
receivables based on collective assessment. Net impairment
allowance of HK$22,381,000 (2024: HK$25,369,000) were
made on debtors with significant balances during the year
ended 31 March 2025.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF 37. EREMREEREMIENATE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) & @
(@) Credit risk (Continued) @ EERRG
Provision matrix - Debtors’ aging (Continued) BB — AR HIBRE? (4B)
As at 31 March 2025, the loss allowance for the trade debtors KRB _RAF=ZRA=+—H @
assessed individually amounted to HK$52,967,000 (2024: B ENE ZRAGEEES
HK$33,177,000). 52,967,000/ 7 (Z T P94
33,177,00038 7T) ©
Movement in the lifetime ECL allowance account in respect of REAFEEMEZEWHIEN
trade receivables during the year is as follows: THEREESERER2E
T
Lifetime ECL
(not credit- Lifetime ECL
impaired) (credit-impaired) Total
2 HATERR 2 HATEHR
FEEFBIE EEEIE
(BEERE) (E8RE) 4ast
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’ 000
FET FET FET
At 1 April 2023 RZE_=FMA—H 8,183 - 8,183
Changes attributable to AR - =FHH—H
trade receivables RHEZREWEIESIE
recognised at 1 April RS :
2023:
— Impairment losses —BEERRE
recognised 518 6,483 - 6,483
— Impairment losses —BEERE
reversed 538 (2,592) - (2,592)
New trade receivables ~ BRERHIZE S
recognised net of those ~ FEUZRIE »
derecognised due to MNPREASET
settlement BILHERE 21,564 - 21,564
Exchange differences PE R ZRE (375) - (375)
At 31 March 2024 and WRIZZEZWNF=F=+—H
1 April 2024 KR_E_NEMNE—H 33,263 - 33,263
Changes attributable to ~ F* ZZ ZMEME —H
trade receivables RHEZREWEIESIE
recognised at 1 April B :
2024
— Transfer to credit —®@AEE
impaired BE (25,556) 25,556 -
— Impairment losses —BRRRE
recognised #5118 - 30,055 30,055
— Derecognition upon —REER
settlement WRIEREER (7,674) - (7,674)
New trade receivables ~ BEHERHIZE 5
recognised net of those  FEURRIE »
derecognised due to NEREASET
settlement & IEFESR 117 - 117
Exchange differences FERZEZE (33) (2,644) (2,677)
At 31 March 2025 RIE_HAFE=HA=1+—H 117 52,967 53,084
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF 37. sREREEREMTIAENATE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) B @
(@) Credit risk (Continued) @ FEERRG

Provision matrix - Debtors’ aging (Continued) TR IEAE[E — AR 7L BYARE? ()

The following significant changes in the gross carrying amounts UTAEREBEEEEHNE

of trade receivables contributed to the changes in the loss SEWSRENRAEEZEX

allowance: e .

- trade debtors with gross carrying amount of - EBSEBAKRBERLE
HK$52,967,000 are considered as credit-impaired 52,967,000 Tt R B E
and resulted in an increase in loss allowance of BRENRENEEREE
HK$27,411,000 (2024: increase in past due balances h027,411,0008 7T (ZF
of gross amount of HK$116,210,000 which were T U4 A ERAERRIE 4R
considered doubtful resulted in an increase in loss %8116,210,00058 7T (13
allowance of HK$27,670,000); and A RE) B IE R 1T

h027,670,0007T) ; K

= full settlement by trade debtors with a gross carrying — BSEHRATBHEEHEERR
amount of HK$14,502,000 (2024: HK$15,885,000) 48{814,502,000%8 7T (=
resulted in a decrease in loss allowance of HK$7,674,000 EF O 15,885,000
(2024: HK$2,592,000). TT) B EEEHERLD

7,674,000 (ZE2 -
£ 1 2,592,00057T) ©

196 ALPHA PROFESSIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED e Annual Report 2025



37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF

Notes to the Co

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &Z_—Z " hFE=

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(@

Credit risk (Continued)

Movements in the ECL allowance account in respect of other

receivables and deposits during the year are as follows:

At 1 April 2023 RZZE-=FMNE—H
Changes attributable to financial ARZZZ=FMA—H
instruments recognised at PHEHMIE
1 April 2023: I ES)
— Transfer to lifetime ECL -BARIRREESE
~ Impairment losses recognised —BRIAESE
~ Impairment losses reversed —-BEERESE

New other receivable and deposits B REsRAIHTIE HthIE R FIE R
recognised net of those derecognised % » IR H
upon settlement RIEFER

Exchange differences EREHE

At 31 March 2024
and 1 April 2024

RIE-_ME=ZA=1+—-0kK
ZZNENE—H

Changes attributable to financial ARZZ-NENE—H

instruments recognised at PHEHMIE
1 April 2024: HEC TR
— Impairment losses recognised —-BRZRESE

New other receivable and deposits B REsBHIHTIE At AR
recognised net of those derecognised &4 > MR EH %
upon settlement RIEHERE

Wiite-off ik

Exchange differences ERELE

At 31 March 2025 RZZE-_HE=B=+—-H

37. TREABREERTRMTIANQTE
B @

@ FERRE@®

R AEE R RREMERRIER
RENARREEBRERRZ

EHWMT -

Lifetime ECL

(credit-
12-month ECL impaired) Total

2 HATEH

128 A TEHA EEEE
=818 (EERE) fact
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TER FERT
25 - 25
(24) 24 -
- 243 243
(1) = (1)
- 1,504 1,504
- (16) (16)
- 1,755 1,755
- 3,592 3,592
1,130 - 1,130
(1,130) = (1,130)
- (252) (252)
= 5,095 5,095
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37.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF 37. =REMREERESRTAEMNATEE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) B @&
(a) Credit risk (Continued) @ SERKE @&

Changes in the loss allowance for other receivables and
deposits are mainly due to:

HtEWRIER RSN EEE
BEEBHTTEZHR

Increase (decrease) in lifetime ECL

2HBBERSREM (AL

Increase
(decrease) in Not credit-
12-month ECL impaired Credit-impaired
12{8 A R
=EBE
1&m R ®BEERE EERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TER TER
Year ended 31 March 2025 BE_Z-HE=-FB=1—H
IEEE
Increase in past due balances of other BRIEI421& %5,095,00058 7o i E th
receivables and deposits with gross  FEIFUBE R &AM
carrying amounts of HK$5,095,000 &1 S = 3,592
Year ended 31 March 2024 BEZZMNF=B=1+—H
IEEE
Increase in other receivables IR E42{E 45,096,000 T8
with gross carrying amount HtnEW IS
of HK$5,096,000 i - - 1,504
Other receivable with a gross 4258 4263,0008 7T
amount of HK$263,000 defaulted HEMENRIEES
and transferred to credit-impaired TEAEERE (24) - 24
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BZE—ZE_h&E&E=-H=+—HILEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the short term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover
expected cash demands, subject to the parent company’s
board approval. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor
its liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash
and adequate committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and

longer term.

The following tables set out the remaining contractual maturities
at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted cash
flows (including interest payments computed using contractual
rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of the
reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can be

required to pay.

Trade and other payables
Other borrowing
Lease liabilities

37. TREABREERTRMTIANQTE
B @

®)

BN

FEBRRNNEBEERTREE
FENREEE aEnReR
FRETERRENEREEN
BNERRSEF R EFEFQ
BINESREHE  AEBZEER
EEMERERHUERREA
BT EERNZIERN > UHERE
FRENRERREARAIE
TREBENSREENAERE
BE WERARRAREIESE
Ko

TREINAEEBZIFITESRR
BENREMRRZEBETEOH
R ZEF TaiRDLRES
MRERRERE (BECLAS
MRRFAE BT HI X
AR E AR ZITTHA R
BRRENR) UREEEB] S
ARz mFHHEFE

2025

ZZIERE
More than Total Carrying
1yearbut  contractual amount
Within less than 2 undiscounted  at 31 March
On demand 1 year years  cash flows 2025
RZBZRE
BB—F SHXER =A=1+-H
BRER —ER BREBEME RETELH WEREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TiEn TiEn TR FER
B REMEMNTE 3,699 33,218 - 36,917 36,917
HinfEg 41,081 - - 41,081 41,081
HEBR - 19,982 9,380 29,362 28,553
44,780 53,200 9,380 107,360 106,551
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF 37. sREREEREMTIAENATE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) & (@
(b)  Liquidity risk (Continued) ) REMEERR @
2024
S 15
More than Total Carrying
1 year but contractual amount
Within less than  undiscounted at 31 March
On demand 1 year 2 years cash flows 2024
RIZ-ME
\ BE—%  SHAMH ZA=1-R
e —ER  BFBBEME RERELE MEEERE
HKSO00  HKS000  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00
FAEL T T T FAT
Trade and other payables BERAMENRE 1,854 43118 - 44,972 44,972
Other borrowing HihfEs 33,182 - - 33,182 33,182
Lease liabilties HESE - 694 318 1,012 991
35,036 43,812 318 79,166 79,145
Other borrowing with a repayment on demand clause are WHEEREZRGRRNEME
included in the “on demand” time band in the above maturity Bt ALMEBEIWMNRE
analysis regardless of the probability of the Lender choosing to KRIFEHEERN MAEEENR
exercise their rights. At 31 March 2025, the aggregate carrying ANEETHEEEABNAEME-
amount of the other borrowing amounted to HK$41,081,000 RE-_HAFE=B=+—8"
(2024: HK$33,182,000). Other borrowing will be repaid after the ZEHMEENRERLES
end of the reporting period in accordance with the scheduled 41,081,000/ 7T (ZE ZIY4F :
repayment dates set out in the loan agreement, details of which 33,182,000 7t) - HMEER
are set out in the table below: REERBEMETEIERH
R EAERBER FEEN
e
Maturity Analysis - Borrowing with a repayment on demand BT — I BB R BB
clause based on scheduled repayments BIEE (B a1 257
More than Total
1 year but contractual
Within less than  undiscounted Carrying
1 year 2 years cash flows amount
BR—F ohARER
—FR EFEBRE RERELE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$1000
TR T FAT T
At 31 March 2025 RZE_RF=R=1-H 42,085 - 42,085 41,081
At 31 March 2024 RIBZME=A=1-H 33,955 - 33,955 33,182
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BZE—ZE_h&E&E=-H=+—HILEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had net current liabilities
of HK$173,173,000. The current liabilities included other
borrowing of HK$41,081,000, but the Group’s cash and
cash equivalents amounted to HK$10,701,000 as at 31
March 2025. Saved as disclosed in note 2(c), Ms. Chong
Sok Un, a substantial shareholder of the Company agreed to
provide financial support to the Group and entered into a loan
agreement with the Company for an interest-free line of credit
with a principal amount of HK$80,000,000 for the purpose of
providing general working capital to the Group. In this regard,
the Directors consider the Group’s liquidity risk has been
reduced.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market interest rates. The Group’s interest rate risk arises
primarily from fixed rate lease liabilities and from variable rate
other borrowing, which expose the Group to fair value interest
rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk respectively. The
management considers the exposure of cash flow interest rate
risk from bank balances is insignificant.

(i) Interest rate risk profile

The following table, as reported to the management
of the Group, details the interest rate risk profile of the
Group’s financial liabilities at the end of the reporting
period:

Fixed rate borrowings: BEEHEMEE :
Lease liabilities HEAaR
Variable rate borrowings: EEAEEE
Other borrowing HiEE

37.

TRHEREEREMRTANQTE
B @

®)

©

mEEREER (8

A _E_RE=ZR=+—H"
AEBZRBEEFES
173,173,000 Tt B EE
EHEMEE41,081,00058 7T
BAEBR _E_HE4=A8
—t+—HMREARESEEY
#10,701,00078 7T ° BR T 5E2(c)
Frig@EaEN AAB T EREHT
BMZtREBAREBRIRMEN
BERFHHEAQNBTUEER
&£ £ %E7480,000,00058 7T HY
EEEENER B BRE4
EERBE—REFEEL - BUEM
SO EERAREENREBMER
B2 B PRAE ©

TR E S

NEEBETRIANATE
EXRRBERERETHT
REHMREBVER - FEER
NEXEBIEREEEFNEN
HEERURFEHF RGO EM
BE LAERDHEEATE
BRNRERRREREBNEEA
ke BEERARBRITHERZ
RERENEREABSTEK

0 FIEEEEER
TERAAEEEEEZR

FEETREENREN
RGP ARBEFIS -

Carrying amount

IREE
2025 2024
_E_RE ===
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
28,553 991
41,081 33,182
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

(i)

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2025, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates, with all
other variables held constant, would have increased/
decreased the Group’s loss after tax and accumulated
losses by approximately HK$343,000 (2024:
HK$277,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group’s
exposure to variable-rate borrowing.

The sensitivity analyses above have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates at the end of
the reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming
the financial instruments outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. A
100 basis points (2024: 100 basis) increase or decrease
in variable-rate borrowing is used when reporting interest
rate risk internally to key management personnel and
represents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates. The analysis is
performed on the same basis as 2024.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d)

Currency risk

@

Exposure to currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
sales and purchases which give rise to receivables,
payables and cash balances that are denominated in a
foreign currency, i.e. a currency other than the functional
currency of the operations to which the transactions
relate. In addition, the Company has intragroup balances
with several subsidiaries denominated in foreign
currencies which also expose the Group to foreign
currency risk. The currencies giving rise to this risk
are primarily Australian dollars (“AUD”), United States
dollars (“US$”) and HKS$. The Group ensures that the
net exposure is kept to an acceptable level by buying or
selling foreign currencies at spot rates where necessary
to address short-term imbalances.

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the
end of the reporting period to currency risk arising from
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the entity to which
they relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts of
the exposure are shown in HKS$, translated using the
spot rate at the year end date. Differences resulting
from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations into the Group’s presentation currency are
excluded.

37. ERUEARE
8 (@)

“HE=A=1+—HILEE

BREmMTIAENATE

@ ErRER

@

RZEEmE

AEEEHZEBRAKE
ERERNEEMESLZIE
HﬁZ* B EMTERRE
GEER o REEB LRI
(BPR BT EF 2 hAE

BN EHE) stE -
tEsh > KA B RS T B
NEINEBA QBB
To SN SHE » IR B AR &
EmERNERMR - EER
R ZEBFEART
(BBt ~=5x (M)
KRBT AEBELEN
BN N BEXEE
ShEE S DUFES IR EARY R
181 > B {= By 0 BG B9 B B V%
BB eI B R MK o

TRFVAEERNREHR
%Fﬁﬁﬁﬂxﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁg

ARSI E S stE
ZEEBEENBRME
EREEREE - FL25M
= mERERZ 8T
BT RAEARN
BEREE I - B SN
BV BREMEREE
ENE25EERELENE
BAT HERRTESD o

Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in HKS)

SNERIR (WBTTERT)

2025 2024
ZZChE “EOME

Us$ AUD HKS Us$ AUD HKS

e b BT ES A BT

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAT TAT TAT TiEx T T

Cash and bank balances & R iF(TEE 100 89 666 30 2,546 -

Trade and other payables & B R EMETTE - - 554 - = (131)

Other borrowing HitifEE - - (10,000) = = =

Intra-group balances EERABMES - - (34,917) - (8,265) (87,008)
Net exposure arising from ~ ERSEER
recognised assets and BRELN

libilties AREE 100 8 44,805 30 6,719) 67,139)
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37.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF 37. sREREEREMTIAENATE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) =RE)
(d)  Currency risk (Continued) o EiEERR G
(i)  Sensitivity analysis (i)  BRESHT
The following table indicates the instantaneous change in TR AEB RS
the Group’s loss after tax (and accumulated losses) that RERRE KRR SMNERE
would arise if foreign exchange rates to which the Group ERZHHIRES (RE
has significant exposure at the end of the reporting FRE Efh AR ESHRFR
period had changed at that date, assuming all other ) HAEERREREES
risk variables remained constant. In this respect, it is (RRFEE) EENAD
assumed that the pegged rate between the HK$ and the R FE RIS BB
US$ would be materially unaffected by any changes in BT R ETHEHERE
value of the US$ against other currencies. TERETREMEERN
EREEEHMZIEXR
o
2025 2024
ZECRE ZZINE
Increase Increase
Increase (decrease) Increase (decrease)
(decrease) in loss after (decrease) in loss after
in foreign tax and in foreign tax and
exchange accumulated exchange accumulated
rate losses rate losses
BIREES hEEE
SMNEEZR REFER SNEEE RRHER
A (FR) 180 G L7 (FR) 1210 GRzb)
HKS'000 HKS 000
Tix T
AUD b 5% @ 5% 239
(5%) 4 (5%) (239
HK$ BT 5% 1,871 5% 3,638
(5%) (1,871) (5%) (3,638)
Results of the analysis as presented in the above table LEREDMEREARAZE

represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects
on each of the group entities’ profit or loss after tax and
equity measured in the respective functional currencies,
translated into HK$ at the exchange rate ruling at the end
of the reporting period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis also includes intra-group balances
where the denomination of the balances is in a currency
other than the functional currency of the lender or the
borrower.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in
foreign exchange rates had been applied to re-measure
those financial instruments held by the Group which
expose the Group to foreign currency risk at the end of
the reporting period. The analysis is performed on the
same basis for 2024.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(e)

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising at
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss held for
non-trading purposes (note 20).

The Group’s listed investment is listed on the Australian
Securities Exchange. Listed investments that are not held for
trading purposes have been chosen based on their longer term
growth potential and are monitored regularly for performance
against expectations.

At 31 March 2025, it is estimated that an increase/(decrease) of
10% in the price of the equity security, with all other variables
held constant, would have decreased/increased the Group’s
loss after tax and accumulated losses as follows:

37.

TRHEREEREMRTANQTE
B @

@ REEERRE

AERERFEIFETZ BN
BATFEESABGZEHEE
(Mi5E20) EEMIIRAEREE)
JELRE o

AEEZ EHRENBENE
R EH - AERRE EHR
BENRABRE EFFR
SENMEBEANLHRE WE
HERAEXRREANGER-

A CE_RE=ZA=+—H 14
FrEEMESRFTAE H5HR
AFHBERIEM, GBL) 10%
BLAEERREBEEERRS

B8R EmInT
2025
TR
Increase/ Decrease/
(decrease) Decrease/ (increase)
in price of (increase) in accumulated
equity security in loss after tax losses
B A8 S5 E PRinB 1R RETEE
B, et B () B ()
% HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
Change in the relevant 1B A R 1 LB 2
equity price risk variable: &8} :
Increase 0 10% 1,223 1,223
Decrease B (10%) (1,228) (1,223)

The sensitivity analysis is not applicable for the year ended 31
March 2024.

BREDFRBEE_S_MNF
ZR=+—HLEFETER-
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF 37. sREREEREMTIAENATE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) B @
() Fair value measurement H LDFEEH=E
(i) Financial assets measured at fair value () HRAFEEHENEZHE
E
Fair value hierarchy NFEEER
The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s TREVAEEEMITA
financial instruments measured at the end of the REEARBEEEEE
reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into FETNEA=EERA
the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in IFRS 13. TEEBHR (TERER
The level into which a fair value measurement is classified M mELERF1350) A
is determined with reference to the observability and NEBE - ATEESZ
significance of the inputs used in the valuation technique DEZERH2EHER
as follows: TP ER 8 A BUR 2 AT
RIEEREEMMETN
T
= Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only - B—REE:QAF
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in BEERAE &
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at A2/
the measurement date REEHEREE
HEaERERTIS
2R HERE
= Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level - BIREE:QAF
2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet BEFRBSE _HE5H
Level 1, and not using significant unobservable ABEE BIEK
inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which HEaE—HhzIH
market data are not available R|ABE L E
AEREERTE
" AR A~
HRBMASELAE
FESTHBHRIEZ
LN ¢
= Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using - BZHREE:QAF
significant unobservable inputs BEEXRABE A
FE N C
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(f) Fair value measurement (Continued)

(i) Financial assets measured at fair value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

37. TREABREEREHMTIANQTE
=N

0  ATEEE @

) BAFEEFENZHBE
E (B

RTEEER (B

Fair value measurements as at
31 March 2025 categorised into
fair value hierarchy
WZE_AF=A=+—H
PEERTEEEBRZ ATEESE

Fair value
at 31 March
2025 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
RIEZHE
=A=+—H
ZATEE E—R B B=4R
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TET TAET FAET
Recurring fair value KEMEATEE
measurement e
Assets: BE
Financial assets at BAFEESA
fair value through BRZEHEE
profit or loss
Listed equity securities R AzE % 12,228 12,228 - -
Fair value measurements as at
31 March 2024 categorised into
fair value hierarchy
A ZEZNFE=F=+—H
PDEENTFEEEBRZATEEE
Fair value
at 31 March
2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
RIZTZTME
=BA=+—H
ZATEE E—R E_MH B
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET FET FET FET
Recurring fair value KEEATEE
measurement 2
Assets: BE
Financial assets at BATEESA
fair value through BEZEMEE
profit or loss
Listed equity securities _E A2 4x 58 - = = =

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024,
there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or
transfers into or out of Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers between
levels of fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting
period in which they occur.

RBEE_E_LFEKR_ZT
“HWE=/A=+—HIE
ErmwEATEBAEBRS
— R TR AR
HEFE=REANEL -
KEMZBEBRRFE
BEERZERE 2 EEE
%2%%%*%%%%%
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(f) Fair value measurement (Continued)

(i) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried at
other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
carried at amortised cost are not materially different from
their fair values as at 31 March 2025 and 2024.

38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
For the year ended 31 March 2025

(i) Acquisition of Smart Front Developments Limited and
Welfit (HK) Limited

On 11 June 2024, the Group acquired 100% interest in Smart
Front Developments Limited and Welfit (HK) Limited and their
subsidiaries, San Tai Distribution Company Limited and San Tai
Logistics Company Limited (collectively the “Acquired Group”)
and the rights of the loan due by the Acquired Group to the
vendor. The Acquired Group are engaged in the business
of bonded warehouse storage, general warehouse storage,
devanning and freight forwarder services. The acquisition
has been accounted for as acquisition of business using the
acquisition method. The acquisition cost of HK$21,875,000
was satisfied in cash, of which HK$17,500,000 is paid to
an entity controlled by Service Entity Il. The acquisition is an
opportunity for the Group to expand its Logistics Business,
which is expected to bring additional revenue to the Group in
future.
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38. EBOH

BE_Z_AF=RA=+—HIEFE

(@

YeHESmart Front Developments
Limited R &% (& &) BIRAE]

RZZE2EZ@mMERNA+ —
H> AEBEUWESmMart Front
Developments Limited & & & (&
B)BRABDUKRENNB AT
—HEEBRRAKR=ZFMR
BRAB B WU EER)
100% 1 25 LA R 4 UK B S5 B FE 1)
BAHEENERERN UK
EERERNEEH#HT — K
BEHGF - HTEAREERER
FRE I R BE IR B W EE L
EAWBEES AR - WA
21,875,000 T BUREZ 1
H > 17,500,000%8 702 19 F AR
BERBIIEGN— Sl
BEAERBRAVYAEBZR
1o TR N R IR A REETF R
EBINBA ©
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38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued) 38. EBESHEB

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Continued) BE_E-_AF-HA=+—HILEFE

(€]
(i) Acaquisition of Smart Front Developments Limited and (i) YefESmart Front Developments
Welfit (HK) Limited (Continued) Limited R & & (&%) BRL &
(#)
The assets and liabilities recognised as a result of the WEMERNEERSEDN
acquisition are as follows: T
Fair value
NEEE
HK$’000
FHET
Property, plant and equipment ME--BEREE
(including right-of-use assets) (note 16) (BiEER#EEE) (isE16) 968
Trade and other receivables B 5 R H A EWRIE 9,324
Cash and cash equivalents HBERIREEEY 9,259
Trade and other payables BS R EMENRIE (1,734)
Defined benefit obligation (note 29) AERBHMEME (HI3E29) (422)
Income tax payable FETFRER (448)
Deferred tax liabilities (note 30(a) EIERIEEE (F5E30()) (43)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BAFEESENAHEEEFE 16,904
Goodwill on acquisition (note 18) Ui 2 w2 (fi5E18) 4,971
Total consideration, satisfied by cash HARE UIREEN 21,875
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: W EE A B2 T HF AR
Cash consideration HEE 21,875
Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired B FTERIRE MRS EEY (9,259)
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition Wi EENIRES ML REE 12,616
Acquisition-related costs amounting to HK$226,000 have been Ui B8 AB RE Al 45226,00078 Tc B FE

recognised as administrative expenses.

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of the Acquired Group
because the acquisition included the assembled workforce of
the Acquired Group and some potential contracts which are still
under negotiation with new customers as at acquisition date.
These benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill
because they do not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable
intangible assets.

None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition is expected to
be deductible for tax purposes.

Trade and other receivables comprise gross contractual
amounts due of HK$9,463,000, of which HK$139,000 was
expected to be uncollectable at the date of acquisition.

RATHER -

MR EaEREEERNR
EEHOIRETFEEZAHN R
BB ELRE R ETHE
) BB EREL D
BoARZENm ARSI A
B BENRDRE  WZFR

RRZBBELENEERRSE
BRMETRHR

B hEMBUREASIEEB
Z &£ 8H9,463,00078 7T
H1139,0008 7ot e i B HATR
HAZR AT U (] o
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38.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Acaquisition of Smart Front Developments Limited and
Welfit (HK) Limited (Continued)

Since the acquisition, the Acquired Group contributed
HK$24,946,000 to the Group’s revenue and HK$358,000 to the
consolidated loss for the year ended 31 March 2025.

Had the acquisition taken place on 1 April 2024, the revenue
and the loss of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025
would have been HK$47,278,000 and HK$198,117,000,
respectively. The pro forma information is for illustrative
purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue
and results of operations of the Group that actually would have
been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 April
2024, nor is it intended to be a projection of future results.

Acquisition of Shenyang Jinyi

On 27 June 2024, the Group acquired 70% interest in
Shenyang Jinyi and its non-wholly-owned subsidiary
(collectively “Shenyang Jinyi Group”) and the rights of the
loan due by Shenyang Jinyi to the vendor. Shenyang Jinyi is
engaged in the business of, among others, e-commerce in the
PRC. The acquisition has been accounted for as acquisition of
business using the acquisition method. The acquisition cost of
AUD5,057,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$26,246,000)
was satisfied by discharge the trade debts due by a customer
of the Group. The acquisition aims to recover trade receivables
with a view to revitalizing the Company’s resources to solidify
its existing business, especially the Milk Products Business and
developing new lines of business.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Continued)

(i)

Acquisition of Shenyang Jinyi (Continued)

The assets and liabilities recognised as a result of the

acquisition are as follows:

Property, plant and equipment (note 16)
Other intangible assets (note 17)

Trade and other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Trade and other payables

Deferred tax liabilities (note 30(c))

Total identifiable net assets at fair value
Non-controlling interests, based on their

proportionate interest in the recognised

amounts of the assets and liabilities of
Shenyang Jinyi Group

Goodwill on acquisition (note 18)

Total consideration

Cash inflow arising on acquisition:
Cash consideration

Add: Cash and cash equivalents acquired

Cash inflow on acquisition

3. EBAH @

BE—T_RF-A=+—HILFE
#®

(i)  WEEERGEE (5

HW MmN EE &N

T
Fair value
NEEE
HK$’'000
FET
M BB R (MI3E16) 9
HihmpEE (:E17) 25,363
B 5 R HAhEW R IE 1,187
BEeKRIBEEEY 1,433
B 5 R EHMENRIE (1,571)
IEIERRIEE & (MI5E30(c) (5,876)
BATBESENREEEFE 20,545
IR (R ENES
SHREEEEREE
KrEsle P
R EBETE) (5,740)
14,805
Ui ig > w2 (fi5E18) 11,441
HEARE 26,246
WEELHEZTA &
BERE _
o FRENIRERIREEEY 1,433
I RERYIR &R 1,433

Acquisition-related costs amounting to HK$1,015,000 have
been recognised as administrative expenses.

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of Shenyang Jinyi Group
because it can create a synergy effect with the Group’s principal
business by incorporating the milk powder and foods products
into the platforms of Shenyang Jinyi which the Group can
penetrate into the retail market of the Group’s products in
the PRC. These benefits are not recognised separately from
goodwill because they do not meet the recognition criteria for

identifiable intangible assets.

UK BE B BE AR Z<1,015,00058 T B
BRAITHER

BB B A Y e B dh E i
ANEGEBENTE RE4RER
EARERIRTENZENS
WEEGERERTEAER
TEEBELDENE  QUE
EHTEERELHE - HINZ
ENTmATEGARNETLEE
BUBESBARAE > BUEL S F
2D FEREsE o
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BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Continued)

(i)

Acaquisition of Shenyang Jinyi (Continued)

None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition is expected to
be deductible for tax purposes.

Trade and other receivables comprise gross contractual
amounts due of HK$1,187,000, of which nil was expected to be
uncollectable at the date of acquisition.

Since the acquisition, Shenyang Jinyi Group contributed
HK$1,298,000 to the Group’s revenue and HK$1,654,000 to
the consolidated loss for the year ended 31 March 2025.

Had the acquisition taken place on 1 April 2024, the revenue
and the loss of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025
would have been HK$42,429,000 and HK$197,801,000,
respectively. The pro forma information is for illustrative
purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue
and results of operations of the Group that actually would have
been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 April
2024, nor is it intended to be a projection of future results.

For the year ended 31 March 2024

During the year ended 31 March 2024, there is no business
combination.
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MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these
consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following
transactions with related parties during the year:

0

(i)

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group,
including amounts paid to the Directors as disclosed in note
11 and certain highest paid employees as disclosed in note 12
during the reporting period is as follows:

EHIREER
BER R 2T

Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits

The above-mentioned remuneration is included in “staff costs”
(see note 9(b)).

Saved as disclosed in note 11, each of Mr. Zhao Lei and Mr.
Gao Peng are employees of the Service Entity | or Il, each of
them provides key management personnel services to the
Group. Services fee of HK$695,000 (2024: HK$245,000) was
charged to the Company for the year ended 31 March 2025.

On 2 August 2022, Bubs Supreme Partner Pty Ltd, a joint
venture of the Group, sub-licensed the use of the Bubs
Trademarks (defined in note 19) to a subsidiary of the Group, on
a non-exclusive, royalty-free and perpetual basis, in the PRC,
Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan for the purpose of advertising,
marketing and distributing the infant nutrition products
manufactured and supplied by Bubs Australia or its affiliates.

39. EARESRZRAEER

BREIARSMBREARNEME D ST
2RI AERREAEFEAUTH
MEDETZRS !

U

RESHE ~ERFTEZEE
ABZHMW (BELSTES (K
BRINEN) RETFRSHES
(RBRWE12) 2&B WMT

2025 2024
—ETHEF —EUE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
2,067 2,345

18 57

2,085 2,402

(i)

it A TEIAI A (B
MiEE9(b)) °

FRMIEI1FTIREE N R E
rEBAESBARBERTI
2RE ZEERSEQLER
RHTEEEAERBE -NEE
_E_AF=R=+—HIEF
E MR R B U ER AR %5 E695,000
Byt (ZZF M4 245,000%
7T) ©

RIEZZFNBZH x&EH
& E %Bubs Supreme Partner
Pty Ltdi¥Bubsm1Z (F& R Mz
19) WERAHFIERTAREENW
BRABRAE - -FE BMAK
BERIFER RENEE KK
ABRERARES EHKkDHEA
Bubs Australiagi H B A5 &
ERBENBGNZERER-
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z_ZT " AFE=B=+—HILEE

39. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES (Continued)

(i) Transactions with entities controlled by Service Entity |l

Service Entity Il provides key management personnel services
to the Company from 31 May 2024 (appointment date of Mr.
Gao Peng as Director), to 11 September 2024 (resignation
date of Mr. Gao Peng as Director). By providing management
personnel services to the Company, Service Entity Il is deemed
as a related party of the Group according to IAS 24. Save as
disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements,
the Group had the following transactions with entities controlled
by the Service Entity Il during the period from 31 May 2024 to
11 September 2024:

Expenses relating to short-term leases ~ AEE S (JHIEAGHITRES
paid by the Group BRANAR

40. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
The Group as lessor

Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are as follows:

Within 1 year —FR
After 1 year but within 2 years —FREMEA
After 2 years but within 3 years MEBB=ZFRN

41. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

For the year ended 31 March 2025

In addition to those transactions disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following major
non-cash transactions:

(i) During the year, the Group entered into new lease agreements
for the use of properties for 2 years. On the commencement
dates of leases, the Group recognised right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities of HK$37,890,000 and HK$37,890,000
respectively.
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39. EAMEARZRAEER (8)

(i) EHRRFFERRIZEHINEENZS

BEEBIN_E_NOEELA
=+—B8 EasBrtEsrES
MBM Z-_E_MFEHAA+—
HEBTERTESTHVEE
BAABRMFIESEASR
HeHRmAARREEEAS
R RIBFER G st ERIF24
o RBEBERBINREANEERN
RAE A o Bribir &I B IR R EHAh
HAFIREEN RZEWE
AR=+—HE-_ZE_-_WNEH
B+—HEM AEEE HR
BKEBIIEANERETUTR

&
2025 2024
—EhHEF —E_OE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHT FHT
4,742 -
40. REHELHE
FEEERTHEAN
HEZ RMREBEEMRWT :
2025 2024
—EhHEF —EOE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
- 1,777
- 1,777
= 444
- 3,998
A, FEFRERS

HE_Z_RFE=RA=+—HIL=EE

PrEZ T BB RHME D P EE 2 &%
EXGINAEBAEUTEEFRE
5

i) RAFE  REBTIIAPME
XA E RS -NHEERB
B ZEED PRI ERES
E R E & 1537,890,0007 7t K
37,890,0003 7T, ©
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Notes to the Cor

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 (Continued)

(i) The acquisition cost of AUD5,057,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$26,246,000) for the acquisition of Shenyang
Jinyi was satisfied by discharge the trade debts due by a
customer of the Group (note 38(ii)).

For the year ended 31 March 2024

During the year ended 31 March 2024, there is no major non-cash
transaction.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

In addition to the events disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, there are other major events after the end of the
reporting period as below:

Reference is made to the Arbitrations in note 31, on 18 June 2025,
the solicitors acting on behalf of IFC served a notice to Alice Trading
enclosing an order (“AT Court Order”) by the Court of First Instance of
the High Court of Hong Kong (the “HK Court”) dated 16 June 2025,
pursuant to which it was ordered that (i) IFC do have leave to enforce
the Arbitration Award dated 28 April 2025 in the Arbitration between
IFC and Alice Trading in the same manner as a judgment or order of
the HK Court to the same effect, and (i) within 14 days after service
of the AT Court Order on Alice Trading, Alice Trading may apply to set
aside the AT Court Order, and the award shall not be enforced until
after the expiration of that period or, if Alice Trading applies within the
period to set aside the AT Court Order, until after the application is
finally disposed of.

Furthermore, on 18 June 2025, the solicitors acting on behalf of
IFC served a notice to Willis Trading enclosing an order (“WT Court
Order”) by the HK Court dated 16 June 2025, pursuant to which it
was ordered that (i) IFC do have leave to enforce the Arbitration Award
dated 28 April 2025 in the Arbitration between IFC and Willis Trading
in the same manner as a judgment or order of the HK Court to the
same effect, and (i) within 14 days after service of the WT Court Order
on Willis Trading, Willis Trading may apply to set aside the WT Court
Order, and the Arbitration Award shall not be enforced until after the
expiration of that period or, if Willis Trading applies within the period
to set aside the WT Court Order, until after the application is finally
disposed of.

42,

I g = |
For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_—Z—

“HE=A=1+—HILEE

FTEFFERS @
BE_Z_RFE=-A=1+—HILEE®

iy ®EUEEE RS W
&5,057,0008 55 (FHERNH
26,246,000/ 70) BB S EARE
EEFEMNNEZEEMZT
(HfF5E384i)) ©

BE_Z_MF=-A=+—HILEFE

RBE-Z_MF= )% + = Nlnz2
B EIERIFRER

BEMREE
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BN REBBEENEMEAREE
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43. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS 3. BEZETHEF=A=+—HILEF

AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EEBRMmERKRER BT
EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025 TR MR AR B

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the IASB has BEETEZEVBERFB BAKE
issued a number of amendments and a new standard which are not STEAEEEEEmEE S EELE
yet effective for the year ended 31 March 2025 and which have not ZR=+—HIEFEHRERERZ
been adopted in these financial statements. These developments LEHBRERABREANZIBEITR
include the following which may be relevant to the Group. FM—IEHiI R - ZEERBIETY

FIAE B A EARR 2 ZE R o

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’ ERE g &R SRz
F215REET
FiN
Amendments to IFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification and EEMERE SMIEZDEKRET
and IFRS 7 Measurement of Financial Instruments? ZERIZHOR 21ET AR
B B FR B 75
wRE#ER|FHT
SRIEET AR
Amendments to IFRS 9 Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent EEHHERE KBEASLERLEEES
and IFRS 7 Electricity? ZRFEER  SIHNEE?
PREF 53R
HAERETI
CHEN
Annual Improvements Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7, IFRS 9, BRI RE BRMBREENSE
to IFRS Accounting IFRS 10 and IAS 72 ZEREF 2 1 SJfE B PR B 75 3R
Standards 2024 A ZZ& M ZRE7IHREH
FZFEEHR Ig’ﬂﬁﬂkiﬁiﬁﬁ £
& 95k ~ Bl FR B 75 3R

HERFE105E K E
&t ERET75%

CHEN
IFRS 18 and Presentation and Disclosure in Financial B HERE MERRNETRE
consequential Statements® R 51857 &=
amendments to ez EL A B PR
other IFRSs SRS
Rl EE]
¥iN
IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: BRI RS FARBEAHFENMR
Disclosures® ZBIZE195] BAR IREERS
Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between B ERE REHEHEBZE AT
and IAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint ZERIZE105% NEEBEZEN
Venture* KEE g ﬁétﬂ%j@iﬁ“
#ERI| 55285
CHEN
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 BZE—ZE_h&E&E=-H=+—HILEE

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS 43.

AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
(Continued)

u Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026
) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027
N Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

Except for the new amendments to IFRSs mentioned below, the
Directors anticipate that the application of other new and amendments
to IFRS Accounting Standards will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

IFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements”
and consequential amendments to other IFRSs

IFRS 18 replaces IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” (‘IAS
1”). It carries forward many requirements from IAS 1 unchanged. IFRS
18 brings major changes to the statement of profit or loss and notes
to the financial statements as follows:

(@) IFRS 18 requires an entity:

(i) to classify income and expenses into operating, investing
and financing categories in the statement of profit or loss,
plus income taxes and discontinued operations.

(ii) to present two new defined subtotals, namely, operating
profit or loss and profit or loss before financing and
income taxes.

(b) It requires an entity to disclose management-defined
performance measures (“MPM”) and reconciliations between
MPM and subtotals listed in IFRS 18 or totals or subtotals
required by IFRSs.

HE_E_RF=B=+—HLE
EEEMEEKRERZIETAF
STER LR AIAERE ()

! RZBE-AF-AB-—BRZEBHAHBZ
FEABER

? REZFZRE-—A—BHZEHAKZ
FERBER

¢ RIBEZtF-AB-BRZEHAHBZ
FEABER

‘ REEBRARz2EABZFERRBE
b3

BT SR T 2 B R B 5 R &5 ZE B R 18
TSN BETRS R EAMET KA
BT R R S 2R & 5t 2RI B]
BERKBAIEHREMBRRESE
ERERTE-

BB TS IR AR S5 185% TRAFS IR R E
SR iR ER) R B EPR A 53R 5 R R A
(EEIE

BRI S ER 18RI EEE
STERSESRIM B RENES]) (TR
G ERSE15E) - AN BEFE G E
BRI ZIEARE > W E ) o FFR
MBREERNF1BRA/BDREYH
BRNFHRUT T EES)

(@ FERPFBEREENFISHEX

B

() HIEERARFWAESZH
NEMKE RERRE
8 ZMAARRRER
RS-

(i) 2 MEHREBINE
DB A A &R DUk FRER
BRFTSIMATIRL

b ERTERREEEEMATE
PRRER (BEEEXRRERY
REEBRRIEREBERYME
BREERF18EATF /N ET S E
FREA RS SRS ZE R FR AR E AR 5T 30
Nt 2 R
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z_ZT " AFE=B=+—HILEE

BT ¥R R MY 5E

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS
AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
(Continued)

)]

It sets out requirements to help an entity determine whether
information about items should be in the primary financial
statements or in the notes and provides principles for
determining the level of detail needed for the information.

IFRS 18 also set out classification requirements for foreign
exchange differences, the gain or loss on the net monetary
position, and gains and losses on derivatives and designated
hedging instruments.

In addition, some paragraphs in IAS 1 have been moved to
IAS 8 “Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements” and IFRS
7. Minor amendments to IAS 7 “Statement of Cash Flows”
and IAS 33 “Earnings per Share” are also made. IFRS 18 and
consequential amendments to other IFRSs are effective for
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027,
with early application permitted.

The application of the new standard is expected to affect the
presentation of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
disclosures in the future consolidated financial statements. The
Group is in the process of assessing the detailed impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
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Results

Revenue (continuing
operations)

Profit/(loss) for the year

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Basic earnings/(loss)
per share

Assets and liabilities

Total assets

Total liabilities

Equity attributable to owners
of the Company

Non-controlling interests

Total equity/(capital deficiency) #zt, (B A5 4t) 4258

E$
WA &
REER)

RENEEF, (B2

FEfG s
KRB RER
EiS2di g

SREARF,
(#5548

BEERER
BERE
BRBE
TATBRER
FE1EHE T
IR R

Financial year ended 31 March

BE=ZA=1+—HLMBFE
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
—EC—F B TET-F “TETNFE “E"RE
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FAET FAET FHET FHET
268,099 438,353 363,093 96,310 40,520
(14,993) (31,644) 1,315 (38,321) (198,499)
(14,993) (31,644) 1,315 (38,321) (197,268)
- - - - (1,231)
(14,993) (31,644) 1,315 (38,321) (198,499)
(4.8) (10.1) 0.4 (11.0) (56.5)
Il AL AL gl 231N
HK cents HK cents HK cents HK cents HK cents
At 31 March
BW=B=+—H

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
B BI_F B=F _—T_NF _TE_ILF
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FAET FAET FHET FAT
239,507 178,820 270,444 198,306 149,577

89,015 62,469 111,624 80,073 214,711
150,492 116,351 158,820 118,233 (69,925)

- - - - 4,791
150,492 116,351 158,820 118,233 (65,134)




articulars of

FIEREMEEN

Location Lot No. Existing Use Lease Term % held by the Group
25 3 ES 4R 5% REFA®R THEH TEBRFE%
152 Milperra Road, 11171671 Warehouse Freehold 100
Revesby, NSW 2212, BE 2

New South Wales, Australia

ITED e Annual Report 2025
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